

Correlation spectrum for expanding maps and its relation to dynamical sensitivity

Julia Slipantschuk

Thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of $$\mathbf{D}{\mathbf{octor}}$ of $\mathbf{Philosophy}$$

School of Mathematical Sciences Queen Mary University of London

January 2014

Declaration

I, Julia Slipantschuk, confirm that the research included within this thesis is my own work or that where it has been carried out in collaboration with, or supported by others, that this is duly acknowledged below and my contribution indicated. Previously published material is also acknowledged below.

I attest that I have exercised reasonable care to ensure that the work is original, and does not to the best of my knowledge break any UK law, infringe any third party's copyright or other Intellectual Property Right, or contain any confidential material.

I accept that the College has the right to use plagiarism detection software to check the electronic version of the thesis.

I confirm that this thesis has not been previously submitted for the award of a degree by this or any other university.

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author and no quotation from it or information derived from it may be published without the prior written consent of the author.

Signature: Julia Slipantschuk

Date: 20 January 2014

Details of collaboration and publications:

J. Slipantschuk, O. F. Bandtlow, and W. Just. On the relation between Lyapunov exponents and exponential decay of correlations. J. Phys. A.,46(7):075101, 2013.

J. Slipantschuk, O. F. Bandtlow, and W. Just. Analytic expanding circle maps with explicit spectra. *Nonlinearity*, 26:3231-3245, 2013.

O. F. Bandtlow, W. Just, and J. Slipantschuk. Spectral structure of transfer operators for expanding circle maps. *Preprint, arXiv:1311.3122*, 2013.

J. Slipantschuk, O. F. Bandtlow, and W. Just. On correlation decay in low-dimensional systems. *EPL*, 104:20004, 2013.

Abstract

For a class of one-dimensional expanding maps we relate the two fundamental notions in the theory of dynamical systems: sensitivity to initial conditions (quantified by Lyapunov exponent or entropy) and mixing (measured via decay of correlation functions). More precisely, for piecewise linear expanding Markov maps on the interval observed via piecewise analytic functions, we show that the Lyapunov exponent Λ provides a barrier to the exponential rate of mixing, by establishing a lower bound on the subleading eigenvalue λ_2 of the transfer operator via $|\lambda_2| \geq e^{-2\Lambda}$.

Motivated by the question whether a similar bound in terms of the Lyapunov exponent can be obtained in the nonlinear setting, we construct a family of expanding maps for which the entire spectrum of the associated transfer operator is explicitly known. In particular, for any $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $|\lambda| < 1$ we construct an analytic expanding circle map such that the eigenvalues of the associated transfer operator (acting on holomorphic functions) are precisely the nonnegative powers of λ and $\overline{\lambda}$. Considered on the interval, these maps provide counterexamples to an old conjecture on the reality of spectra.

These examples belong to a special class of circle maps arising from finite Blaschke products. Their analytic features allow us to determine the entire spectrum of the associated transfer operators (on spaces of holomorphic functions) in terms of multipliers of attracting fixed points. This is achieved by deriving a natural representation of the respective adjoint operators in terms of certain composition operators. Using this explicit spectral information we then obtain examples of nonlinear expanding interval maps with arbitrarily fast exponential mixing but bounded Lyapunov exponent.

Contents

Abstract	2
Acknowledgements	4
Introduction	5
Chapter 1. Statistical properties of dynamical systems	9
1.1. Motivation: Chaos in topological dynamical systems	9
1.2. Lyapunov exponent, mixing and decay of correlations	10
1.3. Rates of mixing and transfer operators	13
1.4. Transfer operators on analytic function spaces	18
Chapter 2. Relation between mixing rates and Lyapunov exponents	23
2.1. A pedestrian approach	23
2.2. Piecewise linear Markov maps	25
2.3. Remarks on nonlinear expanding maps	31
Chapter 3. Explicit spectra for a family of analytic circle maps	35
3.1. A family of maps	35
3.2. Transfer operators for analytic circle maps	37
3.3. Spectrum for a family of circle maps	42
3.4. Circle maps considered on an interval	45
Chapter 4. Spectral structure for finite Blaschke products	50
4.1. Transfer operators on Hardy-Hilbert spaces	51
4.2. Adjoint operator	54
4.3. Spectrum for Blaschke products	60
4.4. Application: Arbitrarily fast exponential mixing	64
Concluding remarks and open questions	69
Appendix A: Basic spectral theory	73
Appendix B: Technical proofs for Section 1.3	74
Bibliography	78

Acknowledgements

First and foremost I would like to thank my first and second supervisors Wolfram Just and Oscar Bandtlow for their invaluable contributions to the work presented in this thesis. I thank Wolfram for introducing me to the questions underlying my work, his unlimited source of inspiring ideas, his flexibility and willingness to explore any direction of research which I chose to pursue. I thank Oscar for sharing and explaining his deep insights and ideas about the technical side of my work. Thanks to both for their guidance and constant support at every stage of my work, for sharing their expertise and knowledge and for their openness and readiness to discuss any academic or nonacademic topics. They created a very encouraging research environment for me, and I benefited hugely from their complementary roles and perspectives.

I would also like to thank Heather Reeve-Black, Italo Cipriano, Peter Hazard and Georg Ostrovski for the many valuable discussions regarding my work. I wish to thank the numerous members of staff and students of the Mathematics Department for their help and support, for the unique lunch time routine and for the pleasant atmosphere they always created. I also thank my friends in London and elsewhere for their support throughout these years.

I am very grateful for the financial support I received from the School of Mathematical Sciences.

Above all, I deeply thank my parents and my whole family for everything they are for me.

Julia Slipantschuk London, January 2014

Introduction

Chaos is the apparent randomness of a deterministic time-evolving system giving rise to motion too complicated to predict reliably. Measuring the strength of chaos amounts to quantifying the rate at which our uncertainty of prediction grows as we expand the time horizon.

The theory of dynamical systems provides a mathematical framework to study the behaviour of systems evolving in time. From an abstract perspective, a deterministic dynamical system is a set of states, usually referred to as the phase space of the system, equipped with an evolution law, describing the temporal transitions between these states. Even a simple evolution law can generate rather complicated behaviour, and make the system appear chaotic. Although there is no universally accepted mathematical definition of chaos, this notion is commonly used to describe deterministic systems demonstrating behaviour similar to purely random systems.

The source of chaotic motion is often attributed to *sensitive dependence on initial conditions*. Any uncertainty in the initial conditions risks being (exponentially) magnified, so that two initially arbitrarily close points will typically head to very different regions of the phase space. This phenomenon is closely linked to *mixing*, the concept that any set of points, no matter how small, will eventually spread uniformly in the phase space under the evolution. In fact, it is a simple exercise to show that (topological) mixing implies sensitive dependence on initial conditions.

In practice, this topological viewpoint is limited by the fact that the geometric structure of individual orbits can be extremely complicated. An important breakthrough in the theory of dynamical systems was the realisation (usually attributed to Kolmogorov) that complicated behaviour can be studied from a probabilistic point of view. In other words, instead of studying individual orbits, we want to study the long-term behaviour of typical orbits, where 'typical' is understood with respect to some dynamically relevant (invariant) measure. This is the setting of ergodic theory: the study of statistical properties of dynamical systems relative to a measure on the underlying space.

The measure-theoretic notions quantifying the degree of 'chaoticity' corresponding to the notions of sensitivity and topological mixing are *Lyapunov exponents* and *mixing rates*, respectively. The former measure the average exponential separation rate of nearby points, whereas the latter yield the speed with which the system loses its 'memory' of the initial state. In practice, the actual state of the system is often hidden, and can only be observed via certain functions of the state, the so-called

INTRODUCTION

observables. Viewed through given observables, the statistical correlation between initial and future states is described by *correlation functions*. The asymptotics of the decay of these correlation functions therefore describes the speed with which the evolution of the system decorrelates states. In general, this speed depends on the chosen observables, but by restricting the space of observables (by imposing a certain regularity) it is possible to obtain a specific (for example, exponential or polynomial) decay rate for 'typical' observables. This rate is also referred to as the mixing rate and provides a measure for the degree of chaoticity.

Having two distinct quantifiers of chaoticity, it is tempting to explore whether and how the two are related, and to what extent information on one has significance for the other. This question is of great practical interest, as in real world experiments correlation functions are often directly accessible from data, whereas Lyapunov exponents are notoriously hard to determine. It is a common perception in the physics literature that for chaotic low-dimensional systems exhibiting exponential decay of correlations, the decay rate and the Lyapunov exponents are related¹.

A powerful approach for the study of the decay of correlation functions consists of reformulating the problem in terms of spectral properties of the so-called *transfer operator*, also known as the (Ruelle-)Perron-Frobenius operator. This operator, originally developed in statistical mechanics [44, 71], describes how a distribution of initial points evolves under the action of the underlying dynamics, thus providing a global representation of a system's dynamics. Moreover, its spectrum yields insight into the ergodic-theoretic properties of the underlying system (see, for example, [7, 17] and references therein). In a certain setting, provided the system is exponentially mixing, the exponential mixing rate is determined by the size of the spectral gap of the associated transfer operator. In most cases, it is difficult to obtain the actual value for the exponential mixing rate, but explicit lower bounds have been obtained employing the transfer operator in various settings [42, 51, 62, 76].

While typical observables decay with the rate given by the mixing rate, faster exponential decay can occur if one chooses (nontypical) observables, that is, observables in certain subspaces of finite codimension. The spectrum of the transfer operator contains all possible exponential rates of correlation decay, and is often referred to as the correlation spectrum, see [20]. In a setting where the transfer operator is compact², its spectrum consists of isolated eigenvalues (which can accumulate at zero) together with zero itself, and these eigenvalues precisely correspond to the possible faster decay rates. Explicit upper bounds for the eigenvalue sequence (equivalently, lower bounds on the respective decay rates) were obtained in [11, 12, 30] for expanding systems in one and higher dimensions. Lower bounds on the eigenvalues are much harder to obtain, see however [63, 64].

 $^{^{1}}$ In [86] it was even suggested to take correlation decay rates as meaningful estimates for Lyapunov exponents.

²For analytic expanding maps Ruelle [72] was the first to show compactness of the associated transfer operator when acting on certain spaces of holomorphic functions.

INTRODUCTION

To illustrate the main questions presented in this work, let us first look at the well-known doubling map $x \mapsto 2x \mod 1$ on the interval, the ergodic properties of which are fully understood. For analytic observables, the spectrum of the associated transfer operator consists of the eigenvalues $(1/2)^k$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ together with 0; thus the exponential mixing rate coincides with the Lyapunov exponent given by $\ln(2)$. Clearly, an equality of this type cannot hold for general exponentially mixing interval maps, as it is easy to construct simple maps with finite Lyapunov exponent but arbitrarily slow mixing rate (see, for example, [**38**]). However, it remains a valid question whether, conversely, there is a barrier for the speed of mixing in terms of the Lyapunov exponent for a meaningful class of exponentially mixing interval maps. More generally, one can ask whether there are interval maps (with a bounded number of smooth monotone branches) with arbitrarily large exponential mixing rate.

A wider range of questions emerges, if one observes that the 'same' map viewed on the circle, that is, the map $z \mapsto z^2$, is superexponentially mixing for analytic observables, as the spectrum of the associated transfer operator is the two-point set $\{0, 1\}$. One can then pose the question whether there are exponentially mixing circle maps with countably many nonzero eigenvalues in the spectrum of the corresponding transfer operator (as, for example, for the doubling map on the interval).

Motivated by the above, this thesis makes a contribution towards the understanding and explicit determination of possible exponential mixing rates and their relation with Lyapunov exponents, in the setting of expanding one-dimensional maps.

Chapter 1 is devoted to setting up a mathematical framework by introducing the relevant concepts and discussing the relations between mixing, correlation decay and the spectral properties of transfer operators, with a particular emphasis on a suitable choice of spaces of analytic observables. Some background material on spectral theory and a few technical proofs are deferred to the appendix.

In Chapter 2 we tackle the question of a possible relation between the two measures of chaoticity, Lyapunov exponents and mixing rates, in the setting of one-dimensional maps. More specifically, for piecewise linear expanding Markov maps observed via piecewise analytic functions, we show that the exponential mixing rate is bounded above by twice the Lyapunov exponent, that is, we establish lower bounds for the subleading eigenvalue of the corresponding transfer operator. In the proof we make use of the generalised transfer operator and the properties of topological pressure. We conclude the chapter by presenting numerical results suggesting that this bound cannot be expected to hold for nonlinear maps.

In view of the question whether this bound can be modified to hold in the nonlinear setting, we set out in Chapter 3 to construct a (nonlinear) expanding interval map the transfer operator of which has a prescribed eigenvalue and eigenfunction. It turns out that this construction yields a family of analytic expanding circle maps, for which the entire correlation spectrum can be determined explicitly using a suitable matrix representation of the associated transfer operator. In particular, for any $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with

INTRODUCTION

 $|\lambda| < 1$ we obtain a circle map with correlation spectrum on the space of analytic observables consisting precisely of all nonnegative powers of λ and $\overline{\lambda}$ together with 0. These are the first examples of analytic circle maps with explicitly known nontrivial correlation spectra on the space of analytic functions. Moreover, viewed as interval maps, these maps provide counterexamples to a weak variant of a conjecture of Mayer on the reality of spectra.

The aim of Chapter 4 is to reveal the underlying structure of transfer operators associated to analytic expanding circle maps. For this, we first derive a natural representation of the respective (Banach space) adjoint operators, by viewing these as compressions of certain composition operators on spaces of holomorphic functions. For a special class of expanding circle maps arising from finite Blaschke products, this representation takes a particularly convenient form allowing us to deduce the entire spectrum of the corresponding (compact) transfer operators. Interestingly, these spectra are completely determined by the multipliers of the attracting fixed points of the Blaschke products. Moreover, the family of maps constructed in Chapter 3 belong to the class of finite Blaschke maps, and their spectra (previously computed from a matrix representation) are now simply explained.

The explicit knowledge of correlation spectra for Blaschke products now allows to answer questions about mixing rates and their relation to Lyapunov exponents. We present a family of full branch expanding interval maps (with a fixed number of branches) which exhibit arbitrarily fast exponential mixing but bounded Lyapunov exponents.

The thesis is concluded with a short summary and a selection of open questions following from our work.

By studying the correlation spectra for expanding one-dimensional maps we contribute to clarifying the relation between dynamical sensitivity and correlation decay. While our results indicate that a straightforward quantitative relation might not exist, the explicit determination of the spectra makes a range of interesting questions on possible mixing rates more accessible.

CHAPTER 1

Statistical properties of dynamical systems

This chapter sets the scene by providing background material and motivation for the research presented in this thesis. We start by briefly recalling concepts such as ergodicity, mixing and decay of correlations in the context of dynamical systems (Sections 1.1–1.2). We will then focus on systems enjoying exponential decay of correlations and establish the key link between the mixing rate and the spectrum of the transfer operator (Section 1.3). Section 1.4 discusses the transfer operator acting compactly on analytic function spaces and presents arguments frequently used in the later chapters. Material presented in this chapter is well known and serves as the basis for the chapters to follow.

1.1. Motivation: Chaos in topological dynamical systems

A discrete-time dynamical system consists of a nonempty set X and a transformation $T: X \to X$. The dynamics arises from the iteration of T on some initial point $x \in X$. The *n*-th iterate of T with $n \in \mathbb{N}$ is the *n*-fold composition $T^n = T \circ \cdots \circ T$ and the *(forward) orbit* of $x \in X$ is defined to be the infinite sequence $(T^n(x))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$.

Depending on the purpose, the phase space X carries some additional structure and may, for example, be a topological space, a measure space, or a smooth manifold. The transformation T preserves the respective structure by being, for example, a continuous, measurable or smooth map. Throughout this thesis we shall only be interested in the dynamics of smooth and piecewise smooth one-dimensional maps with X a closed interval $I \subset \mathbb{R}$ or the complex unit circle $\mathbb{T} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| = 1\}$.

A primary goal of dynamical systems theory is to understand the long-term qualitative behaviour of (typical) orbits. Even in the seemingly easy setup of one-dimensional maps, orbits might be complicated, making the system appear 'chaotic'. While there is no general definition of chaos (see, for example, the discussion in [67, Ch. 3.5]), a general view is that a key ingredient for this phenomenon is sensitivity to initial conditions.

Before giving a precise definition, let us endow our dynamical system with a topological structure. By a *topological dynamical system* we mean a continuous map $T: X \to X$ on a topological space X, which for all our purposes will be a compact metric space (X, d).

DEFINITION 1.1.1. A topological dynamical system on a metric space (X, d) is said to have sensitive dependence on initial conditions if there is an $\varepsilon > 0$ such that for every $x \in X$ and $\delta > 0$ there are $y \in X$ with $d(x, y) < \delta$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $d(T^n(x), T^n(y)) > \varepsilon$. Another phenomenon associated with chaotic motion is mixing, which, in the topological setting, is defined in the following way.

DEFINITION 1.1.2. A topological dynamical system is said to be topologically mixing if for any nonempty open sets U and V there exists an $n_0 \ge 1$ such that $T^n(U) \cap V \neq \emptyset$ for all $n \ge n_0$.

It is straightforward to relate the above notions in the following way.

LEMMA 1.1.3. Let $T: X \to X$ be a topological dynamical system on a compact metric space (X, d) consisting of more than one point. Then,

topological mixing \Rightarrow sensitive dependence on initial conditions.

PROOF. Let T be topologically mixing and pick two distinct points $x_1, x_2 \in X$ and $\varepsilon < d(x_1, x_2)/4$. Then, for every open ball $U = B(x, \delta)$ around $x \in X$ with radius δ , there is an n such that $T^n(U) \cap V_1 \neq \emptyset$ and $T^n(U) \cap V_2 \neq \emptyset$, where $V_1 = B(x_1, \varepsilon)$ and $V_2 = B(x_2, \varepsilon)$. Hence, there are $y_1, y_2 \in U$ with $T^n(y_1) \in V_1$ and $T^n(y_2) \in V_2$. Clearly, these satisfy $d(T^n(y_1), T^n(y_2)) > 2\varepsilon$. It follows that $\max \{ d(T^n(x), T^n(y_1)), d(T^n(x), T^n(y_2)) \} > \varepsilon$.

Going beyond the topological nature of the above lemma, it is tempting to ask for a more precise, quantitative relation between sensitive dependence and mixing. In particular, we want to explore in which way Lyapunov exponents (providing a quantitative measure for sensitive dependence) are related to mixing rates. Both notions require a measure-theoretical formulation, which will be introduced in the next section.

1.2. Lyapunov exponent, mixing and decay of correlations

Background on measure theory and probability theory can be found in [36]. We shall briefly recall the basic notions from ergodic theory. For a full introduction see, for example, the excellent book [92].

A probability space (X, \mathcal{B}, μ) is given by a set X, a probability measure μ and a σ -algebra \mathcal{B} of μ -measurable subsets. To any such measure space one can associate the Banach spaces $L^p(X,\mu) = \{f \colon X \to \mathbb{C} : \int_X |f|^p d\mu < \infty\}$ with $p \geq 1$, and $L^{\infty}(X,\mu)$ the space of complex-valued essentially bounded measurable functions, with the usual respective norms $\|\cdot\|_p$. A transformation $T \colon X \to X$ is measurable if $B \in \mathcal{B}$ implies $T^{-1}(B) \in \mathcal{B}$. A measurable transformation $T \colon X \to X$ is called nonsingular if $\mu(T^{-1}(B)) = 0$ whenever $\mu(B) = 0$ for $B \in \mathcal{B}$, and it is called measure-preserving (or equivalently μ is T-invariant) if $\mu(T^{-1}(B)) = \mu(B)$ for all $B \in \mathcal{B}$. Finally, a measure-preserving transformation T (or the T-invariant measure μ) is called ergodic if $\mu(B) = 0$ or 1 for any set $B \in \mathcal{B}$ with $\mu(T^{-1}(B) \bigtriangleup B) = 0$. This definition implies that an ergodic system is irreducible, in the sense that it is impossible to subdivide the phase space into smaller parts on which the system can be studied separately.

The first major result in ergodic theory is the famous Birkhoff ergodic theorem, which asserts that asymptotic time averages exist for almost every point with respect to an invariant measure μ and coincide with the space average, provided μ is ergodic.

THEOREM 1.2.1 (Birkhoff, 1931). Let $T: X \to X$ be measure-preserving on a probability space (X, \mathcal{B}, μ) , and $f \in L^1(X, \mu)$. Then there is $f^* \in L^1(X, \mu)$ such that $(1/n) \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} f(T^k(x))$ converges to $f^*(x)$ for μ -a.e.¹ x as $n \to \infty$. Moreover, if μ is ergodic, then $f^*(x) = \int_X f d\mu$ for μ -a.e. x.

Returning to the original goal of obtaining a quantitative version of Lemma 1.1.3, we introduce the Lyapunov exponent as a measure for sensitive dependence. If T is a differentiable map on X, where X is an interval or circle, then the *pointwise Lyapunov* exponent of a point $x \in X$, if it exists, measures the exponential expansion rate along the orbit of x and is defined as

$$\Lambda_x = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \ln |(T^n)'(x)|.$$
(1.1)

Let μ be a *T*-invariant ergodic measure and assume that $\ln |T'| \in L^1(X, \mu)$, then Birkhoff's ergodic theorem implies that this limit exists and is the same for μ -almost every x, as

$$\Lambda_x = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \ln |(T^n)'(x)| = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \ln |T'(T^i(x))| = \int_X \ln |T'| \, d\mu.$$
(1.2)

We then simply write $\Lambda = \Lambda_x$ for the Lyapunov exponent with respect to μ .

However, a given system may have many ergodic invariant measures which lack physical significance, meaning they do not characterise a sufficiently large set of points, or more formally, sets with full μ -measure may have zero Lebesgue measure m, for example, if μ is supported on a periodic orbit. Hence, one is interested in *absolutely continuous invariant probability (acip)* measures with respect to Lebesgue measure, that is $\mu(B) = 0$ whenever m(B) = 0. By the Radon-Nikodým theorem, every acip measure μ is uniquely determined by a nonnegative function f such that $\mu(B) = \int_B f \, dm$ for any $B \in \mathcal{B}$.

There is a large body of literature on existence (and uniqueness) of acip measures for various dynamical systems (see [54, Ch. III] and [17, Ch. 5] for an overview). The pioneering work in this area focussed on subshifts of finite type [15, 70], piecewise expanding C^2 interval maps [47, 77], and topologically mixing Markov maps [2, 16].

In view of Lemma 1.1.3, a suitable statistical property similar to topological mixing is measure-theoretical mixing, or simply mixing.

DEFINITION 1.2.2. A measure-preserving transformation T (or the T-invariant measure μ) is mixing² if

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu(A \cap T^{-n}(B)) = \mu(A)\mu(B) \quad \text{for all } A, B \in \mathcal{B}.$$
 (1.3)

¹A property holds for μ -almost every (a.e.) $x \in X$ if it only fails to hold on a set of zero μ -measure. ²In the literature, this notion is often referred to as *strong mixing*.

Intuitively, mixing means that any small patch in the phase space is eventually uniformly distributed in the entire phase space, in other words $T^{-n}(B)$ is spreading uniformly with respect to μ .

Many systems are mixing, and indistinguishable at this level of description. To develop finer mixing properties, we need to generalise the concept of mixing and introduce correlation functions.

DEFINITION 1.2.3. Given a transformation $T: X \to X$ preserving the measure μ , the *correlation function* is defined as

$$C_{f,g}(n) = \int_X f \cdot (g \circ T^n) \, d\mu - \int_X f \, d\mu \int_X g \, d\mu \quad (n \in \mathbb{N}), \tag{1.4}$$

for some observables $f \in L^1(X, \mu)$ and $g \in L^{\infty}(X, \mu)$.

If f and g are the characteristic functions of some measurable sets A and B, then the convergence of $C_{f,g}(n)$ to 0 as $n \to \infty$ gives precisely the definition of mixing.³ A natural question is then how fast the correlation function of a given mixing transformation converges to zero as $n \to \infty$. The answer critically depends on the properties of the map T and on the regularity of the observables. In [25], it was demonstrated that even for highly chaotic systems (in that case, hyperbolic automorphisms of the torus with positive entropy), the decay rate can be faster than exponential, exponential, or polynomial, depending on the choice of observables.

However, if one restricts the space of allowed observables to certain subspaces of $L^1(X, \mu)$, it is possible to obtain specific rates. There is a vast mathematical literature on the different possible rates of mixing (for example, exponential, stretchedexponential or polynomial) occurring for various one- and higher-dimensional systems with different degree of expansivity or hyperbolicity, see [6] for a nice summary.

As most results in the literature concern upper bounds for the correlation function, saying that it decays with a certain rate usually means it decays *not slower* than with this rate. For the purpose of this work, we will be solely concerned with systems exhibiting exponential decay of correlations. The system is *exponentially mixing* or enjoys *exponential decay of correlations* on a certain subspace $V \subset L^1(X, \mu)$ if there is a $\gamma \in (0, 1)$ such that for any $f, g \in V$,

$$C_{f,g}(n) = O(\gamma^n) \quad \text{as } n \to \infty.$$
 (1.5)

Ideally, one is interested in the actual mixing rate, that is, in both upper and lower bounds (on the rate). There is a considerable body of literature on lower bounds for the decay rate (see, [7, 18, 42, 51, 62, 76, 78], to name but a few), but to the best of the author's knowledge hardly any nontrivial upper bounds exist (see however [63], where an exponential upper bound for the decay rate of correlation functions of suspension semiflows is given). For obtaining a quantitative version of Lemma

³Further, one can show that μ is mixing if and only if $C_{f,g}(n) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$ for any $f \in L^1(X,\mu)$ and $g \in L^{\infty}(X,\mu)$.

There are several tools available in the literature for showing exponential decay of correlations, see [6, 7] for an overview. One of the most common approaches, and the one we will pursue here, is a functional-analytic one, which relies on associating to T the so-called transfer operator and investigating its spectral properties. Other noteworthy approaches are based on Birkhoff cones [51, 91] or probabilistic coupling methods [93].

1.3. Rates of mixing and transfer operators

Let X be an interval or the circle and $T: X \to X$ a nonsingular map with respect to (normalised) Lebesgue measure m. One can associate to T a certain linear operator \mathcal{L} , known as the transfer operator, which can be defined in the following way.

DEFINITION 1.3.1. The transfer operator $\mathcal{L}: L^1(X,m) \to L^1(X,m)$ is defined by

$$\int_{X} \mathcal{L}f \cdot g \, dm = \int_{X} f \cdot (g \circ T) \, dm \tag{1.6}$$

for all $f \in L^1(X, m)$ and all $g \in L^{\infty}(X, m)$.

Equation (1.6) realises the idea that the initial density f is transformed to the density $\mathcal{L}f$ under the action of the map T. For this, note that taking $g = \chi_B$ to be the characteristic function of a set $B \in \mathcal{B}$, the mass of points landing in B under application of T is $\int_{T^{-1}(B)} f \, dm = \int_X f \cdot (\chi_B \circ T) \, dm = \int_B \mathcal{L}f \, dm$. The space $L^1(X, m)$ is a natural choice for the domain of \mathcal{L} , as its (normalised) nonnegative elements are the probability densities.

REMARK 1.3.2. Many authors refer to \mathcal{L} as the *Perron-Frobenius* operator and use the term 'transfer operator' for a more general version. For simplicity, throughout this thesis we will always call these operators transfer operators.

Note that \mathcal{L} is a positive bounded operator⁴ with $\|\mathcal{L}\| = 1$. Its spectrum $\sigma(\mathcal{L})$ has a dynamical interpretation in terms of the ergodic-theoretical properties of T. The densities of acip measures μ are exactly the probability densities that are fixed by \mathcal{L} , that is, eigenfunctions of \mathcal{L} with eigenvalue 1. If such an acip measure exists and is ergodic, then it must be unique [46, Thm. 4.2.2], meaning the geometric multiplicity of the eigenvalue 1 is equal to 1. Moreover, its algebraic multiplicity is also⁵ 1. Henceforth, we will call an eigenvalue *simple* if its algebraic multiplicity is 1. If, in addition,

⁴One can check that $\|\mathcal{L}f\|_1 \leq \|f\|_1$ for any $f \in L^1(X, m)$. By positivity, meaning that $f \geq 0$ implies $\mathcal{L}f \geq 0$, it follows that $\|\mathcal{L}f\|_1 = \|f\|_1$ for any $f \geq 0$.

⁵Suppose, for a contradiction, that the algebraic multiplicity is n = 2, then $(I - \mathcal{L})^2 g = 0$ and $(I - \mathcal{L})g \neq 0$ for some g. It follows that $g - \mathcal{L}g = c\varrho$ for some $c \neq 0$, where ϱ is the density of the unique acip measure. Integrating this equation and using $\int_X \mathcal{L}f \, dm = \int_X f \, dm$, leads to the contradiction $0 = c \int \varrho \, dm$. A similar argument applies for n > 2.

the acip measure has density function f > 0 and is mixing, then \mathcal{L} has exactly one eigenvalue on the unit circle, equal to 1. See [17, Ch. 3] and [46, Ch. 4] for easily accessible accounts of these and related facts.

REMARK 1.3.3. As an aside, equation (1.6) defines the Banach space adjoint of the transfer operator, known as the *Koopman operator*, defined on $L^{\infty}(X,m)$ and given by $g \mapsto g \circ T$. It can be used for formulating such concepts as ergodicity and mixing, and characterises these in terms of its spectral properties, see [46, §4.4] or [92, §1.7].

By imposing analyticity on the map T, we will show in Chapter 4 that it is possible to define such operators, in this context known as a *composition operators*, on certain analytic function spaces. In a particular setting where the associated transfer operator is compact, its entire spectrum will then be deduced from the spectra of these composition operators.

Now \mathcal{L} can be directly linked to the correlation function defined in (1.4). Throughout this chapter, we will freely make use of facts and notions from basic spectral theory, which are summarised in Appendix A.

For convenience, we make the following standing assumption for the rest of this chapter.

(AS1) Let $T: X \to X$ be nonsingular with respect to m and assume that it possesses a unique acip measure μ with density $\varrho \in L^1(X, m)$ bounded away from zero and infinity, and normalised so that $\int_X \varrho \, dm = 1.$

Note that this implies $L^p(X,m) = L^p(X,\mu)$ for all $1 \le p \le \infty$. Using the continuous projection $P: L^1(X,m) \to L^1(X,m)$ given by

$$Pf = \left(\int_X fdm\right)\varrho\tag{1.7}$$

and $M_{\varrho}: L^1(X, m) \to L^1(X, m)$ the operator of multiplication with ϱ ,

$$M_{\varrho}f = \varrho \cdot f, \tag{1.8}$$

we can rewrite⁶ the correlation function (1.4) as

$$C_{f,g}(n) = \int_X g \cdot \left(\mathcal{L}^n - P\right) \left(M_{\varrho}f\right) dm$$
(1.9)

for all $f \in L^1(X, m)$ and $g \in L^{\infty}(X, m)$.

 $^{6}\mathrm{By}$ (1.6) we have on the one hand

$$\begin{split} \int_X f \cdot (g \circ T^n) \, d\mu &= \int_X (g \circ T^n) \cdot f \varrho \, dm. = \int_X g \cdot \mathcal{L}^n(f \varrho) \, dm, \\ \text{and on the other hand} \\ \int_X f \, d\mu \int_X g \, d\mu &= \int_X g \left(\int_X f \varrho \, dm \right) \varrho \, dm = \int_X g \cdot P(f \varrho) \, dm. \end{split}$$

1.3.1. Spectral gap implies exponential mixing. The proofs for all results stated in this section and in Section 1.3.2 are somewhat technical, and are therefore deferred to Appendix B.

In order to define an adequate notion of rate of correlation decay for the system (also referred to as the mixing rate), we restrict \mathcal{L} to certain invariant subspaces Vof $L^1(X,m)$ on which \mathcal{L} is quasicompact⁷. Recall that a quasicompact operator has essential spectral radius strictly less than its spectral radius. As we shall see, this property will guarantee that the correlation function in (1.9) decays exponentially for observables in V. To this end, we make the following standing assumption.

Let T satisfy (AS1) and let \mathcal{L} be its associated transfer operator.

(AS2) Assume that V is an \mathcal{L} -invariant subspace, densely and continuously embedded in $L^1(X, m)$ such that \mathcal{L} restricted to V is quasicompact.

The following lemma summarises some well-known spectral properties of $\mathcal{L} \colon V \to V$ satisfying (AS2).

LEMMA 1.3.4. Let T and V satisfy (AS2). Then the unique invariant acip density ϱ is in V. The spectral radius of $\mathcal{L}: V \to V$ is 1, and if additionally the acip measure is mixing, then the only spectral point on the unit circle is 1, which is a simple eigenvalue.

Let us now define the exponential mixing rate on V. For simplicity and as it encompasses all the settings considered in this thesis, we assume V to be a subspace of $L^{\infty}(X,m)$.

DEFINITION 1.3.5. Let T and V satisfy (AS2) with V a subspace of $L^{\infty}(X, m)$. The exponential rate of mixing on V is defined as

$$\alpha_V = -\ln \sup \left\{ \limsup_{n \to \infty} |C_{f,g}(n)|^{1/n} : f, g \in V \right\}.$$
(1.10)

We are now in a position to establish the key connection between the exponential mixing rate on V and the spectrum of the operator \mathcal{L} . The assumption that \mathcal{L} restricted to V is quasicompact guarantees exponential mixing, that is $\alpha_V > 0$.

PROPOSITION 1.3.6. Let T and V satisfy (AS2) with V a subspace of $L^{\infty}(X, m)$, and $M_{\varrho}(V) \subseteq V$. Additionally, assume that the unique acip measure is mixing. Suppose that $\mathcal{L}: V \to V$ is quasicompact. Then

$$\alpha_V \ge -\ln \sup\{|\lambda| : \lambda \in \sigma(\mathcal{L}) \setminus \{1\}\} > 0.$$

In certain cases⁸, in particular in those relevant for this work (when \mathcal{L} is compact or V is the space of bounded variation), the mixing rate α_V is exactly determined by the size of the spectral gap of $\mathcal{L}: V \to V$, that is

$$\alpha_V = -\ln\sup\{|z| : z \in \sigma(\mathcal{L}) \setminus \{1\}\}.$$
(1.11)

⁷Note that usually \mathcal{L} is not quasicompact on $L^1(X, m)$.

⁸For V satisfying (AS2), and assuming that $M_{\varrho}(V) = V$ and that there exists a sequence $(\lambda_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of eigenvalues of $\mathcal{L}: V \to V$ such that $\lim_{n \to \infty} |\lambda_n| = \sup\{|z| : z \in \sigma(\mathcal{L}) \setminus \{1\}\}$ (see, for example, [7, Thm. 1.5 and 2.5] or [22]), one can show that $\alpha_V \leq -\ln \sup\{|z| : z \in \sigma(\mathcal{L}) \setminus \{1\}\}$.

This implies that

$$\alpha_V = -\ln \max\{|\lambda_2(\mathcal{L})|, \rho_{ess}(\mathcal{L})\},\$$

where $\lambda_2(\mathcal{L})$ is the second largest eigenvalue of \mathcal{L} in modulus, and $\rho_{ess}(\mathcal{L})$ is the essential spectral radius of \mathcal{L} . The proof of (1.11) depends on the space V, and will be provided in the next section in the case of compact $\mathcal{L}: V \to V$ (which implies $\rho_{ess}(\mathcal{L}) = 0$).

1.3.2. Beyond the spectral gap. The size of the spectral gap, governed either by the second largest eigenvalue in modulus or by the essential spectral radius, determines the exponential mixing rate for typical observables from certain subspaces V of $L^1(X, m)$. However, assuming there are further (isolated) eigenvalues, a faster exponential rate of correlation decay determined by $|\lambda_n(\mathcal{L})|$ can occur, if one chooses (nontypical) observables in certain subspaces of finite codimension. These observables do not 'feel' the rates corresponding to the first n-1 eigenvalues, that is, they are in a subspace with vanishing spectral projections corresponding to the eigendirections of $\{\lambda_1(\mathcal{L}), \ldots, \lambda_{n-1}(\mathcal{L})\}$. In case the transfer operator $\mathcal{L} \colon V \to V$ is compact, the essential spectrum reduces to the origin, and the spectrum consists solely of eigenvalues, together with zero. The following lemma, valid for any compact operator L, and its corollary for transfer operators allow to make the above statement on faster decay rates precise.

LEMMA 1.3.7. Let $L: V \to V$ be a compact operator on a Banach space V, with eigenvalue sequence $(\lambda_n(L))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$, ordered by decreasing modulus, with repetitions according to algebraic multiplicity. Let V^* be the topological dual of V. Then, for $n \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$|\lambda_n(L)| = \inf_{\substack{W_n \subseteq V\\ \operatorname{codim} W_n < n}} \sup \left\{ \limsup_{k \to \infty} |g(L^k f)|^{1/k} : f \in W_n, g \in V^* \right\}.$$
(1.12)

Simply put, for a fixed n the supremum on the right-hand side of (1.12) yields the slowest contraction rate, that is, largest eigenvalue, on a subspace W_n , and the infimum maximises this rate by selecting the W_n with the n-1 eigendirections corresponding to the largest eigenvalues removed.

Now, under some conditions, this lemma allows to relate all exponential decay rates of the correlation functions $C_{f,g}(n)$ for observables in $V \times V$ to the (nonzero) eigenvalues of a compact transfer operator $\mathcal{L}: V \to V$.

COROLLARY 1.3.8. Let $T: X \to X$ and V be as in Proposition 1.3.6. Further, assume that $M_{\varrho}(V) = V$ and $\mathcal{L}: V \to V$ is compact with eigenvalue sequence $(\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$. Then, for n > 1,

$$|\lambda_n(\mathcal{L})| = \inf_{\substack{W_n \subseteq V\\ \operatorname{codim} W_n < n-1}} \sup \left\{ \limsup_{k \to \infty} |C_{f,g}(k)|^{1/k} : f \in W_n, g \in V \right\}.$$
(1.13)

Thus, the mixing rate on V is

$$\alpha_V = -\ln|\lambda_2(\mathcal{L})|. \tag{1.14}$$

REMARK 1.3.9. The condition $M_{\varrho}(V) = V$ will be true for all subspaces under consideration in this work. In fact, this is implied by the assumption (AS1), as the unique invariant density ϱ is bounded away from zero and infinity. In the next chapters, we will mainly focus on spaces of holomorphic functions $V = H^{\infty}(U)$ or $H^2(U)$ (considered in Chapters 3 and 4) on a neighbourhood $U \subset \mathbb{C}$ containing X, which can be chosen such that the extension of ϱ to U is still bounded away from zero and infinity, implying $M_{\varrho}(V) = V$.

As an aside, while the assumption (AS1) is generally satisfied for (topologically mixing) uniformly expanding systems, it excludes several well-studied non-uniformly expanding systems, such as smooth interval or circle maps having a neutral fixed point or critical points, see [53] and the references therein for an overview. Such maps can possess a unique acip measure, albeit with density not bounded away from ∞ . These maps, however, do not fall into the scope of this work, in which we are mainly concerned with uniformly expanding maps, giving rise to compact transfer operators on holomorphic function spaces and exponential decay of correlations.

In view of Corollary 1.3.8, knowledge of the spectrum of $\mathcal{L}: V \to V$, also known as the *correlation spectrum* (see [20]), is useful, as it determines all possible exponential correlation decay rates.

Moreover, it is well known (see, for example, [73, 74]) that the correlation spectrum is directly connected to the physically relevant *power spectrum* $\hat{C}_{f,g}$, that is the Fourier transform of the correlation function,

$$\hat{C}_{f,g}(\omega) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} e^{-in\omega} C_{f,g}(n) \quad (\omega \in \mathbb{C}).$$

The analytic structure of $\hat{C}_{f,g}$ is related to the analytic structure of the resolvent of the transfer operator as, with $z = e^{i\omega}$, we have

$$\hat{C}_{f,g}(\omega) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^{-n} C_{f,g}(n)$$
$$= \int_X g \cdot \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^{-n} (\mathcal{L}^n - P) (M_{\varrho} f) \ dm$$
$$= \int_X g \cdot z \ (zI - (\mathcal{L} - P))^{-1} \ (M_{\varrho} f) \ dm$$

for $|z|^{-1} \|\mathcal{L} - P\|_{V \to V} < 1$, where we have used $\mathcal{L}^n - P = (\mathcal{L} - P)^n$ for n > 0(as P satisfies $\mathcal{L}P = P\mathcal{L} = P$) and the Neumann series expansion of the resolvent $(zI - (\mathcal{L} - P))^{-1} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^{-n-1} (\mathcal{L} - P)^n$, see, for example, [87, Thm. 3.1, Ch. V]. If $\mathcal{L}: V \to V$ is compact, then by [87, Cor. 10.3, Ch. V] the resolvent has a meromorphic extension to $\mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$, and hence the power spectrum $\hat{C}_{f,g}$ has a meromorphic extension to $\mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$, are called *resonances* and are given by *i* times the logarithm of the nonzero eigenvalues of $\mathcal{L} - P$. To summarise, the eigenvalues determine the resonances, and hence provide insights into the short-term behaviour of the system via the Fourier modes of the correlation function.

1.4. Transfer operators on analytic function spaces

Since in subsequent chapters $T: X \to X$ will be an analytic (or piecewise analytic) expanding map on an interval or circle, it will be advantageous to consider the associated transfer operator \mathcal{L} on suitable spaces of analytic (holomorphic) functions on a neighbourhood U of X with some prescribed boundary behaviour. Historically, Ruelle [72] was the first to show, among other things, that for certain analytic expanding maps on compact $X \subset \mathbb{C}^d$, the associated transfer operator preserves and acts compactly on Banach spaces consisting of functions holomorphic on a certain neighbourhood U of X, which extend continuously to the boundary of U. Other authors have considered transfer operators on different spaces of holomorphic functions, examples of which are Hardy spaces, see, for example, [58], or Bergman spaces [11, 37]. Under mild assumptions it is possible to show that the spectrum of \mathcal{L} does not depend on the particular choice of holomorphic function space [12].

For all our purposes we will consider Hardy spaces, and for simplicity of the next argument we will restrict ourselves in this section to the following one.

DEFINITION 1.4.1. For U an open subset of \mathbb{C} , we write

$$H^{\infty}(U) = \left\{ f \colon U \to \mathbb{C} \ : \ f \text{ holomorphic and } \sup_{z \in U} |f(z)| < \infty \right\}$$

for the Banach space of bounded holomorphic functions on U equipped with the norm $||f||_{H^{\infty}(U)} = \sup_{z \in U} |f(z)|.$

For an analytic expanding full branch interval map $T: I \to I$, we will show that the associated transfer operator is well defined and compact on certain spaces $H^{\infty}(U)$. The key ingredient of the proof of this statement is a factorisation argument. In the following chapters this argument will be adapted to the settings of expanding Markov maps (Chapter 2) and analytic expanding circle maps (Chapters 3 and 4).

We first define a *partition* of a closed interval I to be a finite collection of closed intervals $\{I_1, \ldots, I_K\}$ with disjoint interiors, that is, $\operatorname{int}(I_k) \cap \operatorname{int}(I_l) = \emptyset$ for $k \neq l$, such that $\bigcup_{k=1}^{K} I_k = I$.

DEFINITION 1.4.2. Let $\{I_1, \ldots, I_K\}$ be a partition of I. A transformation $T: I \to I$ is called an *analytic full branch map* if for all k

- (i) $T_k = T|_{int(I_k)}$ is a (real) analytic diffeomorphism,
- (ii) $\operatorname{cl}(T(I_k)) = I$, and
- (iii) the inverse Φ_k of T_k can be analytically extended to $\Phi_k \colon I \to I_k$.

Each T_k is called a *branch* of T, and the corresponding inverse Φ_k is referred to as an *inverse branch*. The map T is called *expanding* if |T'(x)| > 1 for all $x \in \bigcup_{k=1}^{K} \operatorname{int}(I_k)$.

It is not difficult to see from (1.6) using a change of variables, that for any analytic full branch map $T: I \to I$ the transfer operator $\mathcal{L}: L^1(I, m) \to L^1(I, m)$ can be written as

$$\mathcal{L}f = \sum_{k=1}^{K} W_k \cdot (f \circ \Phi_k), \qquad (1.15)$$

with $W_k = \Phi'_k$ if $\Phi'_k > 0$ and $W_k = -\Phi'_k$ otherwise. More general transfer operators are given by (1.15) with other suitable weight functions W_k , see Chapter 2.

With slight abuse of notation we keep writing T and Φ_k for the respective analytic extensions to some bounded domain⁹ $U \subset \mathbb{C}$ containing I.

NOTATION 1.4.3. As usual, we write cl(U) to denote the closure of U in C. Given two open subsets U and V of C we write

 $U \subset\!\!\!\!\subset V$

if cl(U) is a compact subset of V.

Assuming that T is expanding, all inverse branches Φ_k are contractions on I. We can thus choose domains U and U' containing I such that

$$\Phi_k(U) \subset U' \subset U$$
 for all inverse branches Φ_k , (1.16)

see, for example, [12, Lem. 2.4]. For suitable domains U containing I and $W_k \in H^{\infty}(U)$, we will show that the operator \mathcal{L} in (1.15) leaves the subspace $H^{\infty}(U)$ of $L^1(I,m)$ invariant. Moreover, \mathcal{L} acts compactly on these spaces. Both facts can be seen from the following factorisation of the operator.

1.4.1. Factorisation argument. Observe that in (1.15) the argument of $f \in H^{\infty}(U)$, that is $\Phi(z)$, is contained in the smaller domain U' because of (1.16). We can thus use (1.15) to view \mathcal{L} as an operator from the larger function space $H^{\infty}(U')$ to $H^{\infty}(U)$. Note that the space is 'larger' as analyticity is only required on a domain $U' \subset U$. We shall write $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}$ in order to distinguish this lifted operator from \mathcal{L} on $H^{\infty}(U)$. The boundedness of $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}$ is the content of the next lemma.

LEMMA 1.4.4. Let $W_k \in H^{\infty}(U)$ for $k = 1, \ldots, K$. Suppose that U and U' are domains in \mathbb{C} such that $\Phi_k(U) \subset U' \subset U$ for all inverse branches Φ_k . Then $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}$ given by (1.15) maps $H^{\infty}(U')$ continuously to $H^{\infty}(U)$.

PROOF. Set $W = \sup_{z \in U} \sum_{k=1}^{K} |W_k(z)| < \infty$ and note that

$$|(\tilde{\mathcal{L}}f)(z)| \le \sum_{k=1}^{K} |W_k(z)| |f(\Phi_k(z))| \le W ||f||_{H^{\infty}(U')} \quad (z \in U).$$

Hence, $\|\tilde{\mathcal{L}}f\|_{H^{\infty}(U)} \leq W \|f\|_{H^{\infty}(U')}$, so $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}$ is continuous.

Choosing U' = U in the previous lemma shows that $\mathcal{L} \colon H^{\infty}(U) \to H^{\infty}(U)$ is a well-defined continuous operator.

 $^{^{9}\}mathrm{By}$ a domain we mean a nonempty connected open subset of $\mathbb{C}.$

We next assume that $U' \subset U$ as in (1.16) and introduce the bounded embedding operator J which maps the smaller space $H^{\infty}(U)$ injectively into the larger space $H^{\infty}(U')$. To be precise, $J: H^{\infty}(U) \to H^{\infty}(U')$ is given by

$$(Jf)(z) = f(z) \quad \text{for } z \in U'. \tag{1.17}$$

The two operators \mathcal{L} and $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}$ are related by restriction, that is,

$$\mathcal{L} = \tilde{\mathcal{L}}J. \tag{1.18}$$

This relation is represented by the following diagram:

$$\begin{array}{c} H^{\infty}(U') & (1.19) \\ \downarrow & & \\ J & & \\ H^{\infty}(U) \xrightarrow{\tilde{\mathcal{L}}} H^{\infty}(U) \end{array}$$

Note that the factorisation above disentangles the intricacies of the map contained in $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}$ from its general expansiveness contained in J. Moreover, the embedding J is compact by an application of Montel's theorem (see, for example, [23, Thm. 2.9, Ch. 7]). Hence, as $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}$ is continuous, the factorisation (1.18) yields the following result.

PROPOSITION 1.4.5. The operator $\mathcal{L}: H^{\infty}(U) \to H^{\infty}(U)$ from (1.15) is compact.

1.4.2. Approximation argument. In some cases (for example, piecewise linear Markov maps discussed in Chapter 2 or the family of expanding analytic circle maps considered in Chapter 3), one can show that the associated transfer operator \mathcal{L} leaves certain finite-dimensional spaces invariant, and restricted to these spaces possesses a triangular matrix representation. More formally, \mathcal{L} can be approximated by finite rank operators, whose matrix representations admit triangular form. The next lemma connects the spectrum of \mathcal{L} with that of its finite rank approximations. As this lemma will be used several times, we shall state it for general Banach spaces.

LEMMA 1.4.6. For Banach spaces V and V', let $\mathcal{L}: V \to V$ be a bounded linear operator which admits a factorisation of the form (1.18) with $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}: V' \to V$ and $J: V \to$ V' bounded. Let $P_N: V \to V$ denote a continuous projection onto an N-dimensional subspace $H_N = P_N(V)$. If

(a) $\mathcal{L}(H_N) \subseteq H_N$ for all $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$, and (b) $\lim_{N \to \infty} \|J - JP_N\|_{V \to V'} = 0$,

then \mathcal{L} is compact and its spectrum is given by

$$\sigma(\mathcal{L}) = \operatorname{cl}(\bigcup_{N \in \mathbb{N}_0} \sigma(\mathcal{L}|_{H_N})).$$

PROOF. Clearly $\sigma(\mathcal{L}|_{H_N}) \subseteq \sigma(\mathcal{L})$. Since $\mathcal{L}(H_N) \subseteq H_N$ we have $\mathcal{L}P_N = P_N \mathcal{L}P_N$ for every $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Using the factorisation (1.18) we see that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{L} - P_N \mathcal{L} P_N\|_{V \to V} &= \|\mathcal{L} - \mathcal{L} P_N\|_{V \to V} = \|\tilde{\mathcal{L}} J - \tilde{\mathcal{L}} J P_N\|_{V \to V} \\ &= \|\tilde{\mathcal{L}} (J - J P_N)\|_{V \to V} \\ &\leq \|\tilde{\mathcal{L}}\|_{V' \to V} \|J - J P_N\|_{V \to V'} \,, \end{aligned}$$

which, using boundedness of $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}$ and (b), implies

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \|\mathcal{L} - P_N \mathcal{L} P_N\|_{V \to V} = 0.$$
(1.20)

Since $P_N \mathcal{L} P_N$ is a finite rank operator for every N, the limit above implies that \mathcal{L} is compact. Clearly, the nonzero eigenvalues of each $P_N \mathcal{L} P_N$ are exactly the nonzero eigenvalues of $\mathcal{L}|_{H_N}$. By (1.20) and an abstract spectral approximation result (see [27, XI.9.5]), every nonzero eigenvalue $\lambda \in \sigma(\mathcal{L})$ is a limit of some sequence (λ_N) with $\lambda_N \in \sigma(\mathcal{L}|_{H_N})$, which proves the remaining equality.

For later use, we shall verify the approximation assumption (b) of the previous lemma for the domains $U = D_R$ and $U' = D_r$ satisfying (1.16) for $\mathcal{L}: H^{\infty}(U) \to H^{\infty}(U)$ given in (1.15), where D_r and D_R denote two concentric open disks in \mathbb{C} centred at a point z_0 with respective radii 0 < r < R. We introduce a projection operator defined as follows: given an analytic function f in $H^{\infty}(D_R)$ and an integer N, we define $P_N f$ to be the function given by the truncated Taylor series expansion

$$(P_N f)(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{N} \frac{f^{(n)}(z_0)}{n!} (z - z_0)^n .$$
(1.21)

Clearly, P_N is a projection operator on $H^{\infty}(D_R)$. It turns out that the finite rank operators JP_N approximate the embedding $J: H^{\infty}(D_R) \to H^{\infty}(D_r)$ in (1.17) for large N in a strong sense, which is the statement of the following lemma.

LEMMA 1.4.7. For the setting above, the assumption (b) from Lemma 1.4.6 holds:

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \|J - JP_N\|_{H^{\infty}(D_R) \to H^{\infty}(D_r)} = 0.$$

PROOF. By Cauchy's integral theorem, we have for any $f \in H^{\infty}(D_R)$ and $z \in D_r$

$$f(z) - (P_N f)(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\gamma} \sum_{n=N+1}^{\infty} \frac{f(\zeta)(z-z_0)^n}{(\zeta-z_0)^{n+1}} d\zeta$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\gamma} \frac{f(\zeta)}{\zeta-z} \frac{(z-z_0)^{N+1}}{(\zeta-z_0)^{N+1}} d\zeta,$$

where the contour γ is the positively oriented boundary of a disk centred at z_0 with radius R' lying strictly between r and R. It follows that the norm of $J - JP_N$ viewed as an operator from $H^{\infty}(D_R)$ to $H^{\infty}(D_r)$ satisfies

$$\|J - JP_N\|_{H^{\infty}(D_R) \to H^{\infty}(D_r)} \leq \frac{R'}{R' - r} \left(\frac{r}{R'}\right)^{N+1},$$

from which the statement follows.

REMARK 1.4.8. The above lemma implies that J is compact, and hence using the factorisation (1.16) shows that \mathcal{L} in (1.15) is compact, which is an alternative way of proving compactness of \mathcal{L} without invoking Montel's theorem.

By establishing compactness of the transfer operator in an analytic setup we have set the stage for the investigations in the next chapters. There, the different settings will require modified proofs of compactness, but all these modifications will follow the structure presented above and build on these results. The presented link between the spectrum of the transfer operator and the mixing rates will enable us to prove certain bounds on these rates in terms of other dynamical quantities such as Lyapunov exponents. Further, for a particular class of dynamical systems we will be able to determine the entire spectrum and hence obtain all possible exponential mixing rates.

CHAPTER 2

Relation between mixing rates and Lyapunov exponents

Following the discussion in the introduction and in Chapter 1, the purpose of this chapter is to approach the problem of obtaining a quantitative version of Lemma 1.1.3, or more specifically, to relate the exponential mixing rate and the Lyapunov exponent of simple expanding Markov maps.

It is a common perception in the physics literature that in chaotic low-dimensional systems enjoying exponential decay of correlations there should be an intuitive relationship between Lyapunov exponents and correlation decay rates. In [5] an exact relation between correlation decay and (generalised) Lyapunov exponents was conjectured, and in [86] it was even suggested to take correlation decay rates as a meaningful approximation for Lyapunov exponents.

On the other hand, one may argue that both quantities probe entirely different and independent aspects of a dynamical system. The mixing rate is determined by the size of the spectral gap of the associated transfer operator (given by the subleading eigenvalue or the essential spectral radius). In contrast, considering a certain one-parameter family of operators containing the transfer operator, the Lyapunov exponent is governed by the sensitivity of the leading eigenvalue of these operators with respect to the parameter (see Lemma 2.2.8 for precise statements).

In this chapter, we shall explore a possible relation in the simple setup of piecewise linear expanding Markov maps. After motivating this relation in Section 2.1, we will show in Section 2.2 that for these maps observed via piecewise analytic functions, the decay rate is bounded above by twice the Lyapunov exponent; that is, we establish lower bounds for the subleading eigenvalue of the corresponding transfer operator. In Section 2.3 we shall provide numerical evidence that such bounds break down once we consider general nonlinear expanding Markov maps, but certain relations still hold if the transfer operator is considered on the space of bounded variation.

The results of this chapter are contained in the publication [85].

2.1. A pedestrian approach

The problem we want to address can be illustrated by a basic textbook example, considered, for instance, in [5]. Take a linear full branch map (see Figure 2.1) on the unit interval I = [0, 1], that is, a map $T: I \to I$ with constant slope γ_k on each I_k , where $\{I_1, \ldots, I_K\}$ is a finite partition of I into $K \geq 2$ closed intervals. This is a simple instance of Definition 1.4.2.



FIGURE 2.1. Diagrammatic view of a linear full branch map.

The unique acip measure is given by the Lebesgue measure and the Lyapunov exponent (1.2) with respect to this measure can be expressed in terms of the slopes as

$$\Lambda = \sum_{k=1}^{K} |I_k| \ln |\gamma_k|, \qquad (2.1)$$

with $|I_k| = 1/|\gamma_k|$ denoting the size of the interval I_k .

The exponential mixing rate is determined by the second largest eigenvalue in modulus of the associated transfer operator restricted to a space of sufficiently smooth functions, see Corollary 1.3.8. In this setting it is well known (see, for example, [61]) that eigenfunctions of the transfer operator are given by polynomials and that the corresponding eigenvalues ν_m can be expressed as

$$\nu_m = \sum_{k=1}^{K} \frac{1}{|\gamma_k|} \frac{1}{\gamma_k^m} = \sum_{k=1}^{K} |I_k| \frac{1}{\gamma_k^m} \qquad (m \ge 0),$$
(2.2)

with largest eigenvalue $\lambda_1 = \nu_0 = 1$. If all slopes γ_k have the same sign then (2.2) defines a monotonic sequence $(|\nu_m|)_{m\geq 0}$ and the subleading eigenvalue λ_2 , being the second largest in modulus, is equal to ν_1 . If the slopes have different sign then the subleading eigenvalue is given either by ν_1 or by ν_2 , depending on which of $|\nu_1|$ or ν_2 is larger, that is, $|\lambda_2| = \max\{|\nu_1|, \nu_2\}$. Correlation functions of sufficiently smooth observables decay typically at an exponential rate $\alpha = -\ln |\lambda_2|$. Since $|\lambda_2| \ge \nu_2 > 0$ we obtain an upper bound $\alpha \le -\ln \nu_2$ for the decay rate, which can now be related to the Lyapunov exponent (2.1). If we apply Jensen's inequality¹ to the convex function $\varphi(x) = -\ln(x)$ we end up with

$$\alpha \le -\ln\left(\sum_{k=1}^{K} |I_k| \frac{1}{\gamma_k^2}\right) \le \sum_{k=1}^{K} |I_k| \left(-\ln\frac{1}{\gamma_k^2}\right) = 2\Lambda.$$
(2.3)

The estimate of the decay rate in (2.3) is based on ν_2 , which contains positive terms only, even if the slopes have different signs. As a result the upper bound is given by twice the Lyapunov exponent. If all slopes have the same sign, say $\gamma_k > 1$, then

¹Jensen's inequality can be stated as follows. Let $\varphi : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be convex, $x_1, \ldots, x_n \in \mathbb{R}$, and a_1, \ldots, a_n positive weights with $\sum_{k=1}^n a_k = 1$, then $\phi(\sum_{k=1}^n a_k x_k) \leq \sum_{k=1}^n a_k \phi(x_k)$.

 $\lambda_2 = \nu_1$, and the Lyapunov exponent itself yields an upper bound for the decay rate, that is, $\alpha \leq \Lambda$.

Next we will address the question to which extent this simple reasoning can be generalised and made rigorous for a larger class of systems.

2.2. Piecewise linear Markov maps

Focussing on piecewise linear Markov maps considerably reduces the need to worry about certain subtleties, as the transfer operator is compact and admits finitedimensional matrix representations when considered on a space of piecewise analytic observables. Thus, at a computational level all technical details reduce to straightforward matrix manipulations.

The argument requires defining a suitable function space, on which the generalised transfer operator (see below) is compact. Results of this type for general analytic Markov maps are well known (see, for example, [72] or [56]). The special case of piecewise linear Markov maps, where a complete determination of the spectrum is possible, is folklore. We provide the details for the sake of completeness.

DEFINITION 2.2.1. An interval map $T: I \to I$ is said to be a *Markov map* if there exists a finite partition $\{I_1, \ldots, I_K\}$ of I such that for any pair (k, l) either $T(\operatorname{int}(I_k)) \cap \operatorname{int}(I_l) = \emptyset$ or $\operatorname{int}(I_l) \subseteq T(\operatorname{int}(I_k))$. If this is the case, the corresponding partition will be referred to as a *Markov partition* and the $K \times K$ matrix A given by

$$A_{kl} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \operatorname{int}(I_l) \subseteq T(\operatorname{int}(I_k)), \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(2.4)

will be called the *topological transition matrix* of the Markov map T.

A Markov map T with Markov partition $\{I_1, \ldots, I_K\}$ is said to be *expanding* if |T'(x)| > 1 for all $x \in int(I_k)$. It is said to be *piecewise linear* if T' is constant on each element of the Markov partition, that is, $T'(x) = \gamma_k$ for all $x \in int(I_k)$.

Finally, we call an expanding Markov map with topological transition matrix A topologically mixing² if there is a positive integer p such that each entry of the matrix A^p is strictly positive.

The main tool to establish the desired inequality (2.3) consists in studying the spectral properties of the generalised transfer operator (also referred to as Ruelle-Perron-Frobenius operator).

DEFINITION 2.2.2. To any piecewise linear Markov map T and $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$, one can associate the generalised transfer operator

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\beta}f)(x) = \sum_{y \in T^{-1}(x)} \frac{f(y)}{|T'(y)|^{\beta}}, \qquad (2.5)$$

²This is a slight abuse of terminology, since its use is usually restricted to continuous maps. However, it serves the same purpose as in the continuous setup as it guarantees the existence of a spectral gap for the corresponding transfer operator (see Corollary 2.2.7).

which is a bounded operator on $L^1(X, m)$.

For $\beta = 1$ this expression reduces to the (usual) transfer operator defined in (1.6). As we shall see next, the operator \mathcal{L}_{β} in (2.5) leaves invariant certain subspaces of $L^1(X, m)$, namely spaces of functions analytic on each of $\operatorname{int}(I_k)$. Any such function f can be identified with the K-tuple of analytic functions, each of which is the analytic extension of $f|_{\operatorname{int}(I_k)}$ for some k. In order to make this more precise, we require some more notation.

DEFINITION 2.2.3. Let D denote an open disk in the complex plane. We use

$$\mathcal{H}(D) = \bigoplus_{k=1}^{K} H^{\infty}(D)$$

to denote the space of K-tuples $h = (h_1, \ldots, h_K)$ of bounded holomorphic functions on D (see Definition 1.4.1). This is a Banach space when equipped with the norm $\|h\|_{\mathcal{H}(D)} = \max\{\|h_k\|_{H^{\infty}(D)} : k = 1, \ldots, K\}.$

Let T be a piecewise linear expanding Markov map with the Markov partition $\{I_1, \ldots, I_K\}$ and topological transition matrix A. For each (k, l) with $A_{lk} \neq 0$ we denote by $\varphi_{kl} \colon I_k \to I_l$ the inverse branch of the Markov map from partition element I_k into the partition element I_l , as well as its analytic continuation to the complex plane. Observe that, since the map is expanding, all inverse branches are contractions. We can thus choose two concentric open disks D_r and D_R in \mathbb{C} with radii 0 < r < R such that

$$\varphi_{kl}(D_R) \subset D_r \subset D_R$$
 for all inverse branches φ_{kl} . (2.6)

It turns out that $\mathcal{H}(D_R)$ is a suitable space of observables for the transfer operator \mathcal{L}_{β} associated to T in the sense of the following proposition.

PROPOSITION 2.2.4. Let T, A, φ_{kl} and D_R be given as above. Then, for any real β , the transfer operator \mathcal{L}_{β} viewed as an operator from $\mathcal{H}(D_R)$ to itself is well defined and bounded, and can be written as

$$\left(\mathcal{L}_{\beta}h\right)_{k}(z) = \sum_{l} A_{lk} |\varphi_{kl}'(z)|^{\beta} h_{l}(\varphi_{kl}(z)) \,. \tag{2.7}$$

PROOF. The representation (2.7) follows from a short calculation using the definition of \mathcal{L}_{β} in (2.5). The K-tuple $h = (h_1, \ldots, h_K)$ corresponds to the piecewise analytic function f on I, meaning that h_l is an analytic extension of $f|_{int(I_l)}$. If $x \in I_k$, then (2.5) can be written as

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\beta}f)(x) = \sum_{l=1}^{K} A_{lk} \frac{f(\varphi_{kl}(x))}{|T'(\varphi_{kl}(x))|^{\beta}}.$$

As φ_{kl} is the analytic extension of the inverse branch which maps I_k to I_l , and $f|_{int(I_l)} = h_l|_{int(I_l)}$, we get the desired expression for $(\mathcal{L}_{\beta}h)_k$, which is the analytic extension of $(\mathcal{L}_{\beta}f)|_{int(I_k)}$.

Since $|\varphi'_{kl}(z)|^{\beta} = |\gamma_l|^{-\beta}$ is constant and the disk D_R satisfies (2.6), the operator maps $\mathcal{H}(D_R)$ to $\mathcal{H}(D_R)$. In order to see that $\mathcal{L}_{\beta} \colon \mathcal{H}(D_R) \to \mathcal{H}(D_R)$ is bounded observe that if $h \in \mathcal{H}(D_R)$ with $||h||_{\mathcal{H}(D_R)} \leq 1$, then

$$\|\mathcal{L}_{\beta}h\|_{\mathcal{H}(D_R)} = \max_k \|(\mathcal{L}_{\beta}h)_k\|_{H^{\infty}(D_R)} \le \max_k \sum_l A_{lk} |\gamma_l|^{-\beta} < \infty. \qquad \Box$$

REMARK 2.2.5. The space $\mathcal{H}(D_R)$ is not the only suitable space of observables. Restricting to the same disk of analyticity for each branch, however, simplifies notation. More general spaces are discussed in [11] and [12].

Next we will show that \mathcal{L}_{β} viewed as an operator on $\mathcal{H}(D_R)$ is compact. The proof relies on the factorisation argument explained in Section 1.4.1. We shall write $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{\beta} \colon \mathcal{H}(D_r) \to \mathcal{H}(D_R)$ for the lifted operator also given by the functional expression (2.7), which is bounded by the same argument as for \mathcal{L}_{β} . Further, \mathcal{J} is the bounded embedding operator which maps $\mathcal{H}(D_R)$ injectively to $\mathcal{H}(D_r)$. To be precise, $\mathcal{J} \colon \mathcal{H}(D_R) \to \mathcal{H}(D_r)$ is given by $(\mathcal{J}h)_k = \mathcal{J}h_k$, where $\mathcal{J} \colon \mathcal{H}^{\infty}(D_R) \to \mathcal{H}^{\infty}(D_r)$ in turn is given by $(\mathcal{J}h)(z) = h(z)$ for $z \in D_r$. As \mathcal{J} is compact by Montel's theorem (see [23, Thm. 2.9, Ch. 7]) it follows that \mathcal{J} is compact, and since $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{\beta}$ is bounded, the factorisation $\mathcal{L}_{\beta} = \tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{\beta}\mathcal{J}$ as in (1.18) implies that \mathcal{L}_{β} is compact.

We now turn to the approximation argument in order to show that the spectrum of \mathcal{L}_{β} is given by the eigenvalues of certain block matrices. For piecewise linear Markov maps the transfer operator is easily seen to map piecewise polynomial functions of degree at most N to piecewise polynomial functions of degree at most N. This follows from a straightforward calculation using the fact that the inverse branches are affine functions. Hence, in the natural basis of piecewise monomials, the operator \mathcal{L}_{β} can be represented by the $(N + 1)K \times (N + 1)K$ block upper triangular matrix. To be precise, let $P_N: H^{\infty}(D_R) \to H^{\infty}(D_R)$ be the projection given in (1.21), and choose $\{e_n: n = 0, \ldots, N\}$ with $e_n(z) = z^n$ as a basis for

$$H_N = P_N(H^\infty(D_R)).$$

For $\mathcal{H}_N = \bigoplus_{k=1}^K H_N$ choose the basis

$$\{\mathcal{E}_{0}^{(1)},\ldots,\mathcal{E}_{0}^{(K)},\mathcal{E}_{1}^{(1)},\ldots,\mathcal{E}_{1}^{(K)},\ldots,\mathcal{E}_{N}^{(1)},\ldots,\mathcal{E}_{N}^{(K)}\},\$$

where $\mathcal{E}_n^{(k)} = (0, \dots, 0, e_n, 0, \dots, 0)$ with e_n in the k-th position.

On $\mathcal{H}(D_R)$ we introduce the projection operator $\mathcal{P}_N : \mathcal{H}(D_R) \to \mathcal{H}(D_R)$ by setting $\mathcal{P}_N h = (P_N h_1, \ldots, P_N h_K)$; note that $\mathcal{H}_N = \mathcal{P}_N(\mathcal{H}(D_R))$. Then, the restriction of $\mathcal{P}_N \mathcal{L} \mathcal{P}_N$ to \mathcal{H}_N is represented by the $(N+1)K \times (N+1)K$ block upper triangular matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} L^{(00)}(\beta) & L^{(01)}(\beta) & \dots & L^{(0N)}(\beta) \\ 0 & L^{(11)}(\beta) & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & L^{(N-1N)}(\beta) \\ 0 & \dots & 0 & L^{(NN)}(\beta) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.8)

A simple calculation of the matrix representation $L^{(00)}(1)$ of \mathcal{L}_1 on the space of piecewise constant functions can be found in, for example, [17, p. 176]. More generally, it follows from (2.7) that the matrix elements of the block matrices $L^{(mn)}(\beta)$ are given in terms of the slopes γ_k and intercepts d_k of the branches of T, and the topological transition matrix $(A_{kl})_{1 \le k, l \le K}$ induced by T and $\{I_1, \ldots, I_K\}$ as follows³:

$$L_{kl}^{(mn)}(\beta) = \frac{A_{lk}}{|\gamma_l|^{\beta}\gamma_l^n} \cdot (-d_l)^{n-m} \binom{n}{m}.$$
(2.9)

The eigenvalues are determined by the diagonal blocks $L^{(mm)}(\beta)$ with matrix elements given by the first factor in (2.9).

We are now able to combine the factorisation with the approximation result above to prove the following.

PROPOSITION 2.2.6. Let T, A, φ_{kl} and D_R be as above. Then, for any real β , the transfer operator \mathcal{L}_{β} viewed as an operator on $\mathcal{H}(D_R)$ is compact and its nonzero eigenvalues are precisely the nonzero eigenvalues of the matrices $L^{(mm)}(\beta)$ given in (2.9) with $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$, with the same multiplicities⁴.

PROOF. By Lemma 1.4.7, we have $\lim_{N\to\infty} ||J - JP_N||_{H^{\infty}(D_R)\to H^{\infty}(D_r)} = 0$, which immediately leads to

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \|\mathcal{J} - \mathcal{J} \mathcal{P}_N\|_{\mathcal{H}(D_R) \to \mathcal{H}(D_r)} = 0.$$

As $\mathcal{L}_{\beta}(\mathcal{H}_N) \subseteq \mathcal{H}_N$, by Lemma 1.4.6 we have that the nonzero eigenvalues of \mathcal{L}_{β} are precisely those of $\mathcal{P}_N \mathcal{L}_{\beta} \mathcal{P}_N$ for $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$, which are exactly the nonzero eigenvalues of the block matrices in (2.8). The assertion concerning multiplicities follows from [27, XI.9.5].

Specialising to topologically mixing Markov maps, the Perron-Frobenius theorem (see, for example, [**32**, p. 53] or [**45**, p. 536]) guarantees that for any even m, the nonnegative⁵ matrix $L^{(mm)}(\beta)$ in (2.9) has a simple, positive eigenvalue $\nu_m(\beta)$, referred to as the Perron eigenvalue of $L^{(mm)}(\beta)$, which is larger (in modulus) than all other eigenvalues. As a consequence, we obtain the following refinement of the above proposition.

COROLLARY 2.2.7. Suppose that the hypotheses of the previous proposition hold. If the Markov map T is also topologically mixing, then $\mathcal{L}_{\beta} \colon \mathcal{H}(D_R) \to \mathcal{H}(D_R)$ has a simple positive leading eigenvalue $\nu_0(\beta)$. Moreover, this eigenvalue is the Perron eigenvalue of the matrix $L^{(00)}(\beta)$.

³Note that $\varphi_{kl}(z) = (z - d_l)/\gamma_l$. Then $h = \mathcal{E}_n^{(l)}$ in (2.7) yields

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\beta}\mathcal{E}_{n}^{(l)})_{k}(z) = A_{lk} |\varphi_{kl}'(z)|^{\beta} (\varphi_{kl}(z))^{n} = A_{lk} \frac{1}{|\gamma_{l}|^{\beta}} \frac{1}{\gamma_{l}^{n}} \sum_{i=0}^{n} \binom{n}{i} z^{n} (-d_{l})^{n-i}$$

The coefficient of z^m yields (2.9).

⁴This means, for any nonzero eigenvalue λ of \mathcal{L}_{β} , its multiplicity coincides with the sum of the multiplicities of λ as an eigenvalue of $L^{(11)}(\beta), \ldots, L^{(NN)}(\beta)$ for large enough N. ⁵The matrix $L^{(mm)}(\beta)$ is not necessarily nonnegative for odd m.

PROOF. This follows from the previous proposition together with the observation that for $m \geq 1$ the spectral radius $\rho(L^{(mm)}(\beta))$ of the matrix $L^{(mm)}(\beta)$ is strictly smaller than the Perron eigenvalue of $L^{(00)}(\beta)$. In order to see this note that by (2.9) for all $m \geq 1$ we have

$$|L_{kl}^{(mm)}(\beta)| \le C L_{kl}^{(00)}(\beta), \qquad (2.10)$$

where

$$C = \max_{l} \frac{1}{|\gamma_l|} < 1$$

As (2.10) implies $|(L^{(mm)}(\beta))_{kl}^{p}| \leq C^{p}(L^{(00)}(\beta))_{kl}^{p}$ for each $p \geq 0$ and $m \geq 1$, we have $\left\| \left(L^{(mm)}(\beta) \right)^{p} \right\|_{F} \leq C^{p} \left\| \left(L^{(00)}(\beta) \right)^{p} \right\|_{F}$,

where $\|\cdot\|_F$ denotes the Frobenius norm. The spectral radius formula (A.1) now implies that

$$\rho(L^{(mm)}(\beta)) \le C\nu_0(\beta).$$

The leading (positive) eigenvalue $\nu_0(\beta)$ of $L^{(00)}(\beta)$ determines the so-called *topological pressure*, given by $P(\beta) = \ln \nu_0(\beta)$ for topologically mixing *T*. The following lemma summarises the well-known properties of the pressure (see Figure 2.2), which have been established for a large class of dynamical systems (see, for example, [41, Ch. 4]). In the context of piecewise linear Markov maps, these can be deduced from the matrix representation using elementary methods.

LEMMA 2.2.8. The topological pressure $P(\beta)$ has the following properties:

- (i) P(1) = 0;
- (ii) P is convex in β ;
- (iii) P is analytic in β ;
- (iv) $\frac{\partial P}{\partial \beta}\Big|_{\beta=1} = -\Lambda$, where Λ is the Lyapunov exponent in (1.2) with respect to the unique acip measure μ .

PROOF. Statement (i) follows immediately. To simplify notation for the other statements, we denote the first block matrix $L^{(00)}(\beta)$ in (2.8) by $L(\beta)$ for the remainder of the proof.

(ii) As $\nu_0(\beta)$ is a simple leading eigenvalue of $L(\beta)$, we have $P(\beta) = \ln \nu_0(\beta) = \lim_{n\to\infty} (1/n) \ln \operatorname{Tr} ((L(\beta))^n)$, where Tr denotes the trace of a matrix. Convexity of the pressure will follow from the logarithmic convexity of the trace. A function $f \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is called *logarithmically convex* if $\ln f$ is convex, or equivalently if $f(tx + (1 - t)y) \leq f(x)^t f(y)^{1-t}$ for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$ and $t \in [0, 1]$. Using Hölder's inequality, it is easy to see that the sum of two logarithmically convex functions is again logarithmically convex. Clearly, the same holds for the product of logarithmically convex, so is $\operatorname{Tr} ((L(\beta))^n)$. Thus the topological pressure $P(\beta)$ is convex.

(iii) As the leading eigenvalue $\nu_0(\beta)$ is simple for any β , and L is analytic in β , it follows that ν_0 and hence P are analytic in β , see [**39**, Thm. 1.8, Ch. II].

(iv) By (i) we have $\frac{\partial P}{\partial \beta}\Big|_{\beta=1} = \frac{\partial \nu_0}{\partial \beta}\Big|_{\beta=1}$. For any $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$, the matrix $L(\beta)$ has right and left eigenvectors $\rho(\beta)$ and $m(\beta)$ corresponding to the simple eigenvalue $\nu_0(\beta)$ satisfying $m(\beta)^T \rho(\beta) = 1$. The eigenvalue $\nu_0(\beta)$ and the eigenvectors $\rho(\beta)$ and $m(\beta)$ are analytic, see [39, Thm. 1.8, Ch. II]. For brevity, we write $\rho = \rho(1)$ and m = m(1), and write ρ_k and m_k for the k-th entries of ρ and m, respectively. Observing that $m_k = |I_k|$ and $|\gamma_l||I_l| = \sum_{k=1}^K A_{lk}|I_k|$ and using $\left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial \beta}\right)_{kl} = \frac{A_{lk}}{|\gamma_l|^{\beta}} \ln \frac{1}{|\gamma_l|}$ we have

$$\frac{\partial \nu_0}{\partial \beta}\Big|_{\beta=1} = m\left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial \beta}\Big|_{\beta=1}\right)\rho = \sum_{l=1}^K \left(\sum_{k=1}^K \frac{A_{lk}|I_k|}{|\gamma_l|}\right)\ln\frac{1}{|\gamma_l|}\rho_l = -\sum_{l=1}^K |I_l|\ln|\gamma_l|\rho_l,$$

ch finishes the proof as $\Lambda = \sum_{l=1}^K |I_l|\ln|\gamma_l|\rho_l.$

which finishes the proof as $\Lambda = \sum_{l=1}^{K} |I_l| \ln |\gamma_l| \rho_l$.

Now, using this lemma we are able to establish a relation between the exponential mixing rate (see (1.10) and (1.14)) determined by the eigenvalues of the operator \mathcal{L}_{β} for $\beta = 1$ and the Lyapunov exponent Λ in (1.2) with respect to the unique acip measure with corresponding piecewise constant density.

PROPOSITION 2.2.9. Let $T: I \to I$ be a topologically mixing piecewise linear expanding Markov map, and D_R as above. For $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}(D_R)$ as in Definition 2.2.3, the corresponding mixing rate $\alpha_{\mathcal{H}}$ is bounded in terms of the Lyapunov exponent:

$$\alpha_{\mathcal{H}} \le 2\Lambda \,. \tag{2.11}$$

If all slopes γ_k have the same sign a sharper estimate holds:

$$\alpha_{\mathcal{H}} \le \Lambda. \tag{2.12}$$

PROOF. Recall that $\nu_m(\beta)$ denotes the largest eigenvalue (in modulus) of $L^{(mm)}(\beta)$. The largest eigenvalue of \mathcal{L}_{β} for $\beta = 1$ is given by $\nu_0(1) = 1$, while $\nu_2(1)$ is a positive eigenvalue which provides a lower bound for the subleading eigenvalue of \mathcal{L}_{β} . Thus

$$\alpha_{\mathcal{H}} \le -\ln\nu_2(1) \,. \tag{2.13}$$

On the other hand, $L^{(22)}(\beta) = L^{(00)}(\beta + 2)$ by (2.9), which implies

$$\nu_2(\beta) = \nu_0(\beta + 2). \tag{2.14}$$

Hence, using the properties of the topological pressure in Lemma 2.2.8, the relations (2.13) and (2.14) yield

$$\alpha_{\mathcal{H}} \le -P(3) \le (3-1)\Lambda$$

See Figure 2.2 for a graphical illustration of the second inequality.

Note that if all slopes γ_k of T have the same sign, then we have $L^{(11)}(\beta) =$ $\operatorname{sign}(\gamma_k)L^{(00)}(\beta+1)$. Thus, we can apply the previous arguments to $|\nu_1(1)|$ to obtain the following improved estimate:

$$\alpha_{\mathcal{H}} \le -\ln|\nu_1(1)| = -\ln\nu_0(2) = -P(2) \le (2-1)\Lambda$$
.



FIGURE 2.2. Schematic representation of the topological pressure $P(\beta)$ and its tangent at $\beta = 1$ with slope $-\Lambda$. The marked points are those used in the proof of Proposition 2.2.9.

REMARK 2.2.10. The assumption that T is topologically mixing is sufficient but not necessary. Indeed, there exist piecewise linear expanding Markov maps T with the following properties: the map T is not topologically mixing, yet exhibits exponential decay of correlations, that is $\alpha_{\mathcal{H}} > 0$, while the conclusions of Proposition 2.2.9 hold. One example is the piecewise linear Markov map on the interval [0, 1] with four branches given by T(x) = 2x + (1 - n)/2 for $x \in [n/4, (n + 1)/4)$ and $n = 0, \ldots, 3$.

REMARK 2.2.11. The estimates (2.11) and (2.12) are sharp with simple examples achieving these bounds: the tent map ($\alpha_{\mathcal{H}} = 2\Lambda$) and the doubling map ($\alpha_{\mathcal{H}} = \Lambda$).

2.3. Remarks on nonlinear expanding maps

The setup of piecewise linear Markov maps is rather special. One may thus be tempted to ask whether a result like Proposition 2.2.9 extends, say, to Markov maps with nonlinear branches. While the previous considerations are based on the finitematrix representation and on the eigenvalue relation (2.14), there is no obvious approach to the nonlinear case.

In order to get an idea how the nonlinearity affects relations (2.11) and (2.12), we approximate the spectrum of the transfer operator numerically. For this, we consider a simple example, a family of full branch piecewise Möbius maps F_c defined on [-1, 1],

$$F_c(x) = \frac{1 - 2(c+1)|x|}{1 + 2c|x|}.$$
(2.15)

We restrict the parameter to $c \in (-1/4, 1/2)$, in order to guarantee expansivity. Figure 2.3(a) depicts the map F_c for c = -0.22.

There is an extensive body of literature on numerical approximation schemes for spectra of expanding systems, which broadly fall into two categories: those with a dynamical flavour based on cycle expansions (see [4]) of the Fredholm determinant (see [20, 37]), and those with a functional analytic flavour based on finite-rank approximations of transfer operators (see [8, 31, 52]).



FIGURE 2.3. Left: (a) Diagrammatic view of the Möbius map (2.15) for c < 0. Right: (b) The largest eigenvalues (in modulus) of \mathcal{L}_{β} for $\beta = 1$ for the map F_c in dependence on c, obtained using the Lagrange-Chebyshev method with truncation order n = 25. Positive/negative eigenvalues are indicated by filled/open symbols.

Following the spirit of the latter approach, we will effectively approximate the spectrum of \mathcal{L}_{β} associated to F_c , considered on $H^{\infty}(U)$ for certain bounded domains $U \supset [-1, 1]$, using Lagrange-Chebyshev approximation. The basic idea of this method is to approximate \mathcal{L}_{β} by an $n \times n$ matrix $P_n \mathcal{L}_{\beta} P_n$, where P_n denotes the projection that sends $f \in H^{\infty}(U)$ to its Lagrange-Chebyshev interpolating polynomial of degree n-1. This method is easily implemented and, moreover, it is possible to show (see [10]) that the eigenvalues of $P_n \mathcal{L}_{\beta} P_n$ converge exponentially fast to the eigenvalues of \mathcal{L}_{β} . This way the largest eigenvalues of \mathcal{L}_{β} and their dependence on c are easily obtained (see Figure 2.3(b)). A minimum for the subleading eigenvalue occurs at about c = -0.11. The corresponding numerical eigenvalue reads $\lambda_2 \approx 0.10415$ resulting in a mixing rate $\alpha_{\mathcal{H}} = -\ln \lambda_2 \approx 2.2619$. The corresponding Lyapunov exponent is computed using the numerical approximation of the invariant density. The numerical value is $\Lambda \approx 0.685$ suggesting that the inequality (2.11) is violated.

However, by considering the transfer operator of F_c (or more generally any expanding piecewise smooth map $T: I \to I$ with, say, I = [-1, 1], mixing with respect to its unique acip measure) on a larger function space (including discontinuous functions), the presence of nontrivial essential spectrum allows to establish an estimate like (2.12). For that purpose let us consider the transfer operator \mathcal{L} on the space of functions of bounded variation⁶ BV. In this setup, the spectrum of the transfer operator associated with expanding maps has been studied extensively. In particular,

$$||f||_{BV} = ||f||_1 + \inf_{\tilde{f} = f, \tilde{g} \in \tilde{G}} \operatorname{var}(f)$$

⁶Recall that the total variation of a function $f: [-1, 1] \to \mathbb{R}$ is defined as $\operatorname{var}(f) = \sup \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{p} |f(x_i) - f(x_{i-1})| : -1 \le x_0 \le \cdots \le x_p \le 1 \right\}$. Then $f \in L^1(I, m)$ is in the space BV if there exists \tilde{f} with $\tilde{f} = f$ a.e. such that $\operatorname{var}(\tilde{f}) < \infty$. This space is a Banach space with the norm given by

there is an explicit formula for the essential spectral radius [40]:

$$\rho_{ess} = \lim_{k \to \infty} (\inf\{|(T^k)'(x)| : x \in I\})^{-1/k}.$$

Thus, we have an upper bound for the mixing rate (Section 1.3)

$$\alpha_{BV} \le -\ln \rho_{ess} = \lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{1}{k} \ln \inf\{|(T^k)'(x)| : x \in I\},\$$

which yields the following estimate for the Lyapunov exponent

$$\Lambda = \frac{1}{k} \int_{I} \ln |(T^{k})'(x)| \, d\mu$$

$$\geq \frac{1}{k} \inf\{\ln |(T^{k})'(x)| : x \in I\}$$

$$= \frac{1}{k} \ln \inf\{|(T^{k})'(x)| : x \in I\},$$

for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$. For observables of bounded variation we get the following result.

PROPOSITION 2.3.1. Let $T: I \to I$ be a piecewise smooth expanding interval map which is mixing with respect to its unique acip measure. Then the mixing rate on BV is bounded by the Lyapunov exponent,

$$\alpha_{BV} \leq \Lambda \,.$$

In fact, almost identical statements can be found in [21], for example, Corollary 9.2.

There seems to be no simple answer to the question about the relation between Lyapunov exponents and mixing rates. Correlation decay depends crucially on properties of the observables, and it is a pivotal question which observables are physically relevant. Even if a real world phenomenon is sufficiently well modelled by a smooth dynamical system, one should keep in mind that modern digital data processing inevitably leads to discontinuous observations. Here, observables of bounded variation could be the relevant class for applications and in these cases Proposition 2.3.1 applies.

If one restricts to piecewise linear expanding Markov maps on an interval observed via piecewise analytic functions, then Proposition 2.2.9 establishes a relation between mixing rates and Lyapunov exponent. However, the above numerical simulations (see also [20]) suggest that the bound obtained in Proposition 2.2.9 cannot be simply extended to nonlinear expanding maps. The question remains whether a more general bound on the mixing rate α (that is, a lower bound on the subleading eigenvalue) in terms of the Lyapunov exponent Λ can be established.

Of these two quantities, the invariant density, and hence the Lyapunov exponent, seems to be generally more easily accessible. For some examples the invariant density is known, or alternatively a transformation with a given invariant density can sometimes be reverse engineered. The latter problem is known as the inverse Perron-Frobenius problem, and has been investigated in several one-dimensional settings, see [26, 29, 34].

In contrast to this, not a single nontrivial example is known for which the subleading eigenvalue and the corresponding eigenfunction of a (compact) transfer operator are known explicitly. To the best of the author's knowledge, the only one-dimensional examples for which the complete spectrum is analytically accessible are piecewise linear full branch interval maps (see, for example, [**33**]), or more generally, piecewise linear Markov interval maps (see Section 2.2 or [**61**]) and circle maps of the form $z \mapsto z^n$ for $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

In the next chapters we shall construct a class of (nonlinear) expanding interval and circle maps, for which we explicitly determine the entire spectrum of the associated transfer operator. This will ultimately allow us to show that a bound like in Proposition 2.2.9 cannot be generalised to all nonlinear expanding maps, by providing a family of interval maps for which Λ is bounded while α can be arbitrarily large.

CHAPTER 3

Explicit spectra for a family of analytic circle maps

Motivated by the questions in the previous section, in this chapter we shall construct nontrivial examples of dynamical systems for which the spectrum of the associated transfer operator can be determined explicitly.

In Section 3.1 we start by constructing a family of interval maps with given eigenfunction and eigenvalue for the associated transfer operator, and show that these give rise to analytic circle maps. To create a suitable setting, we shall define in Section 3.2 Banach spaces of holomorphic functions on annuli, on which the associated transfer operators for analytic expanding circle maps are compact, in analogy with Section 1.4. Then, in Section 3.3 we explicitly determine the entire spectrum for the circle maps constructed in Section 3.1. Interestingly, when considered on the interval, these maps provide counterexamples to a variant of Mayer's conjecture on the reality of spectra for transfer operators (see Section 3.4).

The results of this chapter are published as [83].

3.1. A family of maps

In order to obtain explicit spectral information in the setting of nonlinear maps, we will turn the classical question of finding eigenvalues of the transfer operator for a given map on its head, and attempt to construct a map for which the transfer operator has a given eigenvalue with a given eigenfunction. Considering an analytic expanding full branch map on the interval I with two branches (Definition 1.4.2), the eigenvalue problem of the transfer operator in (1.15) formally reads

$$\mu_n u_n = \Phi'_1 \cdot (u_n \circ \Phi_1) + \Phi'_2 \cdot (u_n \circ \Phi_2), \tag{3.1}$$

where μ_n and u_n for $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ are eigenvalues and eigenfunctions of \mathcal{L} , and Φ_1, Φ_2 the two inverse branches with $\Phi'_k > 0$.

Given an analytic invariant density ρ one may consider (3.1) for n = 0 with $\mu_0 = 1$ and $u_0 = \rho$ as an equation to compute suitable inverse branches Φ_1 and Φ_2 of the map. This setup is a particularly simple case of the so-called inverse Perron-Frobenius problem [29, 34], which has been applied in various guises to tailor-make chaotic maps with given stationary properties (see, for example, [26]). As we are attempting to construct a map with two branches we are at liberty to specify a nontrivial eigenvalue and corresponding eigenfunction. Thus, given an invariant density ρ , a real number
λ with $|\lambda| < 1$, and a potential eigenfunction u, we seek to solve

$$P = P \circ \Phi_1 + P \circ \Phi_2,$$

$$\lambda U = U \circ \Phi_1 + U \circ \Phi_2$$
(3.2)

for the inverse branches Φ_1 and Φ_2 . Here P and U denote suitable antiderivatives of ρ and u, respectively. A priori, there is no guarantee that (3.2) admits a real solution for Φ_1 and Φ_2 and that such a solution actually determines an analytic full branch interval map. Developing general conditions under which this is the case seems to be a challenging task. Nevertheless, if we fix the interval I = [-1, 1], take ρ to be the uniform density, and $u(x) = \cos(\pi x)$ the eigenfunction with eigenvalue $\lambda \in (-1, 1)$, then (3.2) leads to

$$x = \Phi_1(x) + \Phi_2(x),$$

$$\lambda \sin(\pi x) = \sin(\pi \Phi_1(x)) + \sin(\pi \Phi_2(x)).$$
(3.3)

A short calculation¹ yields explicit expressions for Φ_1 and Φ_2 :

$$\Phi_1(x) = \frac{x}{2} - \frac{1}{\pi} \arccos\left(\lambda \cos\left(\frac{\pi x}{2}\right)\right)$$

and

$$\Phi_2(x) = \frac{x}{2} + \frac{1}{\pi} \arccos\left(\lambda \cos\left(\frac{\pi x}{2}\right)\right)$$

For any $\lambda \in (-1, 1)$ these indeed determine an analytic full branch map (see Figure 3.1) with its associated transfer operator having λ as an eigenvalue with eigenfunction $x \mapsto \cos(\pi x)$ by construction.



FIGURE 3.1. Inverse branches Φ_1 and Φ_2 (left) and the corresponding interval map (right) for $\lambda = -0.7$ and $\lambda = 0.4$.

It turns out that this particular example can be lifted to an analytic circle map, as Φ_1 and Φ_2 are analytic on \mathbb{R} and $\Phi_2(x) = \Phi_1(x+2)$, thus a solution to (3.3) lifts to $\Phi \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$, where

$$\Phi(x) = \Phi_1(x).$$

¹We use the identities $\sin(2\alpha) = 2\sin(\alpha)\cos(\alpha)$ and $\sin(\alpha) + \sin(\beta) = 2\sin((\alpha+\beta)/2)\cos((\alpha-\beta)/2)$.

This is an increasing diffeomorphism with inverse $F \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ given by

$$F(x) = 2x + 1 + \frac{2}{\pi} \arctan\left(\frac{\lambda\sin(\pi x)}{1 - \lambda\cos(\pi x)}\right).$$
(3.4)

Note that F is a lift of a circle map $\tau \colon \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{T}$, which satisfies F(x+2) = F(x) + 4and $p \circ F = \tau \circ p$, where $p \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{T}$ is the projection defined by $p(x) = e^{i\pi x}$. The map τ is a twofold covering of \mathbb{T} . Note that F' > 1 for $\lambda \in (-1, 1)$. Thus τ is an analytic expanding circle map (Definition 3.2.1). It turns out that τ can be written in closed form as

$$\tau(z) = z \frac{\lambda - z}{1 - \lambda z} \quad \text{for } z \in \mathbb{T}.$$
(3.5)

This can be seen using the relation $e^{i\pi F(x)} = \tau(e^{i\pi x})$, from which it follows that

$$\pi F(x) = \arg(\tau(e^{i\pi x})) = \pi x + \arg\left(\frac{\lambda - e^{i\pi x}}{1 - \lambda e^{i\pi x}}\right) = 2\pi x + \pi + 2\arg(1 - \lambda e^{-i\pi x}).$$

As we shall see in Section 3.3, for the above family of analytic circle maps λ is the second largest eigenvalue (in modulus) of the associated transfer operator. Moreover, we will obtain its entire spectrum (Theorem 3.3.1), which consists of infinitely many distinct nontrivial eigenvalues. Before embarking on these results, we shall first discuss properties of analytic expanding circle maps and define Banach spaces of holomorphic functions on which the corresponding transfer operators are compact (similarly to the interval setting in Section 1.4).

REMARK 3.1.1. As we will discuss in Chapter 4, the expanding circle map τ in (3.5) belongs to the class of finite Blaschke products (see Definition 4.3.1). It is well known [81] that any two expanding circle maps of the same degree are topologically conjugate. Moreover, if this conjugacy is absolutely continuous then the two maps are smoothly conjugate [82]. However, while the map τ is topologically conjugate to $z \mapsto z^2$, this conjugacy is not smooth (except for $\lambda = 0$) as the multipliers of their periodic points do not coincide.

3.2. Transfer operators for analytic circle maps

We start by defining the notion of analytic expanding circle map.

DEFINITION 3.2.1. We say that $\tau \colon \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{T}$ is an *analytic expanding circle map* if the following two conditions hold:

- (i) τ is analytic on \mathbb{T} ;
- (ii) $\inf_{z \in \mathbb{T}} |\tau'(z)| > 1.$

It is not difficult to see that τ is a K-fold covering of \mathbb{T} for some integer K > 1. Moreover, the map τ has analytic extensions to certain annuli containing \mathbb{T} . With slight abuse of notation we shall write τ for the various extensions as well. To be precise, for r < 1 < R let $A_{r,R}$ denote the open annulus $A_{r,R} = \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : r < |z| < R \}$ and write

 $\mathcal{A} = \{A_{r,R} : \tau \text{ and } 1/\tau \text{ holomorphic on } A_{r,R}\}.$

Expansivity of τ yields the following result.

LEMMA 3.2.2. For an analytic expanding circle map τ , there is $A_0 \in \mathcal{A}$ such that

(a) both τ and $1/\tau$ are analytic on the closure $cl(A_0)$ of A_0 ; (b) $\tau(\partial A_0) \cap cl(A_0) = \emptyset$, where ∂A_0 denotes the boundary of A_0 .

PROOF. Since τ is an analytic expanding circle map it is possible to choose $A_1 \in \mathcal{A}$ such that both τ and $1/\tau$ are analytic on $cl(A_1)$ with

$$\alpha := \inf_{z \in A_1} \left| \tau'(z) \right| > 1 \,.$$

It is not difficult to see that $(\rho, \theta) \mapsto \log |\tau(\rho e^{i\theta})|$ is differentiable for all (ρ, θ) with $\rho e^{i\theta} \in A_1$ and

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \rho} \log \left| \tau(\rho e^{i\theta}) \right| = \Re \left(e^{i\theta} \frac{\tau'(\rho e^{i\theta})}{\tau(\rho e^{i\theta})} \right) , \qquad (3.6)$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \theta} \log \left| \tau(\rho e^{i\theta}) \right| = -\Im \left(\rho e^{i\theta} \frac{\tau'(\rho e^{i\theta})}{\tau(\rho e^{i\theta})} \right) , \qquad (3.7)$$

where $\Re(z)$ and $\Im(z)$ denote the real and imaginary part of $z \in \mathbb{C}$. Since τ leaves \mathbb{T} invariant, equation (3.7) implies either

$$e^{i\theta} \frac{\tau'(e^{i\theta})}{\tau(e^{i\theta})} \ge \alpha \quad \text{for all } \theta \in \mathbb{R},$$
(3.8)

or

$$e^{i\theta} \frac{\tau'(e^{i\theta})}{\tau(e^{i\theta})} \le -\alpha \quad \text{for all } \theta \in \mathbb{R}.$$
 (3.9)

Suppose now that (3.8) holds (the other case can be dealt with similarly). Fixing β with $1 < \beta < \alpha$ we can choose $A_{r,R} \in \mathcal{A}$ with $A_{r,R} \subset A_1$ and $e^{\beta(r-1)} < r$, $e^{\beta(R-1)} > R$ such that

$$\Re\left(e^{i\theta}\frac{\tau'(\rho e^{i\theta})}{\tau(\rho e^{i\theta})}\right) \ge \beta \quad \text{for all } \rho \in [r, R] \text{ and } \theta \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Equation (3.6) now implies

$$\log \left| \tau(e^{i\theta}) \right| - \log \left| \tau(re^{i\theta}) \right| = \Re \int_{r}^{1} e^{i\theta} \frac{\tau'(\rho e^{i\theta})}{\tau(\rho e^{i\theta})} \, d\rho \ge \beta(1-r)$$

and

$$\log \left| \tau(Re^{i\theta}) \right| - \log \left| \tau(e^{i\theta}) \right| = \Re \int_{1}^{R} e^{i\theta} \frac{\tau'(\rho e^{i\theta})}{\tau(\rho e^{i\theta})} \, d\rho \ge \beta(R-1) \, .$$

Thus

$$\left| \tau(re^{i\theta}) \right| \le e^{\beta(r-1)} < r$$
 and $\left| \tau(Re^{i\theta}) \right| \ge e^{\beta(R-1)} > R$,

so $A_0 := A_{r,R}$ has all the desired properties.

Given an expanding circle map τ , we associate with it (using Definition 1.3.1) a transfer operator \mathcal{L} which is well-defined and bounded as an operator on $L^1(\mathbb{T}) = L^1(\mathbb{T}, m)$, where $m = d\theta/2\pi$ is the normalised one-dimensional Lebesgue measure

on \mathbb{T} . Let ϕ_k denote the k-th local inverse branch² of the K-fold covering τ , then $\mathcal{L}: L^1(\mathbb{T}) \to L^1(\mathbb{T})$ for the circle map τ is given by

$$(\mathcal{L}f)(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{K} \phi'_k(z)(f \circ \phi_k)(z) \quad (a.e. \ z \in \mathbb{T}), \qquad (3.10)$$

as for any $f \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$ and any $g \in L^\infty(\mathbb{T})$ we have

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} (\mathcal{L}f)(z) \cdot g(z) \, dz = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} f(z) \cdot (g \circ \tau)(z) \, dz$$

$$= \sum_{k=1}^{K} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\phi_k(\mathbb{T})} f(z) \cdot (g \circ \tau)(z) \, dz \qquad (3.11)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{K} \phi'_k(z) \cdot (f \circ \phi_k)(z) \right) \cdot g(z) \, dz,$$

where we used a change of variables and the fact that $\bigcup_{k=1}^{K} \phi_k(\mathbb{T}) = \mathbb{T}$ up to a set of measure zero.

It turns out that for suitable domains U containing \mathbb{T} , the operator \mathcal{L} leaves $H^{\infty}(U)$ invariant. The proof will rely on Fourier theory. Here and in the following, we shall use

$$c_n(f) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{f(z)}{z^{n+1}} dz \quad (n \in \mathbb{Z})$$
 (3.12)

to denote the *n*-th Fourier coefficient of $f \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$. Then, using the definition of \mathcal{L} (first equality in (3.11)) we can express the *n*-th Fourier coefficient of $\mathcal{L}f$ as

$$c_n(\mathcal{L}f) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{f(z)}{\tau(z)^{n+1}} dz \quad (n \in \mathbb{Z}).$$

$$(3.13)$$

A result³ analogous to Lemma 1.4.4 for the case of expanding circle maps now reads as follows.

LEMMA 3.2.3. Suppose that annuli A, A' and A_0 in A are chosen⁴ such that

$$A_0 \subset A' \subset A \text{ and } \tau(\partial A_0) \cap \operatorname{cl}(A) = \emptyset.$$
(3.14)

Then the transfer operator \mathcal{L} maps $H^{\infty}(A')$ continuously to $H^{\infty}(A)$.

PROOF. Given $f \in H^{\infty}(A')$, we shall show that $\mathcal{L}f \in H^{\infty}(A)$ by estimating the asymptotic behaviour of the Fourier coefficients of $\mathcal{L}f$. We denote by $\mathbb{T}_{\rho} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| = \rho\}$ the circle of radius ρ centred at 0. Write R_0 and R to denote the radii of the circles \mathbb{T}_{R_0} and \mathbb{T}_R forming the 'exterior' boundary of A_0 and A, respectively (see

 $^{^{2}}$ We use lower case Greek letters to denote inverse branches of circle maps and the corresponding upper case letters to denote inverse branches of interval maps.

³Note, that we can not simply use Lemma 1.4.4 as ϕ_k is not analytic on \mathbb{T} .

 $^{^{4}}$ This is always possible by Lemma 3.2.2.



FIGURE 3.2. Proof of Lemma 3.2.3: choice of annuli A_0, A' and A.

Figure 3.2). Next choose⁵ R'' with

$$\inf_{z\in\mathbb{T}_{R_0}}|\tau(z)|>R''>R\,.$$

Similarly, write r_0 and r to denote the radii of the circles forming the 'interior' boundary of A_0 and A, respectively, and choose r'' with

$$\sup_{z \in \mathbb{T}_{r_0}} |\tau(z)| < r'' < r \,.$$

Fix $f \in H^{\infty}(A')$ with $||f||_{H^{\infty}(A')} \leq 1$ and let $n \geq 0$. Using (3.13) we see that

$$\begin{aligned} |c_n(\mathcal{L}f)| &= \left| \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{f(z)}{\tau(z)^{n+1}} \, dz \right| = \left| \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}_{R_0}} \frac{f(z)}{\tau(z)^{n+1}} \, dz \right| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{T}_{R_0}} \frac{1}{|\tau(z)|^{n+1}} \, |dz| \leq \frac{R_0}{(R'')^{n+1}} \, . \end{aligned}$$

Similarly, for $n \ge 1$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} |c_{-n}(\mathcal{L}f)| &= \left| \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{f(z)}{\tau(z)^{-n+1}} \, dz \right| = \left| \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}_{r_0}} f(z)\tau(z)^{n-1} \, dz \right| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{T}_{r_0}} |\tau(z)|^{n-1} \, |dz| \leq r_0 (r'')^{n-1} \, . \end{aligned}$$

Hence, $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_n(\mathcal{L}f) z^n$ converges absolutely for all $|z| \leq R$ and $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_{-n}(\mathcal{L}f) z^{-n}$ converges absolutely for all $|z| \geq r$. Moreover, for $z \in A$ we have

$$\left| \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} c_n(\mathcal{L}f) z^n \right| \le \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} |c_n(\mathcal{L}f)| \, R^n + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |c_{-n}(\mathcal{L}f)| \, r^{-n} \\ \le \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{R_0 R^n}{(R'')^{n+1}} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{r_0(r'')^{n-1}}{r^n} = \frac{R_0}{R'' - R} + \frac{r_0}{r - r''} \, .$$

⁵Here, we assume that τ is orientation-preserving. The orientation-reversing case is similar.

Thus, by the uniqueness of the Fourier transform on $L^1(\mathbb{T})$, we conclude that $\mathcal{L}f \in H^{\infty}(A)$ and

$$\|\mathcal{L}f\|_{H^{\infty}(A)} \leq \left(\frac{R_0}{R''-R} + \frac{r_0}{r-r''}\right) \|f\|_{H^{\infty}(A')} \quad \text{for all } f \in H^{\infty}(A') \,. \qquad \Box$$

Choosing A = A' in the previous lemma shows that \mathcal{L} induces a well-defined continuous operator from $H^{\infty}(A)$ to itself.

Moreover, the operator $\mathcal{L} \colon H^{\infty}(A) \to H^{\infty}(A)$ is compact, which follows from a factorisation argument (see also Section 1.4.1). Given $A, A' \in \mathcal{A}$ with $A' \subset A$ define the canonical embedding $J \colon H^{\infty}(A) \to H^{\infty}(A')$ by

$$Jf = f|_{A'}.$$
 (3.15)

The embedding J is compact by Montel's theorem [23, Thm. 2.9, Ch. 7].

Now, for the choice of $A' \subset A$ satisfying (3.14), the transfer operator $\mathcal{L} \colon H^{\infty}(A) \to H^{\infty}(A)$ factorises as

$$\mathcal{L} = \tilde{\mathcal{L}}J,\tag{3.16}$$

where $\hat{\mathcal{L}}$ is the transfer operator viewed as an operator from $H^{\infty}(A')$ to $H^{\infty}(A)$, guaranteed to be continuous by Lemma 3.2.3. Thus, the factorisation (3.16) implies the following result.

PROPOSITION 3.2.4. Let $A \in \mathcal{A}$ with $A_0 \subset A$. Then $\mathcal{L} \colon H^{\infty}(A) \to H^{\infty}(A)$ is compact.

For future use we shall now show that J is well approximated by the following operators: for N a positive integer, define the finite rank operator $J_N: H^{\infty}(A) \to H^{\infty}(A')$ by

$$(J_N f)(z) = \sum_{n=-N-1}^{N-1} c_n(f) z^n \quad \text{for } z \in A'.$$
(3.17)

LEMMA 3.2.5. Let J and J_N be defined as above. Then

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \|J - J_N\|_{H^{\infty}(A) \to H^{\infty}(A')} = 0.$$

In particular, the embedding J is compact.

PROOF. Choose $A'' \in \mathcal{A}$ with

$$A' \subset A'' \subset A$$
.

Let R' and r' denote the radii of the circles forming the 'exterior' and 'interior' boundary of A', and analogously for R'' and r'' so that

$$r'' < r' < R' < R''$$
.

Fix $f \in H^{\infty}(A)$ with $||f||_{H^{\infty}(A)} \leq 1$. Then

$$\begin{split} \|Jf - J_N f\|_{H^{\infty}(A')} &= \sup_{z \in A'} \left| \sum_{n \ge N} \frac{z^n}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{f(\zeta)}{\zeta^{n+1}} d\zeta + \sum_{n \ge N+2} \frac{z^{-n}}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{f(\zeta)}{\zeta^{-n+1}} d\zeta \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{n \ge N} \frac{(R')^n}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{T}_{R''}} \frac{|f(\zeta)|}{|\zeta|^{n+1}} |d\zeta| + \sum_{n \ge N+2} \frac{(r')^{-n}}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{T}_{r''}} \frac{|f(\zeta)|}{|\zeta|^{-n+1}} |d\zeta| \\ &\leq \left(\frac{R'}{R''}\right)^N \frac{1}{1 - \frac{R'}{R''}} + \left(\frac{r''}{r'}\right)^{N+2} \frac{1}{1 - \frac{r''}{r'}}, \end{split}$$

from which the assertions follow.

3.3. Spectrum for a family of circle maps

In this section we consider the family of analytic expanding circle maps constructed in Section 3.1 and show that the spectrum of \mathcal{L} can be determined explicitly, which is the statement of Theorem 3.3.1.

Note first that the expression for τ in (3.5) yields an analytic circle map not just for real λ , but for any $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $|\lambda| < 1$ (see Figure 3.3) if written as

$$\tau(z) = z \frac{\lambda - z}{1 - \overline{\lambda} z} \quad \text{for } z \in \mathbb{T}, \qquad (3.18)$$

which is expanding since for $z \in \mathbb{T}$ we have

$$|\tau'(z)| = \left|\tau'(z)\frac{z}{\tau(z)}\right| = 1 + \frac{1 - |\lambda|^2}{|\lambda - z|^2} > 1.$$

It is possible to write down lifts of (3.18) for complex λ similar to (3.4). In fact, a short calculation shows that if $\lambda = |\lambda|e^{i\alpha}$ then the argument of arctan in (3.4) needs to be replaced by $|\lambda|\sin(\pi x - \alpha)/(1 - |\lambda|\cos(\pi x - \alpha))$.



FIGURE 3.3. τ projected on the interval [-1, 1] for (left) $\lambda = -0.7$ and $\lambda = 0.4$ and (right) $\lambda = -0.3 - i\sqrt{0.4} = 0.7e^{i\alpha}$ with $\alpha \approx -2.0137$ and $\lambda = 0.1 + i\sqrt{0.15} = 0.4e^{i\beta}$ with $\beta \approx 1.318$. Note that the projection is chosen such that the interval endpoint -1 is fixed by τ .

Given τ as in (3.18), we now choose an annulus $A \in \mathcal{A}$ with $A_0 \subset A$. By Proposition 3.2.4 the associated transfer operator $\mathcal{L} \colon H^{\infty}(A) \to H^{\infty}(A)$ is well defined and compact. Moreover, all eigenvalues of \mathcal{L} can be determined explicitly, which is the essence of the following theorem.

THEOREM 3.3.1. For any $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $|\lambda| < 1$ the eigenvalues of the transfer operator $\mathcal{L} \colon H^{\infty}(A) \to H^{\infty}(A)$ associated to τ in (3.18) are precisely all nonnegative powers of λ and $\overline{\lambda}$, that is, the spectrum of \mathcal{L} is

$$\sigma(\mathcal{L}) = \{1\} \cup \{\lambda^n : n \in \mathbb{N}\} \cup \{\overline{\lambda}^n : n \in \mathbb{N}\} \cup \{0\}.$$

Moreover, the algebraic multiplicity of the leading eigenvalue is 1, while the algebraic (and geometric) multiplicity of each λ^n is equal to its number of occurrences in the above list, meaning it is 1 if $\lambda^n \neq \overline{\lambda}^n$ and 2 otherwise.

The proof of this theorem relies on the fact that the spectrum of \mathcal{L} can be computed by analysing the spectrum of a suitable matrix representation, which is obtained as follows. For $N \in \mathbb{N}$ consider the projection P_N given by the same functional expression as J_N in (3.17), now viewed as an operator from $H^{\infty}(A)$ to itself. Clearly, $P_N \mathcal{L} P_N$ is an operator of rank 2N+1. Writing $e_n(z) = z^n$, the set $\{e_n : -N - 1 \le n \le N - 1\}$ is a basis for

$$H_N = P_N(H^\infty(A))$$

and the restriction of $P_N \mathcal{L} P_N$ to H_N is represented by the $(2N+1) \times (2N+1)$ matrix $L^{(N)}$ defined by

$$(L^{(N)})_{n,l} = c_{n-1}(\mathcal{L}e_{l-1}) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{z^l}{\tau(z)^n} \frac{dz}{z} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} z^{l-n} \left(\frac{1-\overline{\lambda}z}{\lambda-z}\right)^n \frac{dz}{z}, \quad (3.19)$$

where we used (3.13) for the second equality.

In particular, the nonzero spectrum of $P_N \mathcal{L} P_N$ is given by the nonzero spectrum of $L^{(N)}$. Observe that (3.19) defines an infinite matrix L containing $L^{(N)}$ as a finite submatrix. The following lemma summarises the properties of L.

LEMMA 3.3.2. For $l, n \in \mathbb{Z}$ the following hold:

(a) $L_{0,0} = 1;$ (b) $L_{0,l} = 0$ if $l \neq 0;$ (c) $L_{-n,-l} = \overline{L_{n,l}};$ (d) $L_{-n,-n} = \lambda^n$ for $n \ge 0;$ (e) $L_{n,l} = L_{-n,-l} = 0$ for n > l.

PROOF. Assertions (a) and (b) immediately follow from (3.19), while (c) is a consequence of

$$L_{-n,-l} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} z^{n-l} \left(\frac{\lambda-z}{1-\overline{\lambda}z}\right)^n \frac{dz}{z} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} e^{i\theta(n-l)} \left(\frac{\lambda-e^{i\theta}}{1-\overline{\lambda}e^{i\theta}}\right)^n d\theta$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} e^{-i\theta(l-n)} \left(\frac{1-\lambda e^{-i\theta}}{\overline{\lambda}-e^{-i\theta}}\right)^n d\theta = \overline{L_{n,l}}.$$

For (d) and (e), observe that $z \mapsto (\lambda - z)/(1 - \overline{\lambda}z)$ is holomorphic for all z in the closed unit disk. Thus, by the Residue theorem,

$$L_{-n,-n} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{1}{z} \left(\frac{\lambda - z}{1 - \overline{\lambda} z}\right)^n dz = \lambda^n.$$

Finally n > l implies $L_{-n,-l} = 0$, as the integrand is a holomorphic function. \Box

Another view of the above is the following. For n, l > 0 the Cauchy formula implies that $l! \cdot L_{-n,-l}$ is the *l*-th derivative of $\tau(z)^n = z^n \cdot h(z)$ at z = 0 with $h(z) = (\lambda - z)^n / (1 - \overline{\lambda} z)^n$ a holomorphic function on \mathbb{D} , and therefore $L_{-n,-l}$ vanishes for $0 \leq l < n$. For $l \geq n \geq 0$ one obtains $L_{-n,-l} = h^{(l-n)}(0) / (l-n)!$, which can be calculated explicitly⁶. In particular $L_{-n,-n} = h(0) = \lambda^n$ and we conclude that $L^{(N)}$ has the following upper-lower triangular matrix structure

$$L^{(N)} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda^{N} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & 0 & 0 & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ * & * & \lambda & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & \overline{\lambda} & * & * \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & 0 & 0 & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \overline{\lambda}^{N} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.20)

Clearly, the spectrum of $L^{(N)}$ is given by the diagonal elements $(L^{(N)})_{n,n}$, that is,

$$\sigma(L^{(N)}) = \{1\} \cup \{\lambda^n : n = 1, \dots, N\} \cup \{\overline{\lambda}^n : n = 1, \dots, N\}.$$

Moreover, the triangular structure of $L^{(N)}$ implies $\mathcal{L}(H_N) \subseteq H_N$.

We are now able to prove the main statement of this chapter.

PROOF OF THEOREM 3.3.1. For every $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $|\lambda| < 1$, the map τ in (3.18) is an analytic expanding circle map. We can choose $A, A' \in \mathcal{A}$ satisfying (3.14) such that the associated $\mathcal{L}: H^{\infty}(A) \to H^{\infty}(A)$ admits the factorisation (3.16). As $\mathcal{L}(H_N) \subseteq H_N$ for every $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and by Lemma 3.2.5 $\lim_{N\to\infty} ||J - J_N||_{H^{\infty}(A)\to H^{\infty}(A')} = 0$ with $J_N = JP_N$, Lemma 1.4.6 implies that the spectrum of \mathcal{L} consists of eigenvalues, together with zero, given by

$$\sigma(\mathcal{L}) = \operatorname{cl}(\bigcup \sigma(\mathcal{L}|_{H_N})) = \operatorname{cl}(\bigcup \sigma(L^{(N)})) = \{1\} \cup \{\lambda^n : n \in \mathbb{N}\} \cup \{\overline{\lambda}^n : n \in \mathbb{N}\} \cup \{0\}.$$

The assertions concerning the multiplicities of the eigenvalues of \mathcal{L} follow from the corresponding properties of $L^{(N)}$ and [27, XI.9.5].

$$(L^{(N)})_{n,l} = \begin{cases} (-1)^{n-l} (\overline{\lambda})^{2n-l} \sum_{m=0}^{l-n} {\binom{l-m-1}{n-1} \binom{n}{m}} (-|\lambda|^2)^{l-n-m} & \text{if } l \le 2n, \\ (-1)^n \lambda^{l-2n} \sum_{m=0}^n {\binom{l-m-1}{n-1} \binom{n}{m}} (-|\lambda|^2)^{n-m} & \text{if } l > 2n. \end{cases}$$

⁶For n > 0 and $l \in \mathbb{Z}$ we have

REMARK 3.3.3. To the best of the author's knowledge, these are the first examples of analytic circle maps for which the spectrum of the associated transfer operator consists of infinitely many distinct nonzero eigenvalues (on the space of holomorphic functions). Previously, the only examples of circle maps with known spectrum were those of the form $z \mapsto z^n$ for $n \ge 2$ (for n = 2 corresponding to $\lambda = 0$ in the above theorem). The spectra of the corresponding transfer operators when acting on analytic functions coincide with the two-point set $\{0, 1\}$ for all n. See [7, Ex. 2.15] for a proof when n = 2; the general case can be proved along the same lines. Alternatively, this will follow from Theorem 4.3.4.

3.4. Circle maps considered on an interval

In the previous section we have considered the transfer operator $\mathcal{L}_{\mathbb{T}} \colon H^{\infty}(A) \to H^{\infty}(A)$ associated to an analytic expanding circle map $\tau \colon \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{T}$, which maps the space of bounded holomorphic functions on an appropriately chosen annulus $A \in \mathcal{A}$ compactly to itself. The circle map τ gives rise to a map T on an interval $I = [x_0, x_1]$, chosen such that a fixed point z_0 of τ corresponds to the interval endpoint x_0 . Choosing a suitable complex neighbourhood D of I, we shall now study the spectral properties of $\mathcal{L}_I \colon H^{\infty}(D) \to H^{\infty}(D)$, the transfer operator corresponding to T.

More precisely, let $T: I \to I$ denote the interval map arising from the circle map $\tau: \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{T}$ via $p \circ T = \tau \circ p$ with a projection $p: I \to \mathbb{T}$ satisfying⁷ $p(x_0) = z_0$. Let $\{\Phi_1, \ldots, \Phi_K\}$ be the set of inverse branches of T. With slight abuse of notation we keep writing T and Φ_k for the respective analytic extensions to neighbourhoods containing I. Since τ is an analytic K-covering, we have the matching conditions (with suitable labelling of the inverse branches)

$$\Phi_1(x_0) = x_0, \qquad \Phi_K(x_1) = x_1, \qquad \Phi_1^{(n)}(x_0) = \Phi_K^{(n)}(x_1), \Phi_{k+1}(x_0) = \Phi_k(x_1), \qquad \Phi_{k+1}^{(n)}(x_0) = \Phi_k^{(n)}(x_1) \quad \text{for } k = 1, \dots, K-1,$$
(3.21)

where for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we use $\Phi_k^{(n)}$ to denote the *n*-th derivative of Φ_k .

Since T is expanding, all inverse branches Φ_k are contractions. We can thus choose a topological disk D containing I such that p(D) = A and $\Phi_k(D) \subset D$ for all k. Then $\mathcal{L}_I: H^{\infty}(D) \to H^{\infty}(D)$, given by

$$\mathcal{L}_I f = \sum_{k=1}^K \Phi'_k \cdot (f \circ \Phi_k), \qquad (3.22)$$

yields a bounded operator. Moreover, \mathcal{L}_I is compact (see Proposition 1.4.5 or [11, 59]), its spectrum consisting of countably many eigenvalues accumulating at zero only.

REMARK 3.4.1. It is perhaps not surprising that the operators $\mathcal{L}_{\mathbb{T}}$ and \mathcal{L}_{I} are closely related. In order to see this, we define the operator $Q_p: H^{\infty}(A) \to H^{\infty}(D)$ by

$$(Q_p f)(x) = p'(x)f(p(x)).$$

⁷A suitable choice is $p(x) = e^{2\pi i \frac{(x-x_0)}{(x_1-x_0)} + i \arg z_0}$.

Clearly p(D) = A implies that Q_p is injective. However, the operator Q_p is not surjective, as the image $\operatorname{im}(Q_p) = \{f \in H^{\infty}(D) : f^{(n)}(x_0) = f^{(n)}(x_1) \ \forall n \in \mathbb{N}_0\}$ is not all of $H^{\infty}(D)$. It is easy to verify that \mathcal{L}_I and $\mathcal{L}_{\mathbb{T}}$ are related by

$$\mathcal{L}_I Q_p = Q_p \mathcal{L}_{\mathbb{T}} \,,$$

and that $\sigma(\mathcal{L}_{\mathbb{T}}) \subseteq \sigma(\mathcal{L}_I)$, which follows from the injectivity of Q_p . On the other hand, an eigenvalue of \mathcal{L}_I with an eigenfunction f is also an eigenvalue of $\mathcal{L}_{\mathbb{T}}$ if $f \in \operatorname{im}(Q_p)$.

The following lemma connects the spectrum of \mathcal{L}_I with the spectrum of $\mathcal{L}_{\mathbb{T}}$. This result is mentioned in the introduction of [43] together with a proof based on the theory of Fredholm determinants.

LEMMA 3.4.2. Suppose that τ is an analytic expanding circle map and $T: I \to I$ the corresponding interval map fixing the interval endpoint x_0 . Let $\mathcal{L}_{\mathbb{T}}$ and \mathcal{L}_I be the corresponding transfer operators as defined above. Then the spectrum of \mathcal{L}_I is given by

$$\sigma(\mathcal{L}_I) = \sigma(\mathcal{L}_{\mathbb{T}}) \cup \left\{ (T'(x_0))^{-n} : n \in \mathbb{N} \right\}.$$

Informally, the additional eigenvalues of \mathcal{L}_I can be explained by the observation that the fixed point z_0 of τ corresponds to the two fixed points of T at the interval endpoints. The Fredholm determinants of \mathcal{L}_I and \mathcal{L}_T can be written in terms of the traces of \mathcal{L}_I^n and \mathcal{L}_T^n , which in turn can be expressed in terms of fixed point multipliers of T^n and τ^n . The two determinants differ by a factor corresponding to the additional fixed point of T. The zeros of this factor are the reciprocals of the additional eigenvalues of \mathcal{L}_I . Here we shall give a short alternative proof.

PROOF OF LEMMA 3.4.2. Let $H^{\infty}(D)^*$ denote the strong dual of $H^{\infty}(D)$, that is, the space of continuous linear functionals on $H^{\infty}(D)$ equipped with the topology of uniform convergence on the unit ball. Let $\mathcal{L}_I^* \colon H^{\infty}(D)^* \to H^{\infty}(D)^*$ denote the adjoint operator of \mathcal{L}_I , that is,

$$(\mathcal{L}_{I}^{*}l)(f) = l(\mathcal{L}_{I}f)$$
 for all $l \in H^{\infty}(D)^{*}$ and $f \in H^{\infty}(D)$.

For $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$, let $l_n \in H^{\infty}(D)^*$ be defined by

$$l_n(f) = f^{(n)}(x_1) - f^{(n)}(x_0) \text{ for } f \in H^{\infty}(D)$$

It is not difficult to see that l_0 is an eigenvector of \mathcal{L}^* with eigenvalue $\Phi'_1(x_0)$ since

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathcal{L}_{I}^{*}l_{0})(f) = & (\mathcal{L}_{I}f)(x_{1}) - (\mathcal{L}_{I}f)(x_{0}) \\ = & \Phi_{K}'(x_{1})(f \circ \Phi_{K})(x_{1}) - \Phi_{1}'(x_{0})(f \circ \Phi_{1})(x_{0}) \\ & + \sum_{k=1}^{K-1} \left(\Phi_{k}'(x_{1})(f \circ \Phi_{k})(x_{1}) - \Phi_{k+1}'(x_{0})(f \circ \Phi_{k+1})(x_{0}) \right) \\ = & \Phi_{1}'(x_{0})(f(x_{1}) - f(x_{0})) \\ = & \Phi_{1}'(x_{0})l_{0}(f) , \end{aligned}$$

where the penultimate equality follows from (3.21). We can proceed similarly for an arbitrary $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Observe that the *n*-th derivative of $\mathcal{L}_I f$ is given by

$$(\mathcal{L}_I f)^{(n)} = \sum_{k=1}^K \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} w_{k,m} \cdot (f^{(m)} \circ \Phi_k) + \sum_{k=1}^K (\Phi'_k)^{n+1} \cdot (f^{(n)} \circ \Phi_k),$$

where each $w_{k,m}$ is a weight function composed of derivatives of Φ_k of order up to n - m + 1 satisfying $w_{k,m}(x_1) = w_{k+1,m}(x_0)$ for $k = 1, \ldots, K - 1$ in analogy with (3.21). A calculation similar to the above yields

$$(\mathcal{L}_{I}^{*}l_{n})(f) = (\mathcal{L}_{I}f)^{(n)}(x_{1}) - (\mathcal{L}_{I}f)^{(n)}(x_{0})$$
$$= \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} w_{1,m}(x_{0})l_{m}(f) + (\Phi_{1}'(x_{0}))^{n+1}l_{n}(f).$$
(3.23)

It follows that $\mathcal{L}_I^* V_n \subseteq V_n$, where $V_n = \operatorname{span}\{l_0, \ldots, l_n\}$ for each n. Thus $(\Phi'_1(x_0))^n$ is an eigenvalue of \mathcal{L}_I^* , and hence of \mathcal{L}_I . As $T'(x_0) = 1/\Phi'_1(x_0)$ and every eigenvalue of \mathcal{L}_T is an eigenvalue of \mathcal{L}_I , we have shown

$$\sigma(\mathcal{L}_{\mathbb{T}}) \cup \{T'(x_0)^{-n} : n \in \mathbb{N}\} \subseteq \sigma(\mathcal{L}_I).$$

For the converse inclusion recall Remark 3.4.1 and assume that $f \in H^{\infty}(D)$ is an eigenfunction of \mathcal{L}_I with eigenvalue μ and $f \notin \operatorname{im}(Q_p)$. It follows that there is $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ such that $f^{(N)}(x_0) \neq f^{(N)}(x_1)$ and $f^{(n)}(x_0) = f^{(n)}(x_1)$ for $0 \leq n < N$, from which $l_n(f) = 0$ for $0 \leq n < N$. Since $\mathcal{L}_I f = \mu f$, this implies

$$l_N(\mu f) = l_N(\mathcal{L}_I f) = (\Phi'_1(x_0))^{N+1} l_N(f).$$

As l_N is linear and nonzero, it follows that $\mu = (\Phi'_1(x_0))^{N+1} = (T'(x_0))^{-N-1}$.

REMARK 3.4.3. The eigenfunctions of \mathcal{L}_{I}^{*} corresponding to the eigenvalues $T'(x_{0})^{-n}$ with $n \in \mathbb{N}$ can be deduced from the upper triangular matrix representation of the restriction of \mathcal{L}_{I}^{*} to the space $V_{n} = \operatorname{span}\{l_{0}, \ldots, l_{n}\}$. If T is the doubling map $T(x) = 2x \mod 1$ on I = [0, 1], then all higher derivatives of Φ_{k} vanish. Hence, the respective eigenfunctions of \mathcal{L}_{I}^{*} are precisely l_{n} as $w_{1,m} = 0$ for $m = 0, \ldots, n-1$, and consequently (3.23) reduces to $(\mathcal{L}_{I}^{*}l_{n})(f) = (\Phi'_{1}(x_{0}))^{n+1}l_{n}(f)$. Moreover, it is well known (see, for example, [3]) that the corresponding eigenfunctions of \mathcal{L}_{I} are given by Bernoulli polynomials.

We can now apply this result to the interval maps introduced in Section 3.1, which we view as arising from analytic expanding circle maps. Let I = [-1, 1] and $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ with $|\lambda| < 1$, then the interval map T arising from τ in (3.18) fixes the interval endpoint $x_0 = -1$ with $1/T'(-1) = (\lambda + 1)/2$. By Theorem 3.3.1 and Lemma 3.4.2, the eigenvalues of \mathcal{L}_I can be divided into two classes, those given by the eigenvalues of $\mathcal{L}_{\mathbb{T}}$ (each of multiplicity 2, except the eigenvalue 1 of multiplicity 1) and those given by the powers of the inverse multiplier of the fixed point x_0 , that is,

$$\sigma(\mathcal{L}_I) = \left(\{\lambda^n : n \in \mathbb{N}_0\} \cup \{0\} \right) \cup \left\{ \left(\frac{\lambda+1}{2}\right)^n : n \in \mathbb{N} \right\},$$
(3.24)

see Figure 3.4.



FIGURE 3.4. For each $\lambda \in (-1, 1)$ and for $n = 0, \ldots, 4$ the eigenvalues in the spectrum (3.24) of \mathcal{L}_I are plotted (in modulus). These are comprised of the eigenvalues λ^n of $\mathcal{L}_{\mathbb{T}}$ (solid line for $\lambda^n > 0$, and dashed for $\lambda^n < 0$) and the eigenvalues $1/(T'(-1))^{n+1}$ of \mathcal{L}_I . Note that the case $\lambda = 0$ corresponds to the doubling map.

Considering $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$, say $\lambda = |\lambda|e^{i\alpha}$ with $|\lambda| < 1$, the fixed point of τ is $z_0 = (\lambda - 1)/(1 - \overline{\lambda}) \in \mathbb{T}$ with

$$T'(-1) = \tau'(z_0) = \frac{\lambda + \overline{\lambda} - 2}{\lambda \overline{\lambda} - 1} = \frac{2(|\lambda| \cos(\alpha) - 1)}{|\lambda|^2 - 1}.$$

As above, the spectrum of \mathcal{L}_I splits into two parts:

$$\sigma(\mathcal{L}_I) = \left(\{1\} \cup \{\lambda^n : n \in \mathbb{N}\} \cup \{\overline{\lambda}^n : n \in \mathbb{N}\} \cup \{0\}\right) \cup \left\{\left(\frac{|\lambda|^2 - 1}{2(|\lambda|\cos(\alpha) - 1)}\right)^n : n \in \mathbb{N}\right\}.$$

Note that for $\lambda \notin \mathbb{R}$ the transfer operator \mathcal{L}_I associated to T has countably infinitely many nonreal eigenvalues of arbitrarily small modulus. This provides counterexamples to the following conjecture.

CONJECTURE 3.4.4 (Weak variant of Mayer's conjecture in dimension one). Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}$ be a bounded domain with $\Omega_{\mathbb{R}} = \Omega \cap \mathbb{R} \neq \emptyset$ and $\Phi_k \colon \Omega \to \Omega$ contracting holomorphic mappings with their unique fixed points z_k^* in $\Omega_{\mathbb{R}}$. If the $\Phi'_k(z_k^*)$ are real, then all eigenvalues of the corresponding transfer operator \mathcal{L}_I in (3.22) with small enough modulus are real.

REMARK 3.4.5. Mayer [57] originally conjectured that transfer operators satisfying the hypotheses of the above conjecture have real spectra. Counterexamples to Mayer's conjecture were given by Levin in [48] which led to the above weakening of the conjecture.

Reality of spectra has been studied in a few concrete examples. For the Gauss map, Mayer showed that the eigenvalues of the transfer operator (on an appropriately defined function space) are real and tend to zero exponentially fast, see [58] or the

survey [59]. Another prominent example is the linearised Feigenbaum period doubling operator, for which numerical observations [4, 20] suggest the spectrum to be real. Furthermore, transfer operators of expanding interval maps with one 'dominating' branch have real spectra, as shown by Rugh [75] using a perturbative approach.

To the best of the author's knowledge these are the first examples of nontrivial circle and interval maps for which the entire spectrum of the associated transfer operator is known explicitly. Certain conjectures were previously hard to test, but might now be more accessible.

CHAPTER 4

Spectral structure for finite Blaschke products

The family of analytic circle maps considered in the previous chapter belongs to a special class of circle maps. These are finite Blaschke products, a class of rational maps on the Riemann sphere $\hat{\mathbb{C}} = \mathbb{C} \cup \{\infty\}$ given by finite products of Möbius maps preserving the unit circle and the unit disk (see Section 4.3 for definitions and properties). The beauty of Blaschke products is that they partition the Riemann sphere into simple dynamically invariant regions: the unit circle, the unit disk and the exterior disk in $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$. As it turns out, these properties guarantee the diagonal block structure representation (3.20) of \mathcal{L} , which was used to determine the spectrum of \mathcal{L} in the previous chapter.

The purpose of this chapter is to uncover the underlying structure of transfer operators associated to analytic expanding circle maps, and to deduce the entire spectrum for those circle maps which arise from finite Blaschke products. The strategy relies on the fact that the spectrum of \mathcal{L} can be understood by passing to its (Banach space) adjoint \mathcal{L}^* . This strategy has been explored in the context of Ruelle operators acting on the space of functions locally analytic on the Julia set of a rational function, see [9, 49, 50, 90]; in particular, explicit expressions for Fredholm determinants of certain Ruelle operators have been derived. In our setting of analytic expanding circle maps, we adopt a similar approach, that is, we analyse the spectrum of \mathcal{L} by deriving a natural explicit representation of \mathcal{L}^* (Proposition 4.2.5).

As mentioned in Remark 1.3.3, the (Banach space) adjoint of the transfer operator defined in (1.6) is known as the Koopman operator, defined on $L^{\infty}(X, m)$ and given by composition with the map T. In the literature, the term 'composition operator' mostly refers to compositions with analytic functions mapping a disk into itself, a setting in which operator-theoretic properties such as boundedness, compactness, and most importantly explicit spectral information are well established (good references are [80] or the encyclopedia on the subject [24]). We will demonstrate that in our particular analytic setting of finite Blaschke products, the spectrum of the adjoint operator \mathcal{L}^* can be deduced by studying the spectrum of composition operators on spaces of holomorphic functions on the regions left invariant under Blaschke products.

The main result of this chapter (Theorem 4.3.4) can be summarised as follows. Let B be a finite Blaschke product such that its restriction τ to the unit circle \mathbb{T} is an expanding circle map. Denote by $H^2(A)$ the Hardy-Hilbert space of functions which are holomorphic on some suitable annulus A (containing \mathbb{T}) and square integrable on its boundary ∂A (see Definition 4.1.1). Then the transfer operator \mathcal{L} associated to τ is compact on $H^2(A)$, with spectrum

$$\sigma(\mathcal{L}) = \{1\} \cup \{\lambda(z_0)^n : n \in \mathbb{N}\} \cup \{\overline{\lambda(z_0)}^n : n \in \mathbb{N}\} \cup \{0\},\$$

where $\lambda(z_0)$ is the multiplier of the unique attracting fixed point z_0 of B in the unit disk. This implies that for finite Blaschke products which give rise to analytic expanding circle maps, the derivative of the fixed point in the unit disk completely determines the spectrum of \mathcal{L} .

This chapter is organised as follows. In Section 4.1.1, we review basic definitions and facts about Hardy-Hilbert spaces on annuli. The following Section 4.1.2 is devoted to analytic expanding circle maps and their transfer operators. In Section 4.2, we explicitly derive the structure of the corresponding adjoint operators after having established a suitable representation of the dual space. This structure is then used in Section 4.3 in order to obtain the spectrum of transfer operators associated to analytic expanding circle maps arising from finite Blaschke products, thus proving the main theorem of this chapter. Section 4.4 presents applications of the main theorem to expanding interval maps with arbitrarily small subleading eigenvalue, but bounded Lyapunov exponent. In this way, we return to the question raised in Chapter 2 and show that a relation between Lyapunov exponents and mixing rates of the type in Proposition 2.2.9 cannot be generalised to all nonlinear expanding maps.

The results of this chapter are contained in [13] and [84].

4.1. Transfer operators on Hardy-Hilbert spaces

Given an analytic expanding circle map, we can associate with it a transfer operator \mathcal{L} given in (3.10), which was shown to be compact (Proposition 3.2.4) when restricted to certain spaces of bounded holomorphic functions on a suitable annulus around \mathbb{T} . In this chapter it will be more convenient to consider the restriction of \mathcal{L} to Hardy-Hilbert spaces, since we can use their powerful structure as Hilbert spaces. We start by introducing these spaces on annuli and disks, which will provide a convenient setting for our analysis.

4.1.1. Hardy-Hilbert spaces. Throughout this chapter $\hat{\mathbb{C}} = \mathbb{C} \cup \{\infty\}$ denotes the one point compactification of \mathbb{C} . For r > 0 we use

$$\mathbb{T}_r = \left\{ z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| = r \right\},$$
$$\mathbb{T}_{-} = \mathbb{T}_1$$

to denote circles centred at 0, and

$$D_r = \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| < r \},\$$
$$D_r^{\infty} = \{ z \in \widehat{\mathbb{C}} : |z| > r \},\$$
$$\mathbb{D} = D_1$$

to denote disks centred at 0 and ∞ .

We will use the notation $L^2(\mathbb{T}_{\rho}) = L^2(\mathbb{T}_{\rho}, d\theta/2\pi)$, where $m = d\theta/2\pi$ is the normalised one-dimensional Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{T}_{ρ} . Finally, for U an open subset of $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$ we use $\operatorname{Hol}(U)$ for the space of holomorphic functions on U. We say f is holomorphic at ∞ if $f \circ \varsigma$ is holomorphic at 0 with $\varsigma(z) = 1/z$.

Hardy-Hilbert spaces on disks and annuli are defined as follows.

DEFINITION 4.1.1. For $\rho > 0$ and $f: \mathbb{T}_{\rho} \to \mathbb{C}$ write

$$M_{\rho}(f) = \int_0^{2\pi} |f(\rho e^{i\theta})|^2 \frac{d\theta}{2\pi}.$$

Then the Hardy-Hilbert spaces on D_r and $A_{r,R}$ are given by

$$H^{2}(D_{r}) = \left\{ f \in \operatorname{Hol}(D_{r}) : \sup_{\rho \nearrow r} M_{\rho}(f) < \infty \right\},$$

and

$$H^{2}(A_{r,R}) = \left\{ f \in \operatorname{Hol}(A_{r,R}) : \sup_{\rho \nearrow R} M_{\rho}(f) + \sup_{\rho \searrow r} M_{\rho}(f) < \infty \right\}.$$

The Hardy-Hilbert space on the exterior disk D_R^{∞} is defined accordingly, that is $f \in H^2(D_R^{\infty})$ if $f \in Hol(D_R^{\infty})$ (or, equivalently, $f \circ \varsigma$ holomorphic on $D_{1/R}$ with $\varsigma(z) = 1/z$) and $\sup_{\rho \searrow R} M_{\rho}(f) < \infty$. Finally, $H_0^2(D_R^{\infty}) \subset H^2(D_R^{\infty})$ denotes the subspace of functions vanishing at infinity.

A comprehensive account of Hardy spaces over general domains is given in the classic text [28]. A crisp treatment of Hardy spaces on the unit disk can be found in [69, Ch. 17]), while a good reference for Hardy spaces on annuli is [79]. We shall now collect a number of results which will be useful in what follows.

Any function in $H^2(U)$, where U is a disk or an annulus, can be extended to the boundary in the following sense. For $f \in H^2(D_r)$ there is an $f^* \in L^2(\mathbb{T}_r)$ such that

$$\lim_{\rho \nearrow r} f(\rho e^{i\theta}) = f^*(re^{i\theta}) \quad \text{for a.e. } \theta,$$

and analogously for $f \in H^2(D_R^{\infty})$. Similarly, for $f \in H^2(A_{r,R})$ there are $f_1^* \in L^2(\mathbb{T}_r)$ and $f_2^* \in L^2(\mathbb{T}_R)$, with $\lim_{\rho \searrow r} f(\rho e^{i\theta}) = f_1^*(re^{i\theta})$ and $\lim_{\rho \nearrow R} f(\rho e^{i\theta}) = f_2^*(Re^{i\theta})$ for a.e. θ . It turns out that the spaces $H^2(A_{r,R})$, $H^2(D_r)$ and $H^2(D_R^{\infty})$ are Hilbert spaces. The next theorem summarises the properties of $H^2(A_{r,R})$, with the cases of $H^2(D_r)$ and $H^2(D_R^{\infty})$ being similar.

THEOREM 4.1.2. (a) The space $H^2(A_{r,R})$ is a Hilbert space with inner product

$$(f,g)_{H^2(A_{r,R})} = \int_0^{2\pi} f_1^*(re^{i\theta})\overline{g_1^*(re^{i\theta})} \, \frac{d\theta}{2\pi} + \int_0^{2\pi} f_2^*(Re^{i\theta})\overline{g_2^*(Re^{i\theta})} \, \frac{d\theta}{2\pi}.$$

(b) An orthonormal basis for $H^2(A_{r,R})$ is given by $\mathcal{E} = \{e_n : n \in \mathbb{Z}\}, where$

$$e_n(z) = \frac{z^n}{d_n}$$
 with $d_n = \sqrt{r^{2n} + R^{2n}}$. (4.1)

For $f \in Hol(A_{r,R})$ it follows that $f \in H^2(A_{r,R})$ if and only if

$$f(z) = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} c_n e_n(z)$$
 with $\sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} |c_n|^2 < \infty$,

where the coefficients are given by $c_n = c_n(f) = (f, e_n)_{H^2(A_{r,R})}$. (c) Every $f \in H^2(A_{r,R})$ satisfies $||f||^2_{H^2(A_{r,R})} = ||f_1^*||^2_{L^2(\mathbb{T}_r)} + ||f_2^*||^2_{L^2(\mathbb{T}_R)}$, and

$$||f||_{H^2(A_{r,R})}^2 = (f,f)_{H^2(A_{r,R})} = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} |c_n|^2.$$

Similar statements hold for $H^2(D_r)$, with inner product given by

$$(f,g)_{H^2(D_r)} = \int_0^{2\pi} f^*(re^{i\theta}) \overline{g^*(re^{i\theta})} \ \frac{d\theta}{2\pi}$$

and analogously for $H^2(D_R^{\infty})$.

NOTATION 4.1.3. In order to avoid cumbersome notation, we shall write f(z) instead of $f^*(z)$ for z on the boundary of the domain.

4.1.2. Factorisation of transfer operators. We can now define transfer operators associated to analytic expanding circle maps on suitable Hardy-Hilbert spaces. Let τ be an analytic expanding circle map. The expansivity of τ and Lemma 3.2.2 allow us to choose A_0, A' and A in \mathcal{A} with

$$A_0 \subset A' \subset A \text{ and } \tau(\partial A_0) \cap \operatorname{cl}(A) = \emptyset.$$
 (4.2)

As we shall see presently, by adapting the factorisation argument explained in Section 1.4 and applied in Section 3.2, the above choices of the annuli guarantee that the associated transfer operator \mathcal{L} in (3.10) is a well-defined linear operator which maps $H^2(A)$ compactly to itself. We can write $\mathcal{L} = \tilde{\mathcal{L}}\mathcal{J}$, where $\tilde{\mathcal{L}} : H^{\infty}(A') \to$ $H^2(A)$ is a lifted transfer operator given by the same functional expression (3.10) and $\mathcal{J} : H^2(A) \to H^{\infty}(A')$ is the canonical embedding:



Note that compared to the diagram (1.19), we use $H^{\infty}(A')$ instead of $H^2(A')$ as this choice allows for an easy proof of continuity of $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}$ in Lemma 4.1.4.

Let R, R' denote the radii of the circles forming the 'exterior' boundaries, and r, r'the radii of the circles forming the 'interior' boundaries of A and A', respectively, that is, $A = A_{r,R}$ and $A' = A_{r',R'}$.

LEMMA 4.1.4. The transfer operator $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}$ given by (3.10) maps $H^{\infty}(A')$ continuously to $H^{2}(A)$.

PROOF. We can factorise $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}$ as $\tilde{\mathcal{L}} = \hat{\mathcal{J}}\hat{\mathcal{L}}$, where $\hat{\mathcal{L}} \colon H^{\infty}(A') \to H^{\infty}(A)$, given by the functional expression (3.10), is continuous by Lemma 3.2.3, and $\hat{\mathcal{J}}: H^{\infty}(A) \hookrightarrow$ $H^2(A)$ is the canonical embedding.

Next, we establish compactness of $\mathcal{J}: H^2(A) \hookrightarrow H^\infty(A')$ given by

$$(\mathcal{J}f)(z) = f(z) \quad \text{for } z \in A'.$$

Let $\{e_n : n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ be the orthonormal basis for $H^2(A)$ given by (4.1), then any $f \in \mathbb{Z}$ $H^2(A)$ can be uniquely expressed as $f = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} c_n(f) e_n$. For $N \in \mathbb{N}$ define the finite rank operator $\mathcal{J}_N \colon H^2(A) \to H^\infty(A')$ by

$$(\mathcal{J}_N f)(z) = \sum_{n=-N+1}^{N-1} c_n(f) e_n(z) \quad \text{for } z \in A'.$$

LEMMA 4.1.5. Let \mathcal{J} and \mathcal{J}_N be as above. Then

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \|\mathcal{J} - \mathcal{J}_N\|_{H^2(A) \to H^\infty(A')} = 0.$$

In particular, the embedding \mathcal{J} is compact.

PROOF. For $z \in A'$, it follows by the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality that

$$\begin{aligned} |(\mathcal{J}f)(z) - (\mathcal{J}_N f)(z)| &\leq \left(\sum_{|n|\geq N} |c_n(f)|^2\right)^{1/2} \left(\sum_{|n|\geq N} |e_n(z)|^2\right)^{1/2} \\ &\leq \|f\|_{H^2(A)} \left(\sum_{|n|\geq N} \frac{|z^n|^2}{r^{2n} + R^{2n}}\right)^{1/2} \\ &\leq \|f\|_{H^2(A)} \left(\sum_{n\geq N} \left|\frac{z}{R}\right|^{2n} + \sum_{n\geq N} \left|\frac{r}{z}\right|^{2n}\right)^{1/2}. \end{aligned}$$

Thus

$$\|\mathcal{J}f - \mathcal{J}_N f\|_{H^{\infty}(A')} \le \|f\|_{H^2(A)} \left(\left(\frac{R'}{R}\right)^{2N} \frac{1}{1 - \left(\frac{R'}{R}\right)^2} + \left(\frac{r}{r'}\right)^{2N} \frac{1}{1 - \left(\frac{r}{r'}\right)^2} \right)^{1/2},$$

the assertions follow.

and the assertions follow.

The factorisation $\mathcal{L} = \tilde{\mathcal{L}}\mathcal{J}$ together with Lemmas 4.1.4 and 4.1.5 now imply the following result.

PROPOSITION 4.1.6. The transfer operator $\mathcal{L} \colon H^2(A) \to H^2(A)$ given by the functional expression (3.10) is compact.

4.2. Adjoint operator

A central step in showing our main result is to find an appropriate representation of the dual space on which the adjoint of the transfer operator has a simple structure. For the remainder of this section we set $A = A_{r,R}$ and denote by $H^2(A)^*$ the strong dual of $H^2(A)$, that is, the space of continuous linear functionals on $H^2(A)$ equipped with the topology of uniform convergence on the unit ball. We will show that $H^2(A)^*$ is isomorphic to the topological direct sum $H^2(D_r) \oplus H_0^2(D_R^\infty)$, equipped with the norm $||(h_1, h_2)||^2 = ||h_1||_{H^2(D_r)}^2 + ||h_2||_{H_0^2(D_R^\infty)}^2$. Similar representations of the duals of Hardy spaces for multiply connected regions can be found in [68, Prop. 3]. The present setup is sufficiently simple to allow for a short proof of the representation.

PROPOSITION 4.2.1. The dual space $H^2(A)^*$ is isomorphic to $H^2(D_r) \oplus H^2_0(D_R^\infty)$ with the isomorphism given by

$$J \colon H^2(D_r) \oplus H^2_0(D_R^\infty) \to H^2(A)^*$$
$$(h_1, h_2) \mapsto l,$$

where

$$l(f) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}_r} f(z)h_1(z) \, dz + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}_R} f(z)h_2(z) \, dz \quad (f \in H^2(A)).$$
(4.3)

PROOF. We will first show that (4.3) defines a continuous functional $l \in H^2(A)^*$ and that J is a bounded linear operator. In order to see this note that for any $(h_1, h_2) \in H^2(D_r) \oplus H^2_0(D_R^\infty)$ the linear functional $l = J(h_1, h_2)$ is bounded, since for any $f \in H^2(A)$ with $||f||_{H^2(A)} \leq 1$

$$|l(f)| \le \left(r \, \|h_1\|_{H^2(D_r)} + R \, \|h_2\|_{H^2_0(D_R^\infty)} \right).$$

It follows that

$$\|J(h_1, h_2)\|_{H^2(A)^*} \le \sqrt{r^2 + R^2} \sqrt{\|h_1\|_{H^2(D_r)}^2 + \|h_2\|_{H^2_0(D_R^\infty)}^2}$$

and $||J||_{H^2(D_r)\oplus H^2_0(D^{\infty}_R)\to H^2(A)^*} \leq \sqrt{r^2+R^2}$. Hence, J is well defined and bounded. For injectivity, we suppose that $l = J(h_1, h_2) = 0$ and show that $h_1 = 0$ and

For injectivity, we suppose that $l = J(h_1, h_2) = 0$ and show that $h_1 = 0$ and $h_2 = 0$. In order to see this note that any $(h_1, h_2) \in H^2(D_r) \oplus H^2_0(D_R^{\infty})$ can be written as $h_1(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n z^n$ and $h_2(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_{-n} z^{-n}$ with suitable coefficients $a_n \in \mathbb{C}$. Now let

$$\mathcal{E} = \{e_n : n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$$
 with $e_n(z) = \frac{z^n}{d_n}$

denote the orthonormal basis of $H^2(A)$ given in (4.1). A short calculation using Lebesgue dominated convergence shows that

$$0 = (J(h_1, h_2))(e_n) = \frac{a_{-n-1}}{d_n} \text{ for all } n \in \mathbb{Z},$$
(4.4)

which implies $h_1 = 0$ and $h_2 = 0$. Thus J is injective.

Finally, in order to show that J is surjective, fix $l \in H^2(A)^*$. We will construct $(h_1, h_2) \in H^2(D_r) \oplus H^2_0(D_R^\infty)$ such that $J(h_1, h_2) = l$.

By the Riesz representation theorem there is a unique $g \in H^2(A)$ such that $l(f) = (f,g)_{H^2(A)}$ for all $f \in H^2(A)$. Moreover, g can be uniquely expressed as

 $g = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} c_n(g) e_n$. Now define

$$h_1(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \overline{c_{-n-1}(g)} d_{-n-1} z^n \quad \text{for } z \in D_r,$$

$$h_2(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \overline{c_{n-1}(g)} d_{n-1} z^{-n} \quad \text{for } z \in D_R^{\infty}.$$

$$(4.5)$$

Using $||g||^2_{H^2(A)} = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} |c_n(g)|^2 < \infty$, it follows that $h_1 \in H^2(D_r)$ and $h_2 \in H^2_0(D_R^\infty)$. Combining (4.4) and (4.5) we obtain

$$(J(h_1, h_2))(e_n) = \frac{a_{-n-1}}{d_n} = \frac{\overline{c_n(g)}d_n}{d_n} = \overline{c_n(g)} = (e_n, g)_{H^2(A)}$$

for every $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. Since the above equality also holds for all finite linear combinations of elements in \mathcal{E} , the continuity of J implies

$$(J(h_1, h_2))(f) = (f, g)_{H^2(A)} = l(f)$$

for all $f \in H^2(A)$. Thus J is surjective.

REMARK 4.2.2. The inverse J^{-1} of J can be obtained using the kernel $K_z \in H^2(A)$ defined by $K_z(w) = 1/(z - w)$ for $z \in \hat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \operatorname{cl}(A)$. More precisely, J^{-1} is given by $l \mapsto (h_1, h_2)$, where $h_1(z) = l(-K_z)$ for $z \in D_r$ and $h_2(z) = l(K_z)$ for $z \in D_R^{\infty}$, see also [68, p. 159]. The inverse J^{-1} is bounded by the bounded inverse theorem, and its norm can be estimated directly by using (4.5):

$$\left\|J^{-1}l\right\|_{H^2(D_r)\oplus H^2_0(D_R^\infty)}^2 = \|h_1\|_{H^2(D_r)}^2 + \|h_2\|_{H^2_0(D_R^\infty)}^2 \le \left(\frac{1}{r^2} + \frac{1}{R^2}\right) \|l\|_{H^2(A)^*}^2.$$

Returning to the setting of Section 4.1.2, let τ be an analytic expanding circle map and $A = A_{r,R} \in \mathcal{A}$ an annulus satisfying (4.2) such that the associated transfer operator $\mathcal{L} \colon H^2(A) \to H^2(A)$ is well defined and compact. We shall first assume that τ is orientation-preserving and comment on the orientation-reversing case at the end of this section. Using the representation of the dual space $H^2(A)^*$ obtained in the previous lemma, we shall shortly derive an explicit form for the adjoint operator of \mathcal{L} .

Before doing so we require some more notation. Define $C^{(r)}: H^2(D_r) \to L^2(\mathbb{T}_r)$ by

$$(C^{(r)}h)(z) = h(\tau(z)) \quad \text{for } z \in \mathbb{T}_r, \qquad (4.6)$$

and $C^{(R)}: H^2_0(D^\infty_R) \to L^2(\mathbb{T}_R)$ by

$$C^{(R)}h)(z) = h(\tau(z)) \quad \text{for } z \in \mathbb{T}_R.$$

$$(4.7)$$

These operators could be called 'composition operators', but we restrict the use of this term to the case of operators mapping the space of holomorphic functions to itself, see Section 4.3. It turns out that $C^{(r)}$ and $C^{(R)}$ are compact, the proof of which relies on the following fact.

LEMMA 4.2.3. Let K be a compact subset of a disk D in \mathbb{C} . Then there exists a constant c_K depending on K only such that for any $f \in H^2(D)$

$$\sup_{z \in K} |f(z)| \le c_K \, \|f\|_{H^2(D)} \, .$$

PROOF. This follows, for example, from [12, Lem. 2.9], or by a calculation using the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, similar to the proof of Lemma 4.1.5.

Let R be the radius of the disk D, then there exists r < R such that $K \subseteq D_r$. Denote by $\{e_n : n \in \mathbb{N}\}$ with $e_n(z) = z^n/R^n$ an orthonormal basis of $H^2(D)$. Then for any $z \in K$ we have

$$|f(z)| \le \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} |c_n(f)e_n(z)| \le \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} |c_n(f)|^2\right)^{1/2} \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} |e_n(z)|^2\right)^{1/2} \le \frac{\|f\|_{H^2(D)}}{1 - (\frac{r}{R})^2},$$

ch finishes the proof with $c_K = \frac{1}{1 - (r/R)^2}.$

which finishes the proof with $c_K = \frac{1}{1 - (r/R)^2}$.

We now have the following.

LEMMA 4.2.4. The operators $C^{(r)}$ and $C^{(R)}$ are compact.

PROOF. The choice of $A = A_{r,R}$ in (4.2) implies that $r_0 = \sup_{z \in \mathbb{T}_r} |\tau(z)| < r$, and we can choose a disk $D_{r'}$ with $D_{r_0} \subset D_{r'} \subset D_r$.

Let $\tilde{C}^{(r)} \colon H^2(D_{r'}) \to L^2(\mathbb{T}_r)$ be defined by the functional expression as in (4.6), but now considered on $H^2(D_{r'})$. The operator is continuous since

$$\left\|\tilde{C}^{(r)}h\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}_{r})} \leq \sup_{z \in \tau(\mathbb{T}_{r})} |h(z)| \leq \sup_{z \in \operatorname{cl}(D_{r_{0}})} |h(z)| \leq c_{K} \|h\|_{H^{2}(D_{r'})},$$

where we have used Lemma 4.2.3 with $K = cl(D_{r_0})$. The lemma follows since we can write $C^{(r)} = \tilde{C}^{(r)} \tilde{\mathcal{J}}$ with $\tilde{\mathcal{J}} \colon H^2(D_r) \hookrightarrow H^2(D_{r'})$ denoting the canonical embedding, which is compact (see, for example, [12, Lem. 2.9]). The argument for $C^{(R)}$ is similar.

Next, we need to define certain projection operators on $L^2(\mathbb{T}_{\rho})$. For any $g \in L^2(\mathbb{T}_{\rho})$ we can write $g(z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} g_n z^n$, so that $g = g_+ + g_-$ with $g_+(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} g_n z^n$ and $g_-(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} g_{-n} z^{-n}$. Since $\|g\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}_{\rho})}^2 = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} |g_n|^2 \rho^{2n} < \infty$, the functions g_+ and g_- can be viewed as functions in $H^2(D_{\rho})$ and $H^2_0(D^{\infty}_{\rho})$, respectively. Then we define the bounded projection operators $\Pi^{(\rho)}_+: L^2(\mathbb{T}_{\rho}) \to H^2(D_{\rho})$ and $\Pi^{(\rho)}_-: L^2(\mathbb{T}_{\rho}) \to H^2(D_{\rho})$ $H_0^2(D_\rho^\infty)$ by (a)

$$\Pi_{+}^{(\rho)}(g) = g_{+} \quad \text{and} \quad \Pi_{-}^{(\rho)}(g) = g_{-}.$$
(4.8)

Finally, let $\mathcal{L}^* \colon H^2(A)^* \to H^2(A)^*$ denote the adjoint operator of \mathcal{L} in the Banach space sense, that is, $(\mathcal{L}^*l)(f) = l(\mathcal{L}f)$ for all $l \in H^2(A)^*$ and $f \in H^2(A)$. The following proposition provides an explicit representation \mathcal{L}' of \mathcal{L}^* via

$$\mathcal{L}' = J^{-1} \mathcal{L}^* J \,,$$

as an operator on $H^2(D_r) \oplus H^2_0(D^{\infty}_R)$ given by compositions of $C^{(\rho)}$, $\Pi^{(\rho)}_-$ and $\Pi^{(\rho)}_+$ for $\rho = r, R.$

PROPOSITION 4.2.5. Let $\mathcal{L}: H^2(A) \to H^2(A)$ be the transfer operator associated to an analytic orientation-preserving expanding circle map τ , with $A \in \mathcal{A}$ as in (4.2). Then the isomorphism J conjugates the adjoint \mathcal{L}^* of \mathcal{L} to

$$\mathcal{L}' \colon H^2(D_r) \oplus H^2_0(D_R^\infty) \to H^2(D_r) \oplus H^2_0(D_R^\infty)$$

 $given^1$ by

$$\mathcal{L}' = \begin{pmatrix} \Pi_{+}^{(r)} C^{(r)} & \Pi_{+}^{(R)} C^{(R)} \\ \Pi_{-}^{(r)} C^{(r)} & \Pi_{-}^{(R)} C^{(R)} \end{pmatrix},$$
(4.9)

that is $\mathcal{L}' = J^{-1}\mathcal{L}^*J$.

PROOF. We want to show that $\mathcal{L}^*J = J\mathcal{L}'$, that is,

$$(\mathcal{L}^*J(h_1, h_2))(f) = (J\mathcal{L}'(h_1, h_2))(f)$$
(4.10)

for all $(h_1, h_2) \in H^2(D_r) \oplus H^2_0(D_R^{\infty})$ and $f \in H^2(A)$. For any such (h_1, h_2) and f, the adjoint property yields

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathcal{L}^*J(h_1, h_2))(f) &= (J(h_1, h_2))(\mathcal{L}f) \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}_r} (\mathcal{L}f)(z)h_1(z) \, dz + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}_R} (\mathcal{L}f)(z)h_2(z) \, dz \; . \end{aligned}$$

Next we shall use the integral definition of \mathcal{L} on \mathbb{T} , see (3.11), and express the above integrands in terms of compositions of h_1 and h_2 with τ . This is first done for monomials forming a basis of $H^2(A)$ and $H^2(D_r) \oplus H^2_0(D_R^\infty)$. These are holomorphic on cl(A) which allows us to deform the contours of integration to \mathbb{T} .

More precisely, let a basis for $H^2(D_r) \oplus H^2_0(D_R^\infty)$ be given by $\mathcal{P} = \{(p_n, 0) : n \in \mathbb{N}_0\} \cup \{(0, p_{-n}) : n \in \mathbb{N}\}$ with $p_n(z) = z^n$, where $p_n \in H^2(D_r)$ if $n \ge 0$ and $p_n \in H^2_0(D_R^\infty)$ if n < 0. Take $f \in \mathcal{E}$, where \mathcal{E} is the basis for $H^2(A)$ given by (4.1). For $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $(h_1, h_2) = (p_n, 0) \in \mathcal{P}$ we get

$$(\mathcal{L}^*J(h_1,0))(f) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}_r} (\mathcal{L}f)(z)h_1(z) dz$$
$$\stackrel{(a)}{=} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} (\mathcal{L}f)(z)h_1(z) dz$$
$$\stackrel{(b)}{=} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} f(z)(h_1 \circ \tau)(z) dz$$
$$\stackrel{(c)}{=} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}_r} f(z)(h_1 \circ \tau)(z) dz.$$

¹Note that $H^2(D_R)$ can be viewed as a subspace of $H^2(D_r)$, and similarly $H_0^2(D_r^{\infty})$ as a subspace of $H_0^2(D_R^{\infty})$. Thus the off-diagonal elements of \mathcal{L}' are well defined.

Here, equalities (a) and (c) follow since the integrands are analytic on A and equality (b) follows by definition of \mathcal{L} (see also (3.11)). Then, by the definition of $\Pi_{+}^{(r)}$ and $\Pi_{-}^{(r)}$,

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathcal{L}^*J(h_1,0))(f) \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}_r} f(z)(\Pi_+^{(r)}(h_1\circ\tau))(z) \, dz + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}_r} f(z)(\Pi_-^{(r)}(h_1\circ\tau))(z) \, dz \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}_r} f(z)(\Pi_+^{(r)}(h_1\circ\tau))(z) \, dz + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}_R} f(z)(\Pi_-^{(r)}(h_1\circ\tau))(z) \, dz \\ &= (J\mathcal{L}'(h_1,0))(f) \, . \end{aligned}$$

The penultimate equality follows from the fact that $\Pi_{-}^{(r)}(h_1 \circ \tau) \in H^2_0(D_r^{\infty}).$

Analogously, for $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $(h_1, h_2) = (0, p_{-n}) \in \mathcal{P}$, the same argument shows

$$(\mathcal{L}^*J(0,h_2))(f) = (J\mathcal{L}'(0,h_2))(f)$$

Hence, for $f \in \mathcal{E}$, by linearity (4.10) holds for all finite linear combinations of basis elements (h_1, h_2) in \mathcal{P} . Since these form a dense subspace of $H^2(D_r) \oplus H_0^2(D_R^{\infty})$, and \mathcal{L}^* , \mathcal{L}' and J are continuous operators, equality (4.10) holds for all $(h_1, h_2) \in$ $H^2(D_r) \oplus H_0^2(D_R^{\infty})$ and $f \in \mathcal{E}$. By continuity, this extends to all $f \in H^2(A)$, which completes the proof. \Box

REMARK 4.2.6. Lemma 4.2.4 and continuity of the projection operators in (4.8) imply that \mathcal{L}' is compact. Note, however, that this also follows from compactness of \mathcal{L} guaranteed by the choice of A in (4.2).

REMARK 4.2.7. The above proposition requires only minor modifications if τ is assumed to be orientation-reversing. The operators $C^{(r)}$ and $C^{(R)}$ in (4.6) and (4.7) are replaced with $\hat{C}^{(r)}$: $H^2(D_r) \to L^2(\mathbb{T}_R)$ and $\hat{C}^{(R)}$: $H^2_0(D_R^{\infty}) \to L^2(\mathbb{T}_r)$, defined by

$$(\hat{C}^{(r)}h)(z) = h(\tau(z)) \text{ for } z \in \mathbb{T}_R$$

and

$$(\hat{C}^{(R)}h)(z) = h(\tau(z)) \text{ for } z \in \mathbb{T}_r$$

which are compact by the same argument as in Lemma 4.2.4. The adjoint operator in the proposition is then represented by

$$\mathcal{L}' = \left(\begin{array}{cc} \Pi_{+}^{(R)} \hat{C}^{(r)} & \Pi_{+}^{(r)} \hat{C}^{(R)} \\ \Pi_{-}^{(R)} \hat{C}^{(r)} & \Pi_{-}^{(r)} \hat{C}^{(R)} \end{array} \right).$$

The explicit representation of the adjoint operator in the above proposition facilitates the study of spectral properties for analytic expanding circle maps, and even allows us to determine the entire correlation spectrum explicitly for finite Blaschke products.

4.3. Spectrum for Blaschke products

Having discussed transfer operators \mathcal{L} associated with analytic expanding circle maps and a convenient representation of the corresponding adjoint operators (Proposition 4.2.5), we shall now use this representation to obtain the full spectrum of \mathcal{L} for finite Blaschke products, a class of circle maps defined as follows (see, for example, [**60**, p. 5-3]).

DEFINITION 4.3.1. For $n \ge 2$, let $\{a_1, \ldots, a_n\}$ be a finite set of complex numbers in the open unit disk \mathbb{D} . A *finite Blaschke product* is a map of the form

$$B(z) = C \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{z - a_i}{1 - \overline{a_i} z},$$
(4.11)

where |C| = 1.

It follows from the definition that

- (i) B is a meromorphic function on \mathbb{C} with zeros a_i and poles $1/\overline{a}_i$;
- (ii) B is holomorphic on a neighbourhood of $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$ with $B(\mathbb{D}) = \mathbb{D}$ and $B(\mathbb{T}) = \mathbb{T}$.

Note also that a function f is holomorphic on an open neighbourhood of $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$ with $f(\mathbb{T}) = \mathbb{T}$ if and only if f is a finite Blaschke product (see, for example, [19, Ex. 6.12]).

Let $\tau \colon \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{T}$ denote the restriction of a finite Blaschke product B to \mathbb{T} . A short calculation shows that τ is expanding if $\sum_{i=1}^{n} (1-|a_i|)/(1+|a_i|) > 1$ (see [55, Corollary to Prop. 1] for details). Expansiveness of τ is related to the nature of the fixed points of B, as the following result shows.

PROPOSITION 4.3.2. Let B and τ be as above and $|\tau'(z)| > 1$ for all $z \in \mathbb{T}$. Then B has exactly n-1 fixed points on \mathbb{T} , which are repelling, and two fixed points $z_0 \in \mathbb{D}$ and $\hat{z}_0 = 1/\overline{z}_0 \in \hat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \overline{\mathbb{D}}$, which are attracting.

Moreover, there exists a unique τ -invariant probability measure μ on \mathbb{T} , absolutely continuous with respect to m, with the density $\varrho(z) = (1 - |z_0|^2)/|z - z_0|^2$ for $z \in \mathbb{T}$.

PROOF. Using expansivity of τ , Brouwer's fixed point theorem and the Schwarz lemma imply the existence of an attracting fixed point $z_0 \in \mathbb{D}$. Since $B(z)\overline{B(1/\overline{z})} = 1$, another attracting fixed point is given by $\hat{z}_0 = 1/\overline{z_0} \in \hat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \overline{\mathbb{D}}$. As τ is an expanding *n*covering, there are exactly n-1 (repelling) fixed points on \mathbb{T} . For details see [65, Prop. 2.1] and [88]. The second claim follows from [55, Thm. 1], with the explicit form of the invariant density given by a Poisson kernel, obtained using analyticity of τ on \mathbb{D} and the uniqueness theorem of harmonic functions applied to Poisson integrals. \Box

Crucial for the proof of our main theorem is the notion of a composition operator, which we briefly recall.

DEFINITION 4.3.3. Let U be an open region in $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$. If $\psi: U \to U$ is holomorphic, then $C_{\psi}: \operatorname{Hol}(U) \to \operatorname{Hol}(U)$ defined by $C_{\psi}f = f \circ \psi$ is called a *composition operator* (with symbol ψ). Note that in the literature the term 'composition operator' is mostly used in the context of holomorphic functions. The operators in (4.6) do not formally fall into this category, but will turn out to be composition operators for symbols which are finite Blaschke products.

We are now able to state our main result.

THEOREM 4.3.4. Let B be a finite Blaschke product such that $\tau = B|_{\mathbb{T}}$ is an analytic expanding circle map. Then

- (a) the transfer operator $\mathcal{L} \colon H^2(A) \to H^2(A)$ associated with τ is well defined and compact for some annulus $A \in \mathcal{A}$, and
- (b) the spectrum of $\mathcal{L} \colon H^2(A) \to H^2(A)$ is given by

$$\sigma(\mathcal{L}) = \{1\} \cup \{\lambda(z_0)^n : n \in \mathbb{N}\} \cup \{\lambda(\hat{z}_0)^n : n \in \mathbb{N}\} \cup \{0\}, \qquad (4.12)$$

where $\lambda(z_0)$ and $\lambda(\hat{z}_0) = \overline{\lambda(z_0)}$ are the multipliers² of the unique fixed points z_0 and \hat{z}_0 of B in \mathbb{D} and $\hat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \overline{\mathbb{D}}$, respectively.

Moreover, the algebraic multiplicity of the leading eigenvalue is 1, while for each other nonzero eigenvalue the algebraic (and geometric) multiplicity is equal to the number of its occurrences in the list (4.12).

PROOF. The first assertion is obvious, as τ is an analytic expanding circle map and we can choose $A = A_{r,R} \in \mathcal{A}$ as in (4.2) such that \mathcal{L} is well defined and compact by the results in Section 4.1.2.

For the second claim, we will use the fact that the spectrum of \mathcal{L} coincides with that of its adjoint \mathcal{L}^* , which together with the structure of the representation \mathcal{L}' of \mathcal{L}^* will allow us to deduce (4.12).

We start by observing that for the chosen A we have $B(\partial A) \cap cl(A) = \emptyset$, as well as $B(D_r) \subset D_r$ and $B(D_R^{\infty}) \subset D_R^{\infty}$. It follows that $f \circ B \in H^2(D_r)$ for any $f \in H^2(D_r)$, and $f \circ B \in H^2(D_R^{\infty})$ for any $f \in H^2(D_R^{\infty})$, so that $C_B^{(r)}f = f \circ B$ and $C_B^{(R)}f = f \circ B$ define composition operators on $H^2(D_r)$ and $H^2(D_R^{\infty})$, respectively. It is a standard fact that $B(D_r) \subset D_r$ guarantees compactness of $C_B^{(r)}$ (see, for example, [24, pp. 128-129]), and similarly for $C_B^{(R)}$. It is also well known (see [59, Lem. 7.10] or [24, Thm. 7.20]) that all eigenvalues of a compact composition operator C_{ψ} are simple and are given by the nonnegative integer powers of the multiplier of the unique attracting fixed point of ψ . Hence,

$$\sigma(C_B^{(r)}) = \{\lambda(z_0)^n : n \in \mathbb{N}_0\} \cup \{0\}$$

and

$$\sigma(C_B^{(R)}) = \{\lambda(\hat{z}_0)^n : n \in \mathbb{N}_0\} \cup \{0\},\$$

where z_0 and \hat{z}_0 are the unique attracting fixed points of B in D_r and D_R^{∞} , respectively (see Proposition 4.3.2).

²Recall that the multiplier $\lambda(z^*)$ of a fixed point z^* of a rational map R is given by $R'(z^*)$ if $z^* \in \mathbb{C}$ and $1/R'(z^*)$ if $z^* = \infty$, see [14, p. 41]. For Blaschke products the equality $\lambda(\hat{z}_0) = \overline{\lambda(z_0)}$ follows from a straightforward calculation.

We now explain how to use these observations to determine the spectrum of \mathcal{L}' given in (4.9). The projection $\Pi_{+}^{(r)}$ onto $H^2(D_r)$ given in (4.8) acts as the identity $I^{(r)}$ on $H^2(D_r)$ because any $f \in H^2(D_r)$ can be written as $f(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n z^n$. Since $C_B^{(r)}(H^2(D_r)) \subseteq H^2(D_r)$ we have $\Pi_{+}^{(r)}C_B^{(r)} = C_B^{(r)}$, and consequently $\Pi_{-}^{(r)}C_B^{(r)} = (I^{(r)} - \Pi_{+}^{(r)})C_B^{(r)} = 0$. Thus the operator \mathcal{L}' leaves $H^2(D_r) \oplus \{0\}$ invariant and is given by

$$\mathcal{L}' = \begin{pmatrix} C_B^{(r)} & \Pi_+^{(R)} C_B^{(R)} \\ 0 & \Pi_-^{(R)} C_B^{(R)} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.13)

Further, any f in $H_0^2(D_R^\infty)$ vanishes at ∞ , but not necessarily $C_B^{(R)}f$. In particular, $(C_B^{(R)}f)(\infty) = f(B(\infty)) = 0$ for all $f \in H_0^2(D_R^\infty)$ only if $B(\infty) = \infty$, so that $H_0^2(D_R^\infty)$ is not invariant under $C_B^{(R)}$ for $B(\infty) \neq \infty$. Thus, the operator $\Pi_-^{(R)}C_B^{(R)}$ is not generally a composition operator on $H_0^2(D_R^\infty)$ as $\Pi_-^{(R)}C_B^{(R)}f = C_B^{(R)}f - \Pi_+^{(R)}C_B^{(R)}f = C_B^{(R)}f - f(B(\infty))$, but we can relate its spectrum to the spectrum of $C_B^{(R)}$ on $H^2(D_R^\infty)$. More precisely,

$$\sigma(\Pi_{-}^{(R)}C_{B}^{(R)}) = \sigma(C_{B}^{(R)}) \setminus \{1\}, \qquad (4.14)$$

as we shall see below. Then, using (4.14) the second assertion of the theorem follows, since

$$\sigma(\mathcal{L}') = \sigma(C_B^{(r)}) \cup \sigma(\Pi_{-}^{(R)}C_B^{(R)})$$

= { $\lambda(z_0)^n : n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ } \cup { $\lambda(\hat{z}_0)^n : n \in \mathbb{N}$ } \cup {0},

and $\sigma(\mathcal{L}) = \sigma(\mathcal{L}^*) = \sigma(\mathcal{L}')$. The assertion concerning multiplicities follows from the simplicity of eigenvalues of compact composition operators.

It remains to prove (4.14). For brevity, we drop the superscript (R) from $\Pi_{-}^{(R)}$, $\Pi_{+}^{(R)}$ and $C_{B}^{(R)}$ since we only consider functions in $H^{2}(D_{R}^{\infty})$ in what follows. Observe that for $f \in H^{2}(D_{R}^{\infty})$, we have $(\Pi_{+}f)(z) = f(\infty)$, which implies

$$C_B \Pi_+ = \Pi_+ \text{ and } \Pi_- C_B = \Pi_- C_B \Pi_-.$$
 (4.15)

Note that 1 is an eigenvalue of C_B if and only if the corresponding eigenfunction is constant. Take $\mu \in \sigma(C_B)$ with $\mu(1-\mu) \neq 0$. Since C_B is compact, there is a nonzero $f \in H^2(D_R^{\infty})$ with $C_B f = \mu f$. The second equality in (4.15) now implies $\Pi_- C_B \Pi_- f = \mu \Pi_- f$. But since $\mu \neq 1$ the eigenvector f is nonconstant, so we have $0 \neq \Pi_- f \in H_0^2(D_R^{\infty})$ and thus $\mu \in \sigma(\Pi_- C_B)$.

To show the converse inclusion, take $\mu \in \sigma(\Pi_-C_B)$ with $\mu \neq 0$. Since Π_-C_B is compact, there is a nonzero $f \in H_0^2(D_R^\infty)$ with $\Pi_-C_B f = \mu f$. First observe that³ $\mu \neq 1$. Next we note that if $\mu(\mu - 1) \neq 0$, then $(1 - \mu)f - \Pi_+C_B f \neq 0$ (for otherwise f would be zero). Finally, we use (4.15) to show that $(1 - \mu)f - \Pi_+C_B f$ is an

³In order to see this, note that otherwise $\Pi_{-}C_{B}f = f$, which implies $f \circ B - f = \text{const.}$ However $f(B(\hat{z}_{0})) - f(\hat{z}_{0}) = 0$, which implies $f = f \circ B$. Thus f = const, so $\Pi_{-}C_{B}f = 0$, contradicting the fact that $\mu \neq 0$.

eigenfunction of C_B with eigenvalue μ :

$$C_B \left((1-\mu)f - \Pi_+ C_B f \right) = (1-\mu)(C_B f + (\mu f - \Pi_- C_B f)) - C_B \Pi_+ C_B f$$

= $\mu (1-\mu)f + (1-\mu)(I - \Pi_-)C_B f - \Pi_+ C_B f$
= $\mu \left((1-\mu)f - \Pi_+ C_B f \right).$

Thus $\sigma(\Pi_{-}C_{B}) = \sigma(C_{B}) \setminus \{1\}$, as claimed.

REMARK 4.3.5. Note that $\Pi_{+}^{(R)}C_{B}^{(R)}$ is an operator of rank at most one. To see this let $e_n(z) = z^n$, then $(\Pi_{+}^{(R)}C_{B}^{(R)})(e_{-n}) = (B(\infty))^{-n}e_0$ for $n \in \mathbb{N}$. If $B(\infty) = \infty$, meaning at least one of the a_i in (4.11) is equal to 0, then $\Pi_{+}^{(R)}C_{B}^{(R)} = 0$ and $C_B^{(R)}(H_0^2(D_R^\infty)) \subseteq H_0^2(D_R^\infty)$. With slight abuse of notation, we keep writing $C_B^{(R)}$ for the restriction to $H_0^2(D_R^\infty)$, and obtain a block diagonal matrix structure of \mathcal{L}' given by

$$\mathcal{L}' = \begin{pmatrix} C_B^{(r)} & 0\\ 0 & C_B^{(R)} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.16)

Theorem 4.3.4 can now be applied to the expanding circle maps occurring in Chapter 3.

EXAMPLE 4.3.6. The simplest example is the map $B(z) = z^m$ for an integer $m \ge 2$. The proof in [7, Ex. 2.15] that the spectrum is $\sigma(\mathcal{L}) = \{0, 1\}$ uses exponential decay of Fourier coefficients. As *B* has two attracting fixed points $z_0 = 0$ and $\hat{z}_0 = \infty$ with $\lambda(z_0) = \lambda(\hat{z}_0) = 0$, this statement now simply follows from Theorem 4.3.4.

EXAMPLE 4.3.7. The family of maps $B(z) = z(\mu - z)/(1 - \overline{\mu}z)$ from (3.18) also belongs to the class of finite Blaschke products, for which the spectrum can now be deduced directly. The restriction $B|_{\mathbb{T}}$ is an expanding circle map for any $\mu \in \mathbb{D}$. The attracting fixed points are $z_0 = 0$ and $\hat{z}_0 = \infty$ with $\lambda(z_0) = \mu$ and $\lambda(\hat{z}_0) = \overline{\mu}$. Thus

$$\sigma(\mathcal{L}) = \{1\} \cup \{\mu^n : n \in \mathbb{N}\} \cup \{\overline{\mu}^n : n \in \mathbb{N}\} \cup \{0\}.$$

To conclude this section, let us mention that the expansivity condition for τ in Theorem 4.3.4 can be weakened as it is sufficient for τ to be eventually expanding. An analytic circle map $\tau \colon \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{T}$ is called *eventually expanding* if it has an iterate that is expanding, that is, there exists an $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\inf_{z \in \mathbb{T}} |(\tau^{(N)})'(z)| > 1$. If B is a Blaschke map and $\tau = B|_{\mathbb{T}}$, then $|\tau'(z)| = \sum_i (1-|a_i|^2)/|z-a_i|^2 \ge \sum_i (1-|a_i|)/(1+|a_i|)$ for $z \in \mathbb{T}$, see [55]. Therefore, if 0 is fixed by B, then $|\tau'| > 1$. On the other hand, any Blaschke map \tilde{B} fixing $z_0 \in \mathbb{D}$ is analytically conjugate to an expanding Blaschke map B with B(0) = 0, via $B = \sigma \circ \tilde{B} \circ \sigma$ where σ is the Möbius map given by $\sigma(z) = \sigma^{-1}(z) = (z_0 - z)/(1 - \overline{z_0}z)$. It follows that $|(\tilde{B}^{(N)})'| > 1$ for some N. The conjugacy σ can then be used to define a transfer operator for $\tilde{B}|_{\mathbb{T}}$ on a Hardy-Hilbert space $H^2(\tilde{A})$ over a (topological) annulus \tilde{A} (see [28, §10.1 and §10.5] for definitions)

given by $A = \sigma(A)$ with $A \in \mathcal{A}$ a suitable annulus such that the transfer operator associated to B is well-defined and compact. By adapting arguments from Section 4.1.2 one can show its boundedness and compactness. Further, its spectrum coincides with the spectrum of \mathcal{L} associated to $B|_{\mathbb{T}}$ in Theorem 4.3.4.

4.4. Application: Arbitrarily fast exponential mixing

We shall now return to the motivation of this thesis. By applying Theorem 4.3.4 to a particular family of expanding analytic maps, we obtain insight into the question of the relation between exponential mixing rates and Lyapunov exponents, considered in Chapter 2. This family is given by the finite Blaschke products of the form

$$B(z) = (-1)^m z^m \frac{(z-b)}{1-bz}$$
(4.17)

for $b \in (-1, 1)$ and fixed integer $m \ge 2$. Then $\tau = B|_{\mathbb{T}}$ is an expanding (m + 1)-to-1 circle map (see Figure 4.1 for m = 2). As the multipliers of the attracting fixed points of B are vanishing as in Example 4.3.6, we get $\sigma(\mathcal{L}) = \{0, 1\}$.



FIGURE 4.1. The circle map τ , as the restriction of B in (4.17) for m = 2, projected onto the interval [-1, 1] for b = -0.95, 0 and 0.95.

It turns out that maps of the form (4.17) considered as interval maps $T: I \to I$ provide a class of nonlinear expanding maps for which the mixing rate α is not bounded in terms of the Lyapunov exponent Λ in the vein of Proposition 2.2.9. To show this, we shall deduce the spectrum of the transfer operator associated to T using the procedure described in Section 3.4, in particular using Lemma 3.4.2. Before doing so, we need to consider the minor technical detail, that in Lemma 3.4.2 the operator $\mathcal{L}_{\mathbb{T}}$ is considered on $H^{\infty}(A)$, whereas in this chapter \mathcal{L} is defined on $H^2(A)$. However, the spectra of $\mathcal{L}_{\mathbb{T}}$ and \mathcal{L} coincide as the next lemma shows.

LEMMA 4.4.1. Let \mathcal{L} and $\mathcal{L}_{\mathbb{T}}$ be defined as above, then $\sigma(\mathcal{L}) = \sigma(\mathcal{L}_{\mathbb{T}})$.

PROOF. Observe that the canonical embedding $J: H^{\infty}(A) \to H^{2}(A)$ is continuous as $\|Jf\|_{H^{2}(A)} \leq \sqrt{2}$ for any $f \in H^{\infty}(A)$ with $\|f\|_{H^{\infty}(A)} = 1$. It has dense range since $H^{\infty}(A)$ contains the space of Laurent polynomials, which is dense in $H^{2}(A)$. Then, as J intertwines \mathcal{L} and $\mathcal{L}_{\mathbb{T}}$, that is $J\mathcal{L}_{\mathbb{T}} = \mathcal{L}J$, we obtain $\sigma(\mathcal{L}) = \sigma(\mathcal{L}_{\mathbb{T}})$ by [35] and the fact that both have discrete spectra.

Now, to compute the multipliers of B in (4.17), note that

$$B'(z) = (-1)^m m z^{m-1} A(z) + (-1)^m z^m A'(z) ,$$

where A(z) = (z - b)/(1 - bz) and $A'(z) = (1 - b^2)/(1 - bz)^2$. For any *m*, the point -1 is fixed by τ and

$$\tau'(-1) = B'(-1) = \frac{(m+1) + (m-1)b}{1+b}$$

We can consider the map $T: I \to I$ on the interval I = [-1, 1] arising from τ via $p \circ T = \tau \circ p$ with a projection $p: I \to \mathbb{T}$ given by $p(x) = e^{i\pi x}$, which maps the interval end point -1 to the fixed point -1, and $T'(-1) = \tau'(-1)$. Let $\mathcal{L}_I: H^{\infty}(D) \to H^{\infty}(D)$ be the transfer operator associated to T in (3.22) with K = m + 1. By Lemma 3.4.2 the eigenvalues of \mathcal{L}_I can be divided into two classes, those that are eigenvalues of $\mathcal{L}_{\mathbb{T}}$ and those given by the inverse of the multiplier of the fixed point -1. Hence

$$\sigma(\mathcal{L}_I) = \{1, 0\} \cup \left\{ \left(\frac{1+b}{(m+1)+(m-1)b} \right)^n : n \in \mathbb{N} \right\}.$$

Clearly, (1+b)/((m+1)+(m-1)b) tends to 0 as $b \to -1$.

In summary, for any $m \ge 2$ one can construct analytic expanding full branch interval maps with m + 1 branches (fixing an interval endpoint), such that the subleading eigenvalue of the associated transfer operator is arbitrarily close to zero. This answers a question raised by M. Pollicott (private communication), whether expanding interval maps can have arbitrarily small nonzero second eigenvalue.

In order to obtain Lyapunov exponents, note that by Proposition 4.3.2 any map T arising from a finite Blaschke product B (expanding on \mathbb{T}) has a unique ergodic acip measure μ whose density with respect to the normalised Lebesgue measure on the interval [-1, 1] is given by

$$\varrho(x) = \frac{1 - |z_0|^2}{2|e^{i\pi x} - z_0|^2} \,,$$

where z_0 is the attracting fixed point of B in \mathbb{D} . The map B in (4.17) has the fixed point $z_0 = 0$, thus its acip measure is the Lebesgue measure itself. Hence, for any $b \in$ (-1, 1) the Lyapunov exponent of T with respect to this invariant measure is given by $\Lambda = (1/2) \int_I \ln |T'(x)| \, dx$, or equally $(2\pi)^{-1} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \ln |B'(e^{i\theta})| \, d\theta$, using $B(e^{i\pi x}) = e^{i\pi T(x)}$. Interestingly, Λ can be calculated explicitly by applying Jensen's formula⁴ to B'.

⁴Jensen's formula reads $\ln |f(0)| = (2\pi)^{-1} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \ln |f(e^{i\theta})| d\theta + \sum_{i} \ln |a_{i}|$, where f is holomorphic on a neighbourhood of $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$, $f(0) \neq 0$ and a_{i} are the zeros of f in \mathbb{D} , see [89, §3.61 and 3.62]. For a Blaschke map B with B(0) = 0, writing $B'(z) = z^{l} \cdot f(z)$ with $f(0) \neq 0$, we get $\Lambda = (2\pi)^{-1} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \ln |B'(e^{i\theta})| d\theta = \ln |f(0)| - \sum_{i} \ln |c_{i}|$ with c_{i} the critical points of B inside \mathbb{D} . If 0 is not fixed by B, then Λ can be calculated similarly using the Poisson-Jensen formula .



FIGURE 4.2. Eigenvalues of \mathcal{L}_I for the interval map T arising from B in (4.17) with m = 2 for $b \in (-1, 1)$ (solid lines), in logarithmic scale. The dashed line shows $\exp(-\Lambda)$, see (4.18).

We now restrict to the case m = 2, where this calculation yields

$$\Lambda = \ln\left(\frac{1}{2}\left(3 + b^2 + \sqrt{(1 - b^2)(9 - b^2)}\right)\right),\tag{4.18}$$

see Figure 4.2.

Clearly, Λ tends to $\ln(2)$ as $b \to -1$. On the other hand, with $\lambda_2 = \lambda_2(\mathcal{L}_I)$ the second largest eigenvalue of \mathcal{L}_I , the mixing rate on $H^{\infty}(D)$ denoted by $\alpha = \alpha_{H^{\infty}(D)}$ as in (1.14) is given by $\alpha = -\ln \lambda_2 = -\ln ((1+b)/(3+b))$. Then, α tends to infinity as $b \to -1$. Crucially, α is not bounded in terms of Λ as $b \to -1$, unlike the case of piecewise linear Markov maps in Proposition 2.2.9, where a bound $\alpha \leq 2\Lambda$ has been established.

Although the Lyapunov exponent does not provide a bound for the mixing rate, interestingly its effect can be observed in the decay of a correlation function on the short time scale. Note that for b close to -1, the map T closely resembles a shifted version of the doubling map, which is the pointwise limit of T as $b \to -1$. This is reflected in the shape of the correlation function, in the sense that correlations decay exponentially with the rate $\ln(2)$ on a short time scale, prior to reaching the asymptotic rate determined by the second largest eigenvalue of \mathcal{L}_I .

To illustrate this, let us look numerically at the autocorrelation function for the observables f(x) = g(x) = x, given by

$$C_{f,g}(n) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{I} f(x) \cdot (g \circ T^{n})(x) \, dx \,. \tag{4.19}$$

It is straightforward but slightly tedious to work out these integrals numerically to high precision⁵. The result is displayed in Figure 4.3. The asymptotic decay of

⁵Given n, one computes cylinder sets of generation n and then performs the integral over each of these intervals with a suitable integration routine. For that purpose we have used a quadruple precision version of the QUADPACK routines [1].



FIGURE 4.3. Autocorrelation function (4.19) of the map T arising from B in (4.17) for different values of b (symbols, with dashed lines as guide for the eye), on logarithmic scale. Solid straight lines indicate the asymptotic decay as computed from the subleading eigenvalue of \mathcal{L}_I . The dashed straight line displays the correlation function $C_{x,x}(n) = -1/(6 \times 2^n)$ of the pointwise limit map as $b \to -1$.

the correlation function is determined by the subleading eigenvalue (1 + b)/(3 + b). However, as the parameter b approaches -1 the autocorrelation function develops a pronounced transient exponential shape which follows the correlation decay of the shifted doubling map prior to asymptotically approaching the actual rate. The transition time scale, which is relevant in applications, can be estimated by an heuristic argument, see [84].

While the average expansion rate in the system, quantified by the Lyapunov exponent, does not provide a bound for the mixing rate, the maximal expansion rate

$$\Lambda_{+} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sup\left\{\frac{1}{n} \ln |(T^{n})'(x)| : x \in I\right\}$$

yields⁶ the bound $\alpha \leq \Lambda_+$ for any interval map T arising from an analytic expanding circle map, as the following simple corollary to Lemma 3.4.2 shows.

COROLLARY 4.4.2. Let T, τ and their corresponding transfer operators $\mathcal{L}_{\mathbb{T}}$ and \mathcal{L}_{I} be defined as in Lemma 3.4.2. Then,

$$|\lambda_2| \ge e^{-\Lambda_+},$$

where $\lambda_2 = \lambda_2(\mathcal{L}_I)$ is second largest eigenvalue (in modulus) of \mathcal{L}_I . Equivalently, $\alpha \leq \Lambda_+$.

PROOF. Let x_0 be the interval endpoint fixed by T, then as $(T'(x_0))^{-1} \in \sigma(\mathcal{L}_I)$ we have

$$|\lambda_2| \ge |T'(x_0)|^{-1} = |(T^n)'(x_0)|^{-1/n} \ge \inf\left\{ |(T^n)'(x_0)|^{-1/n} : x \in I \right\}$$

⁶The limit exists as the sequence $(\sup\{\ln | (T^n)'(x)| : x \in I\})_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is subadditive.

for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$. The claim follows as $e^{-\Lambda_+} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \inf \{ |(T^n)'(x_0)|^{-1/n} : x \in I \}$. \Box

In comparison with the bounds obtained in Chapter 2, this corollary provides a barrier for the speed of mixing in an alternative, nonlinear setting of interval maps arising from analytic expanding circle maps. While in this setup the average expansion rate Λ is replaced by the maximal expansion rate Λ_+ , this observation at least partially recovers the intuition that a specific exponential mixing rate requires the presence of sufficiently strong (local) expansion.

Concluding remarks and open questions

Our work originated from the question whether the two quantifiers of chaoticity, Lyapunov exponents and mixing rates, can be related to each other. In a simple setting of topologically mixing piecewise linear expanding Markov maps on the interval, we have shown that the Lyapunov exponent provides a barrier to the exponential mixing rate, by establishing a lower bound for the subleading eigenvalue of the associated transfer operator. This bound, however, fails to generalise to a nonlinear setting, as we illustrated by a family of expanding interval maps with arbitrarily fast exponential mixing, but bounded Lyapunov exponent. Instead, the bound can be restored in spirit by replacing the Lyapunov exponent with the maximal expansion rate.

These results followed from more general considerations concerning the correlation spectrum of analytic expanding circle maps. The key step was to establish a natural representation of the adjoint of the transfer operator for these maps. For the class of finite Blaschke products (which the above family belongs to), this representation takes the form of (compact) composition operators on holomorphic function spaces, allowing for determination of the entire correlation spectrum.

Explicit knowledge of the spectrum of the transfer operator proves useful in answering certain questions and provides a testing ground for conjectures. In this final section we want to point out a number of open questions resulting from our work. We hope that some of these can be tackled with similar methods in the future.

Mixing rates and maximal expansion rates. For interval maps arising from expanding circle maps, Corollary 4.4.2 asserts the lower bound $|\lambda_2| \ge e^{-\Lambda_+}$ for the subleading eigenvalue λ_2 of the transfer operator in terms of the maximal expansion rate Λ_+ . It is a natural question whether a similar bound extends to a more general class of expanding maps on the interval. It appears plausible to believe that in interval maps exponential mixing should not happen with a rate faster than with the rate given by $2\Lambda_+$. Note that for the tent map we have $|\lambda_2| = e^{-2\Lambda} = e^{-2\Lambda_+}$. Further numerical simulations for interval maps which do not arise from (smooth) circle maps motivate the following question.

QUESTION 1. Let $T: I \to I$ be an analytic expanding full branch interval map, and $\mathcal{L}_I: H^{\infty}(D) \to H^{\infty}(D)$ the associated compact transfer operator given by (3.22) for a suitable $D \subset \mathbb{C}$ containing I. Is it then true that

$$|\lambda_2| \ge e^{-2\Lambda_+}$$

where λ_2 is the second largest eigenvalue in modulus of \mathcal{L}_I ? Moreover, does the sharper estimate

$$|\lambda_2| \ge e^{-\Lambda_+}$$

hold, if T' has constant sign?

Nontrivial 'nonessential' spectrum. Dealing with the transfer operator on spaces of less regular functions gives rise to essential spectrum and leads to the question whether 1 may occur as the only eigenvalue outside the essential spectrum. In [43] the authors addressed this question by constructing an analytic expanding circle map with its transfer operator having an isolated eigenvalue different from 1 outside the essential spectrum when acting on C^1 functions. This was achieved by starting with a piecewise linear expanding circle map, for which the transfer operator considered on BV has such eigenvalue outside the essential spectrum, smoothing this map with the Gaussian convolution kernel and then applying spectral perturbation theory to the corresponding transfer operator.

It appears that the Blaschke map considered in (3.18) for $\mu = -0.7 - 0.7i$, say, provides an explicit example of analytic expanding circle map with the eigenvalues μ and $\bar{\mu}$ outside the essential spectrum on C^1 . This informal statement is based on a computational bound on the essential spectral radius but probably can be made rigorous in the future.

QUESTION 2. What are the conditions on the parameters of Blaschke maps for the existence of isolated eigenvalues outside $\rho_{ess}(\mathcal{L}|_{C^1})$? Can there be arbitrarily many such eigenvalues?

Nontrivial eigenvalues of circle maps. In [63, Thm. 1.2] using techniques from potential theory it was shown that there is a dense set of analytic expanding full branch interval maps which have infinitely many nontrivial eigenvalues decaying almost exponentially.

QUESTION 3. Can one adapt these techniques together with the knowledge of the spectrum for Blaschke maps to show a similar result in the case of analytic expanding circle maps?

Rational circle maps. Theorem 4.3.4 provides the spectrum of transfer operators for rational maps τ preserving the unit circle, given by finite Blaschke products. If τ is an analytic circle map given by any rational function, it is not difficult to see that it is given by the same expression as (4.11), however with a_i in $\hat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \mathbb{T}$ (instead of \mathbb{D}), leading to poles inside the unit disk, which prevent the upper triangular block structure of the adjoint operator \mathcal{L}' .

QUESTION 4. Can one still use the structure of the adjoint representation \mathcal{L}' to deduce some information about the spectrum?

More general transfer operators. For an expanding circle map τ arising from a finite Blaschke product, one can consider transfer operators (3.10) with more general weights w_k replacing the weights ϕ'_k . If we take $w_k = (\phi'_k)^{1-s}$ with $s \in \mathbb{N}$, then the upper triangular block structure of the adjoint \mathcal{L}' in (4.9) is preserved. The upper left operator is a compact weighted composition operator on $H^2(D_r)$ given by $f \mapsto (\tau')^s \cdot (f \circ \tau)$. Its spectrum is known to consist of eigenvalues $\lambda_n = (\tau'(z_0))^{s+n}$, $n = 0, 1, \ldots$, where z_0 is the unique fixed point of τ in D_r . Clearly, these eigenvalues are in $\sigma(\mathcal{L})$. However, the lower right operator in (4.9) is not related to a compact (weighted) composition operator (compare (4.14)), as τ' is not holomorphic on D_R^{∞} .

QUESTION 5. Is it possible to obtain the entire spectrum of \mathcal{L} with weights $w_k = (\phi'_k)^{1-s}$ for $s \in \mathbb{N}$?

'Lifts' of Blaschke products. Given an expanding circle map τ arising from a finite Blaschke product, it is possible to construct a new circle map $\tilde{\tau}$ given by the semiconjugacy $(p \circ \tilde{\tau})(z) = (\tau \circ p)(z)$ with $p(z) = z^n$ for an integer $n \ge 2$. By choosing branch cuts (arising from the *n*-th root of unity) appropriately, one can check that $\tilde{\tau}$ is an analytic expanding circle map, however no longer given by a Blaschke product. In particular, taking $\tau(z) = z(\mu - z)/(1 - \mu z)$ with $\mu \in (-1, 1)$ and n = 2, one can relate the matrix representations as in (3.19) of $\tilde{\tau}$ and τ , and deduce that the respective transfer operators $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}$ and \mathcal{L} have the same nonzero eigenvalues. However, if n > 2 the matrix representation (3.19) as well as numerical simulations suggest that $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}$ has additional nonzero eigenvalues.

QUESTION 6. What is the spectrum of $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}$ associated to $\tilde{\tau}$ for n > 2?

Perturbations of Blaschke products. Let us consider a finite Blaschke product B (expanding on \mathbb{T}) from a complex dynamics perspective. Then \mathbb{T} is the Julia set of B, and the two complementary disks in $\hat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \mathbb{T}$ are the connected components of the Fatou set. Note that B is 'mirror symmetric' with respect to \mathbb{T} in the sense that $B(z) = (\psi \circ B \circ \psi)(z)$, where $\psi(z) = 1/\bar{z}$. More generally, one can consider perturbations of Blaschke products which have a quasicircle as their Julia set (instead of \mathbb{T}). Similarly to the approaches taken in [49, 50], one can then define a transfer operator \mathcal{L} on a suitable space of holomorphic functions on a neighbourhood of the Julia set and show its compactness.

QUESTION 7. In this setting it appears possible to obtain a similar structure for the adjoint operator \mathcal{L}' . Can the spectrum of \mathcal{L}' again be deduced from certain composition operators? In this case, we would expect that the eigenvalues are not necessarily complex conjugates of each other, as the contraction rates at the fixed points in the interior of the Fatou set need not be of the same modulus, due to loss of symmetry.
Higher-dimensional dynamics. It is of great interest to determine the spectrum of transfer operators associated to higher-dimensional dynamical systems. Informally, by coupling finite Blaschke products it seems to be possible to construct higher-dimensional expanding maps, for which the correlation spectrum can be deduced from the spectrum of individual maps. The main goal is to obtain the spectrum of the transfer operator for nontrivial hyperbolic systems (see [66] for a study of hyperbolic diffeomorphisms of \mathbb{T}^2 obtained from two-dimensional Blaschke products). For this, one of the first difficulties would be to establish an appropriate function space.

QUESTION 8. Using our results on the spectrum of transfer operators for onedimensional Blaschke products, is it possible to construct hyperbolic maps on \mathbb{T}^2 with explicitly known spectrum?

Appendix A: Basic spectral theory

We briefly summarise some standard results from spectral theory, see, for example, [87, Ch. V] for more details.

Let $L: V \to V$ be a bounded linear operator on a Banach space $(V, \|\cdot\|)$, and denote its kernel and image by ker(L) and im(L), respectively. Its spectrum $\sigma(L)$ is defined as the set of all $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $(\lambda I - L)$ has no bounded inverse on V, where I is the identity operator on V. The complement of the spectrum $\mathbb{C}\setminus\sigma(L)$ is called the resolvent set. For each λ in the resolvent set, the resolvent $R(\lambda) = (\lambda I - L)^{-1}$ is well defined and holomorphic on $\mathbb{C} \setminus \sigma(L)$, in the sense that $\lambda \mapsto \phi(R(\lambda))$ is holomorphic for any bounded linear functional ϕ on the space of bounded linear operators on V.

The spectrum is a compact subset of a closed disk with radius $\rho(L) = \sup\{|z| : z \in \sigma(L)\}$. The radius $\rho(L)$ is called *spectral radius* and can be obtained as the limit

$$\rho(L) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \|L^n\|^{1/n} \,. \tag{A.1}$$

In particular, the latter implies that for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $c_{\varepsilon} > 0$ such that

$$||L^n f|| \le c_{\varepsilon} ||f|| (e^{\varepsilon} \rho(L))^n \quad \text{for all } n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(A.2)

An element $\lambda \in \sigma(L)$ is an *eigenvalue* of L if $\lambda I - L$ is not injective. The geometric multiplicity of λ is the dimension of its eigenspace $\{v \in V : (\lambda I - L)v = 0\}$, and its algebraic multiplicity is the dimension of the generalised eigenspace $\{v \in V : \exists m \geq 1, (\lambda I - L)^m v = 0\}$.

The spectrum of any bounded linear operator L can be decomposed into a discrete part, made up of isolated eigenvalues of finite algebraic multiplicity, and the *essential spectrum*, denoted by $\sigma_{ess}(L)$. The *essential spectral radius* is defined as $\rho_{ess}(L) =$ $\sup\{|z| : z \in \sigma_{ess}(L)\}$ and can be characterised as the radius $R \ge 0$ of the smallest closed disk centred at 0, such that every $\lambda \in \sigma(L)$ with $|\lambda| > R$ is an isolated eigenvalue of finite algebraic multiplicity.

A bounded operator $L: V \to V$ is quasicompact if $\rho_{ess}(L) < \rho(L)$. It is compact if any bounded set in V is mapped to a relatively compact set in V. The spectrum of a compact operator is a sequence of eigenvalues $(\lambda_n(L))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converging to zero, together with zero itself⁷.

We denote by V^* the topological dual of V, that is the space of continuous linear functionals on V. The adjoint of L is $L^* \colon V^* \to V^*$, given by the adjoint equation $l(Lv) = (L^*l)(v)$ for all $v \in V$ and $l \in V^*$. Its spectrum coincides with that of L.

⁷The set of nonzero eigenvalues may be finite, in which case we set $\lambda_n(L) = 0$ for all large $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Appendix B: Technical proofs for Section 1.3

In this appendix we provide the ommited proofs for results stated in Section 1.3. For convenience, their statements and the standing assumptions (AS1) and (AS2) are repeated here.

(AS1) Let $T: X \to X$ be nonsingular with respect to m and assume that it possesses a unique acip measure μ with density $\varrho \in L^1(X, m)$ bounded away from zero and infinity, and normalised so that $\int_X \varrho \, dm = 1.$

(AS2) Let T satisfy (AS1) and let \mathcal{L} be its associated transfer operator. (AS2) Assume that V is an \mathcal{L} -invariant subspace, densely and continuously embedded in $L^1(X, m)$ such that \mathcal{L} restricted to V is quasicompact.

LEMMA 1.3.4. Let T and V satisfy (AS2). Then the unique invariant acip density ρ is in V. The spectral radius of $\mathcal{L}: V \to V$ is 1, and if additionally the acip measure is mixing, then the only spectral point on the unit circle is 1, which is a simple eigenvalue.

PROOF. For convenience, in this proof we write \mathcal{L}_V for the transfer operator considered on V and keep writing \mathcal{L} for the operator considered on $L^1(X, m)$. The two are related by

$$J\mathcal{L}_V = \mathcal{L}J,$$

where $J: V \to L^1(X, m)$ is the continuous embedding of V in $L^1(X, m)$. Its adjoint $J^*: L^1(X, m)^* \to V^*$ is injective as J has dense range. Moreover, the adjoint operators \mathcal{L}_V^* and \mathcal{L}^* are related by

$$\mathcal{L}_V^* J^* = J^* \mathcal{L}^*.$$

Let $l \in L^1(X, m)^*$ be given by $l(f) = \int_X f \, dm$, then from the definition of \mathcal{L} in (1.6) we obtain $l(f) = l(\mathcal{L}f) = (\mathcal{L}^*l)(f)$ for any $f \in L^1(X, m)$. Thus 1 is an eigenvalue of \mathcal{L}^* . As J^* is injective, it follows that $1 \in \sigma(\mathcal{L}_V^*) = \sigma(\mathcal{L}_V)$. By [**35**], injectivity of J implies that every connected component of $\sigma(\mathcal{L}_V)$ has nonempty intersection with $\sigma(\mathcal{L})$. From quasicompactness of \mathcal{L}_V and the fact that $\sigma(\mathcal{L})$ is contained in the unit disk, it follows that 1 is an eigenvalue of \mathcal{L}_V (and the spectral radius of \mathcal{L}_V is 1). For $h \neq 0$ such that $\mathcal{L}_V h = h$, we get $\mathcal{L}Jh = Jh$, which implies that Jh is a multiple of the unique invariant density ρ as 1 is a simple eigenvalue of \mathcal{L} . Hence, ρ is in V.

The assertion that the eigenvalue 1 is the only spectral point of \mathcal{L}_V on the unit circle is a consequence of mixing. In order to see this, assume to the contrary that there exists $h \neq 0$ such that $\mathcal{L}_V h = \lambda h$ with $\lambda \neq 1$ but $|\lambda| = 1$. This implies that Jh is an eigenvector of \mathcal{L} with the same eigenvalue λ , which contradicts the mixing assumption.

Simplicity of the eigenvalue 1 for \mathcal{L}_V follows from the same argument as for \mathcal{L} . \Box

PROPOSITION 1.3.6. Let T and V satisfy (AS2) with V a subspace of $L^{\infty}(X, m)$, and $M_{\varrho}(V) \subseteq V$. Additionally, assume that the unique acip measure is mixing. Suppose that $\mathcal{L}: V \to V$ is quasicompact. Then

$$\alpha_V \ge -\ln \sup\{|\lambda| : \lambda \in \sigma(\mathcal{L}) \setminus \{1\}\} > 0.$$

PROOF. The proof relies on the spectral decomposition of \mathcal{L} , see [87, §V.9]. We will write I for the identity on V. By Lemma 1.3.4 the eigenvalue 1 is simple and is the only eigenvalue on \mathbb{T} . As \mathcal{L} is quasicompact, 1 is isolated and we can define Π_1 the spectral projection of \mathcal{L} associated with the eigenvalue 1, which satisfies $\Pi_1 \mathcal{L} =$ $\mathcal{L}\Pi_1 = \Pi_1$ with $\sigma((I - \Pi_1)\mathcal{L}) = \sigma(\mathcal{L}) \setminus \{1\}$, see, for example, [87, Thm. 9.1, Ch. V]. The projection given by $Pf = (\int_X f \, dm)\varrho$ as in (1.7) also satisfies the same relations $P\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}P = P$, and one can show that $P = \Pi_1$. Writing $\mathcal{L} = P + R$ with $R = (I - P)\mathcal{L}$ so that $\rho(R) = \sup\{|\lambda| : \lambda \in \sigma(\mathcal{L}) \setminus \{1\}\}$ and using the above commutation relations, we observe that $\mathcal{L}^n - P = R^n$ for n > 0. Now, for $f, g \in V$, from (1.9) we get

$$|C_{f,g}(n)|^{1/n} = \left| \int_X R^n(f\varrho) \cdot g \, dm \right|^{1/n} \le (\|R^n(f\varrho)\|_{\infty} \, \|g\|_{\infty})^{1/n} \\ \le \left(c^2 \cdot \|R^n(f\varrho)\|_V \, \|g\|_V \right)^{1/n}$$

with some c > 0, as V is continuously embedded⁸ in $L^{\infty}(X, m)$ (that is $\|\cdot\|_{\infty} \leq c \|\cdot\|_{V}$). As for every $\varepsilon > 0$ we have $\|R^{n}(f\varrho)\|_{V} / \|f\varrho\|_{V} = O(e^{\varepsilon n}\rho(R)^{n})$ as $n \to \infty$, see (A.2), it follows that

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} |C_{f,g}(n)|^{1/n} \le \rho(R),$$

for all $f, g \in V$. Hence, $\alpha_V \ge -\ln \rho(R)$.

LEMMA 1.3.7. Let $L: V \to V$ be a compact operator on a Banach space V, with eigenvalue sequence $(\lambda_n(L))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$, ordered by decreasing modulus, with repetitions according to algebraic multiplicity. Let V^* denote the topological dual of V. Then, for $n \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$|\lambda_n(L)| = \inf_{\substack{W_n \subseteq V\\ \operatorname{codim} W_n < n}} \sup \left\{ \limsup_{k \to \infty} |g(L^k f)|^{1/k} : f \in W_n, g \in V^* \right\}.$$

PROOF. We will first deal with a simple case of the statement, when L has (countably many) simple eigenvalues $|\lambda_1| > |\lambda_2| > \dots$

For $n \in \mathbb{N}$ let Π_1, \ldots, Π_n be the spectral projections associated with the eigenvalues λ_i satisfying $\Pi_i \Pi_j = 0$ for $i \neq j$ and $\Pi_i^2 = \Pi_i$, see [87, Thm. 9.1, Ch. V]. Moreover,

⁸This follows by an application of the closed graph theorem and the fact that V is continuously embedded in $L^1(X, m)$.

 $\Pi_i L = L\Pi_i = \lambda_i \Pi_i$ for every *i*. So we can write $L = \lambda_1 \Pi_1 + \lambda_2 \Pi_2 + \cdots + \lambda_n \Pi_n + R_n$ with $R_n \colon V \to V$ a bounded operator and $\rho(R_n) < |\lambda_n|$. We first show that

$$\inf_{\substack{W_n \subseteq V\\ \operatorname{codim} \overline{W}_n < n}} \sup \left\{ \limsup_{k \to \infty} |g(L^k f)|^{1/k} : f \in W_n, g \in V^* \right\} \le |\lambda_n|.$$
(B.1)

For this, observe that $W_1 = V$, and for n > 1 choose $W_n = \ker(\Pi_1) \cap \ker(\Pi_2) \cap \cdots \cap \ker(\Pi_{n-1})$. Note that $\operatorname{codim} W_n = n - 1$ as $\operatorname{codim} \ker(\Pi_i) = 1$ and $\Pi_i \Pi_j = \delta_{ij} \Pi_i$. Then for any $f \in W_n$, we have

$$|g(L^{k}f)|^{1/k} \leq \left(|\lambda_{n}|^{k}|g(\Pi_{n}f)| + |g(R_{n}^{k}f)|\right)^{1/k}$$
$$\leq |\lambda_{n}|\left(|g(\Pi_{n}f)| + c_{\varepsilon} \|f\|_{V} \|g\|_{V^{*}}\right)^{1/k}$$

with some $\varepsilon > 0$ and constant c_{ε} such that $e^{\varepsilon}\rho(R_n) < |\lambda_n|$ by (A.2). Thus

$$\limsup_{k \to \infty} |g(L^k f)|^{1/k} \le |\lambda_n|,$$

for all $f \in W_n$ and $g \in V^*$, and (B.1) follows.

For the converse direction, we take any $W_n \subseteq V$ with $\operatorname{codim}(W_n) < n$, and verify the following claim:

There exist $f \in W_n$ and $g \in V^*$ such that $g(\Pi_i f) \neq 0$ for some $i = 1, \ldots, n$. (B.2)

As W_n has $\operatorname{codim}(W_n) < n$ and $S = \operatorname{im}(\Pi_1) \oplus \operatorname{im}(\Pi_2) \oplus \cdots \oplus \operatorname{im}(\Pi_n)$ has $\operatorname{dim}(S) = n$, it follows that $W_n \cap S \neq \{0\}$. Then there is an $f \in W_n \cap S$ such that $\Pi_i f \neq 0$ for some *i*. Clearly, there is a $g \in V^*$ such that $g(\Pi_i f) \neq 0$, which proves the claim.

We take *i* to be the smallest index satisfying (B.2), so that $\Pi_1 f = \cdots = \Pi_{i-1} f = 0$. Writing $L^k f = \lambda_i^k \Pi_i f + \tilde{R}_n^k f$ where $\tilde{R}_n = \lambda_{i+1} \Pi_{i+1} + \cdots + \lambda_n \Pi_n + R_n$ with $\rho(\tilde{R}_n) < |\lambda_i|$, and using the reverse triangle inequality, we obtain for sufficiently large k

$$\begin{aligned} |g(L^k f)|^{1/k} &\geq \left| |\lambda_i|^k |g(\Pi_i f)| - |g(\tilde{R}_n^k f)| \right|^{1/k} \\ &\geq |\lambda_i| \left(|g(\Pi_i f)| - \tilde{c} \frac{(e^{\varepsilon} \rho(\tilde{R}_n))^k}{|\lambda_i|^k} \right)^{1/k} \end{aligned}$$

for some $\varepsilon > 0$ with $e^{\varepsilon}\rho(\tilde{R}_n) < |\lambda_i|$ and $\tilde{c} = c_{\varepsilon} ||f||_V ||g||_{V^*}$, see (A.2). Thus,

$$\limsup_{k \to \infty} |g(L^k f)|^{1/k} \ge |\lambda_i| \ge |\lambda_n|.$$

Since W_n was arbitrary, this completes the proof for the case of simple eigenvalues with distinct moduli.

For the general case of the proof, each Π is the spectral projection onto the generalised eigenspace of some eigenvalue λ , that is $\operatorname{im}(\Pi) = \bigcup_{p\geq 0} \ker(L-\lambda I)^p$. Then, with appropriate indexing of the eigenvalues according to their algebraic multiplicities, we can write $L = (\lambda_{i_1}\Pi_1 + N_1) + (\lambda_{i_2}\Pi_2 + N_2) + \cdots + (\lambda_{i_m}\Pi_m + N_m) + R_m$, where $L\Pi_j = \Pi_j L = \lambda_{i_j}\Pi_j + N_j$ with N_j nilpotent. With these adjustments and a few

straightforward (but notationally tedious) modifications, the structure of the proof remains the same as in the simple case. $\hfill \Box$

COROLLARY 1.3.8. Let $T: X \to X$ and V be as in Proposition 1.3.6. Further, assume that $M_{\varrho}(V) = V$ and $\mathcal{L}: V \to V$ is compact with eigenvalue sequence $(\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$. Then, for n > 1,

$$|\lambda_n(\mathcal{L})| = \inf_{\substack{W_n \subseteq V\\ \operatorname{codim} W_n < n-1}} \sup \left\{ \limsup_{k \to \infty} |C_{f,g}(k)|^{1/k} : f \in W_n, g \in V \right\}.$$
 (B.3)

Thus, the mixing rate on V is $\alpha_V = -\ln |\lambda_2(\mathcal{L})|$.

PROOF. As $V \subseteq L^{\infty}(X, m)$ we can associate to each $g \in V$ an element $l_g \in V^*$ defined as $l_g(f) = \int_X fg \, dm$. Observe that

$$C_{f,g}(k) = l_g \left((\mathcal{L}(I-P))^k (f\varrho) \right).$$

For the equality (B.3) to hold, it is clear that the proof of Lemma 1.3.7 applies, if we can verify (B.2). Namely, by the same argument, there is $\tilde{f} \in W_n$ such that $\Pi_i(\tilde{f}) \neq 0$ for some i = 1, ..., n. As $M_{\varrho}(V) = V$, there is $f \in V$ such that $\tilde{f} = f \varrho$. Choosing $g = \Pi_i(f \varrho)$, the claim follows.

Bibliography

- [1] http://www.netlib.org/quadpack/.
- [2] R. L. Adler. F-expansions revisited. In *Recent Advances in Topological Dynamics*, Lecture Notes in Math., pages 1–5. Springer, Berlin, 1973.
- [3] I. Antoniou and S. Tasaki. Spectral decomposition of the Rényi map. J. Phys. A, 26(1):73–94, 1993.
- [4] R. Artuso, E. Aurell, and P. Cvitanovic. Recycling of strange sets: I. Cycle expansions. Nonlinearity, 3(2):325–359, 1990.
- [5] R. Badii, K. Heinzelmann, P. Meier, and A. Politi. Correlation functions and generalized Lyapunov exponents. *Phys. Rev. A*, 37(4):1323–1328, 1988.
- [6] V. Baladi. Decay of correlations. In Smooth Ergodic Theory and its Applications, pages 297–325. Seattle, 1999.
- [7] V. Baladi. Positive Transfer Operators and Decay of Correlations. Advances Series in Nonlinear Dynamics. World Scientific Publishing Co., River Edge, NY, 2000.
- [8] V. Baladi and M. Holschneider. Approximation of nonessential spectrum of transfer operators. Nonlinearity, 12(3):525–538, 1999.
- [9] V. Baladi, Y. Jiang, and H. H. Rugh. Dynamical determinants via dynamical conjugacies for postcritically finite polynomials. J. Stat. Phys., 108(5-6):973–993, 2002.
- [10] O. F. Bandtlow. Lagrange-Chebyshev approximation of transfer operators. In preparation.
- [11] O. F. Bandtlow and O. Jenkinson. Explicit eigenvalue estimates for transfer operators acting on spaces of holomorphic functions. Adv. Math., 218(3):902–925, 2008.
- [12] O. F. Bandtlow and O. Jenkinson. On the Ruelle eigenvalue sequence. Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems, 28(06):1701–1711, 2008.
- [13] O. F. Bandtlow, W. Just, and J. Slipantschuk. Spectral structure of transfer operators for expanding circle maps. *Preprint*, arXiv:1311.3122, 2013.
- [14] A. F. Beardon. Iteration of Rational Functions. Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1991.
- [15] R. Bowen. Equilibrium States and the Ergodic Theory of Anosov Diffeomorphisms. Lecture notes in Mathematics. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York, 1975.
- [16] R. Bowen. Invariant measures for Markov maps of the interval. Comm. Math. Phys., 69(1):1–17, 1979.
- [17] A. Boyarsky and P. Góra. Laws of Chaos. Invariant Measures and Dynamical Systems in One Dimension. Probability and its Applications. Birkhäuser, Boston, MA, 1997.
- [18] H. Bruin, S. Luzzatto, and S. van Strien. Decay of correlations in one-dimensional dynamics. Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér., 36(4):621–646, 2003.
- [19] R. B. Burckel. An Introduction to Classical Complex Analysis Vol. 1. Pure and Applied Mathematics. Academic Press, Inc., New York-London, 1979.
- [20] F. Christiansen, G. Paladin, and H. H. Rugh. Determination of correlation spectra in chaotic systems. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 65(17):2087–2090, 1990.
- [21] P. Collet and J. P. Eckmann. Liapunov multipliers and decay of correlations in dynamical systems. J. Stat. Phys., 115(1/2):217–254, 2004.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [22] P. Collet and S. Isola. On the essential spectrum of the transfer operator for expanding Markov maps. Comm. Math. Phys., 139(3):551–557, 1991.
- [23] J. B. Conway. Functions of One Complex Variable. Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer, New York-Heidelberg, 1973.
- [24] C. C. Cowen and B. D. MacCluer. Composition Operators on Spaces of Analytic functions. Studies in Advanced Mathematics. CRC Press Boca Raton, Boca Raton, FL, 1995.
- [25] J. D. Crawford and J. R. Cary. Decay of correlations in a chaotic measure-preserving transformation. Phys. D, 6(2):223–232, 1983.
- [26] F. K. Diakonos and P. Schmelcher. On the construction of one-dimensional iterative maps from the invariant density: the dynamical route to the beta distribution. *Phys. Lett. A*, 211(4):199–203, 1996.
- [27] N. Dunford and J. T. Schwartz. Linear Operators. Part II: Spectral Theory. Self Adjoint Operators in Hilbert Space. Interscience Publishers, John Wiley & Sons, New York-London, 1963.
- [28] P. L. Duren. Theory of H^p Spaces. Pure and Applied Mathematics. Academic Press, Inc., New York-London, 1970.
- [29] S. V. Ershov and G. G. Malinetskiĭ. The solution of the inverse problem for the Perron-Frobenius equation. USSR Comput. Math. Math. Phys., 28(5):136–141, 1988.
- [30] D. Fried. The zeta functions of Ruelle and Selberg. I. Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér., 19(4):491–517, 1986.
- [31] G. Froyland. Computer-assisted bounds for the rate of decay of correlations. Comm. Math. Phys., 189(2):237–257, 1997.
- [32] F. R. Gantmacher. The Theory of Matrices, Vol. 2. Chelsea Publishing Co., New York, 1959.
- [33] P. Gaspard. r-adic one-dimensional maps and the Euler summation formula. J. Phys. A, 25(8), 1992.
- [34] P. Góra and A. Boyarsky. A matrix solution to the inverse Perron-Frobenius problem. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 118(2):409–414, 1993.
- [35] S. Grabiner. Spectral consequences of the existence of intertwining operators. Ann. Soc. Math. Polonae Ser. 1, 22:227–238, 1970.
- [36] P. R. Halmos. Measure Theory. D. Van Nostrand Company, Inc., New York, 1950.
- [37] O. Jenkinson and M. Pollicott. Orthonormal expansions of invariant densities for expanding maps. Adv. Math., 192(1):1–34, Mar. 2005.
- [38] W. Just. Analytical treatment of fluctuation spectra at the symmetry breaking chaos transition. *Phys. Lett. A*, 150(8-9):362–368, 1990.
- [39] T. Kato. Perturbation Theory for Linear Operators. Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften. Springer, Berlin-Heidelberg, 1966.
- [40] G. Keller. On the rate of convergence to equilibrium in one-dimensional systems. Comm. Math. Phys., 96(2):181–193, 1984.
- [41] G. Keller. Equilibrium States in Ergodic Theory. London Mathematical Society Student Texts. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1998.
- [42] G. Keller. Interval maps with strictly contracting Perron-Frobenius operators. Internat. J. Bifur. Chaos Appl. Sci. Engrg., 09:1777–1783, 1999.
- [43] G. Keller and H. H. Rugh. Eigenfunctions for smooth expanding circle maps. Nonlinearity, 17(5):1723–1730, 2004.
- [44] H. A. Kramers and G. H. Wannier. Statistics of the Two-Dimensional Ferromagnet. Part I. Phys. Rev., 60(3):252–262, 1941.
- [45] P. Lancaster. Theory of Matrices. Academic Press, Inc., New York-London, 1969.
- [46] A. Lasota and M. C. Mackey. Probabilistic Properties of Deterministic Systems. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1985.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [47] A. Lasota and J. A. Yorke. On the existence of invariant measures for piecewise monotonic transformations. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 186:481–488, 1973.
- [48] G. M. Levin. On Mayer's conjecture and zeros of entire functions. Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems, 14(03):565–574, 1994.
- [49] G. M. Levin, M. L. Sodin, and P. M. Yuditskiĭ. A Ruelle operator for a real Julia set. Comm. Math. Phys., 141(1):119–132, 1991.
- [50] G. M. Levin, M. L. Sodin, and P. M. Yuditskii. Ruelle operators with rational weights for Julia sets. J. Anal. Math., 63(1):303–331, 1994.
- [51] C. Liverani. Decay of Correlations. Ann. of Math., 142(2):239-301, 1995.
- [52] C. Liverani. Rigorous numerical investigation of the statistical properties of piecewise expanding maps. A feasibility study. *Nonlinearity*, 14(3):463–490, 2001.
- [53] S. Luzzatto. Stochastic-like behaviour in nonuniformly expanding maps. In Handbook of Dynamical Systems, volume 1, pages 265–326. Elsevier, 2006.
- [54] R. Mañé. Ergodic Theory and Differentiable Dynamics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1987.
- [55] N. F. G. Martin. On finite Blaschke products whose restrictions to the unit circle are exact endomorphisms. Bull. Lond. Math. Soc., 15(4):343–348, 1983.
- [56] D. H. Mayer. Approach to equilibrium for locally expanding maps in ℝ^k. Comm. Math. Phys., 95(1):1–15, 1984.
- [57] D. H. Mayer. On the location of poles of Ruelle's zeta function. Lett. Math. Phys., 14(2):105–115, 1987.
- [58] D. H. Mayer. On the thermodynamic formalism for the Gauss map. Comm. Math. Phys., 130(2):311–333, 1990.
- [59] D. H. Mayer. Continued fractions and related transformations. In Ergodic Theory, Symbolic Dynamics and Hyperbolic Spaces, pages 175–222. Oxford University Press, New York, 1991.
- [60] J. Milnor. Dynamics in One Complex Variable. 3rd edition. Annals of Mathematics Studies. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 3rd edition, 2006.
- [61] H. Mori, B. C. So, and T. Ose. Time-correlation functions of one-dimensional transformations. Progr. Theoret. Phys., 66(4):1266–1283, 1981.
- [62] F. Naud. Birkhoff cones, symbolic dynamics and spectrum of transfer operators. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst., 11:581–598, 2004.
- [63] F. Naud. Entropy and decay of correlations for real analytic semi-flows. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 10(3):429–451, 2009.
- [64] F. Naud. The Ruelle spectrum of generic transfer operators. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst., 32(7):2521–2531, 2012.
- [65] E. R. Pujals, L. Robert, and M. Shub. Expanding maps of the circle rerevisited: positive Lyapunov exponents in a rich family. *Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems*, 26(06):1931–1937, 2006.
- [66] E. R. Pujals and M. Shub. Dynamics of two-dimensional Blaschke products. Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems, 28(2):575–585, 2008.
- [67] C. Robinson. Dynamical Systems. Stability, Symbolic Dynamics and Chaos. 2nd edition. Studies in Advanced Mathematics. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1999.
- [68] H. L. J. Royden. Invariant subspaces of H^p for multiply connected regions. Pacific J. Math., 134(1):151–172, 1988.
- [69] W. Rudin. Real and Complex Analysis. 3rd edition. McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York, third edition, 1987.
- [70] D. Ruelle. Statistical mechanics of a one-dimensional lattice gas. Comm. Math. Phys., 9(4):267– 278, 1968.
- [71] D. Ruelle. Statistical Mechanics: Rigorous Results. W. A. Benjamin, Inc., New York-Amsterdam, 1969.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [72] D. Ruelle. Zeta-functions for expanding maps and Anosov flows. Invent. Math., 34(3):231–242, 1976.
- [73] D. Ruelle. Resonances of chaotic dynamical systems. Phys. Rev. Lett., 56:405–407, 1986.
- [74] D. Ruelle. One-dimensional Gibbs states and Axiom A diffemorphisms. J. Differential Geom., 25:117–137, 1987.
- [75] H. H. Rugh. On the asymptotic form and the reality of spectra of Perron-Frobenius operators. Nonlinearity, 7(3):1055–1066, 1994.
- [76] H. H. Rugh. Coupled maps and analytic function spaces. Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér., 35(4):489– 535, 2002.
- [77] M. Rychlik. Bounded variation and invariant measures. Studia Math., 76(1):69–80, 1983.
- [78] M. Rychlik. Regularity of the metric entropy for expanding maps. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 315:833–847, 1989.
- [79] D. Sarason. The H^p spaces of an annulus, volume 56 of Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 1965.
- [80] J. H. Shapiro. Composition Operators and Classical Function Theory. Universitext: Tracts in Mathematics. Springer, New York, 1993.
- [81] M. Shub. Endomorphisms of compact differentiable manifolds. Amer. J. Math., 91(1):175–199, 1969.
- [82] M. Shub and D. Sullivan. Expanding endomorphisms of the circle revisited. Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems, 5(2):285–289, 1985.
- [83] J. Slipantschuk, O. F. Bandtlow, and W. Just. Analytic expanding circle maps with explicit spectra. *Nonlinearity*, 26(3231), 2013.
- [84] J. Slipantschuk, O. F. Bandtlow, and W. Just. On correlation decay in low-dimensional systems. EPL, 104(20004), 2013.
- [85] J. Slipantschuk, O. F. Bandtlow, and W. Just. On the relation between Lyapunov exponents and exponential decay of correlations. J. Phys. A, 46(7):075101, 2013.
- [86] J. C. Sprott. Chaos and Time-Series Analysis. Oxford University Press, New York, 2003.
- [87] A. E. Taylor and D. C. Lay. Introduction to Functional Analysis. 2nd edition. John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1980.
- [88] D. Tischler. Blaschke products and expanding maps of the circle. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 128(2):621–622, 1999.
- [89] E. C. Titchmarsh. The Theory of Functions. Oxford University Press, second edition, 1939.
- [90] S. Ushiki. Fredholm determinant of complex Ruelle operator, Ruelle's dynamical zeta-function, and forward/backward Collet-Eckmann condition. Sūrikaisekikenkyūsho Kōkyūroku, 1153:85–102, 2000.
- [91] M. Viana. Stochastic dynamics of deterministic systems. Lectures Notes. Brazilian Math. Colloquium IMPA, 1997.
- [92] P. Walters. An Introduction to Ergodic Theory. Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer, New York-Berlin, 1982.
- [93] L.-S. Young. Recurrence times and rates of mixing. Israel J. Math., 110(1):153–188, 1999.